DEVELOPMENTAL DISABILITIES PROJECT ON RESIDENTIAL SERVICES AND COMMUNITY ADJUSTMENT

Project Report No. 9

The Cost of Public and Community Residential Care for Mentally Retarded People in the United States

Colleen A. Wieck Robert H. Bruininks

Û Û 12321053 36018220191 ΰÛ 189 659 0 4 178 33179 n Û 155000 11 28351 01 27000 100000 n 016000111 4 0 01973540 1621 111935 1600055 16 0 0 0 0 0 Ω 0 0 £ n 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0111221518961 01 11 1 0 5 0 0 0 0215 0 0 0050050011 140417971231 0 5 3 87110 0 0 0.0 n n 0 0 195 0 0 2 0 0 3381110125 0 2 003 + 1701 + 360 1 0 0 0 3 4 ŋ Û A a. 0 0 0 n Ω ŋ n Û n Ũ n - O n 0 0 0 0 0 n 0 0 Ω n Ð, 0 55 61100 7 n 75 50150 50 Û ŋ 2550 37528 0 0 0 0 0 0 12422813 36122020283 245899 1015311 189 660 1 178123178 n n n 36101 1292598 913408 524435 1439989 32 37151525 890100 1112625 01 3 2 0 01962140 11435 02 n – 0 03317 15 6215 0 0555515 0110000011015551155 a n 01 25 0 Û 0510 0 00050000000 0 0 00111150111 9 5 0 0 0 0213 50 597 1 0 0050500 Û บริ U Ω 2 0 1 0 0 0 0 0.0 11 316 n а n n n Ω n n n Û ŋ J n n n n Π S ß ù a n O Ű 0 13 n ŋ Π n n n Λ n q 55 14 109

The Developmental Disabilities Project on Residential Services and Community Adjustment is conducting a nationwide study of mentally retarded persons in residential programs. Information is being collected on (a) the administrative and general characteristics of residential programs for mentally retarded individuals, (b) the behavioral and physical characteristics of mentally retarded people in residential programs, (c) factors related to admission of former residents of state residential facilities to community residential settings, and (d) community adjustment.

The Project is supported by a grant (54-P-71173/5-04) from the Administration on Developmental Disabilities, Office of Human Development Services, Department of Health and Human Services. Contractors undertaking such projects under government sponsorship are encouraged to express freely their professional judgment in the conduct of the project. Points of view or opinions stated do not, therefore, necessarily represent the official position of the Administration on Developmental Disabilities. DEVELOPMENTAL DISABILITIES PROJECT ON RESIDENTIAL SERVICES AND COMMUNITY ADJUSTMENT

Project Report No. 9

The Cost of Public and Community Residential Care for Mentally Retarded People in the United States

By

Colleen A. Wieck, Ph.D., Research Assistant Robert H. Bruininks, Ph.D., Project Director

Dr. Robert H. Bruininks, Project Director Department of Psychoeducational Studies University of Minnesota Minneapolis, MN 55455

November, 1980

The recommended citation for this publication is: Wieck, C. A. & Bruininks, R. H. The cost of public and community residential care for mentally retarded people in the United States. Minneapolis, MN: University of Minnesota, Department of Psychoeducational Studies, 1980.

Additional copies of this publication may be obtained postpaid at \$5.00 per copy, payable to the University of Minnesota. Please send your order to:

Developmental Disabilities Project on Residential Services and Community Adjustment University of Minnesota 207 Pattee Hall 150 Pillsbury Drive, S.E. Minneapolis, MN 55455

ABSTRACT

Government financing of the long term residential care of mentally retarded people has been a matter of public policy for over 100 years. In the last decade the institutional population has declined while the number of smaller, community based facilities has increased dramatically. The direction and magnitude of this deinstitutionalization movement may be determined in the future by the current levels of expenditures, the projected costs, the efficacy of existing funding mechanisms, and identification of critical factors that affect variations in cost.

An extensive review of the literature revealed that few comprehensive cost studies in the area of residential services for mentally retarded people have been completed on a national or state level. The purpose of the present study was threefold. The first objective was to provide a descriptive profile of the national patterns of revenue, expenses, and capital investments of public and community residential facilities during 1977-1978. The second objective of the study was to provide an analysis of costs by 14 separate locational, organizational, and residential variables. The third objective was the use of cost function analysis to test statistical relationships between and among several independent variables and the dependent variable, per diem cost, using multiple regression techniques.

This study was conducted in collaboration with the Survey Research Center of the University of Michigan. Cost data were collected from

i

a national probability sample of 75 public residential facilities and 161 community residential facilities selected by the Sampling Section of the Survey Research Center. A three page self report questionnaire designed to assess both revenues and expenses was completed by the most appropriate financial officer of the facility.

The population estimates of total revenue reported by all residential facilities was \$3.11 billion with government sources accounting for almost the entire amount. The total expenses of public facilities was \$2.735 billion and \$518 million for community facilities. The single largest expense reported by most facilities was personnel expenses. Capital investments totaled over \$5.3 billion for land and buildings of all public and community residential facilities. Estimates of total revenue, expenses, and capital investments were presented separately for public residential facilities and community residential facilities, as well as separately by census regions and by size categories.

Results from several of the hypotheses tested, indicated public residential facility per diems were significantly different when tested for census region differences and varying levels of staff resident ratios. The intensity of staffing and services provided by community residential facilities significantly affected per diems. Family ownership and the proportion of severely/profoundly mentally retarded residents served also significantly affected per diems. Cost function analyses were performed separately for public and community facilities.

A comprehensive discussion of results was presented including a brief discussion of the difficulty of conducting cost effectiveness

ii

analysis between public and community residential facilities. Several public policy implications were presented in terms of (a) constitutional guarantees and level of funding, (b) programming requirements and the application of cost functions, and (c) reimbursement patterns, fiscal disincentives, and the future development of community alternatives.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This report was completed as a doctoral thesis at the University of Minnesota. A very special thank you is extended to Dr. Robert Bruininks for his support and direction as my advisor during the past three years. Kind assistance was also received from Professors Darrell Lewis, Richard Weatherman, Charles Sederberg, Mark Davison, Maynard Reynolds, and Donald MacEachern.

My appreciation is also extended to the staff members of the Developmental Disabilities Project on Residential Services and Community Adjustment; Deborah Wilson, a patient and competent computer programmer; Kathy Nicolay, an excellent typist and coach; and all respondents at field test sites and the final sample sites.

CONTENTS

		Page
LIST OF	TABLES	. ix
LIST OF	FIGURES	. xv
CHAPTER		
I.	INTRODUCTION	. 1
	Historical Analysis of Deinstitutionalization as a Public Policy	. 6
	Outcomes of Deinstitutionalization: Cost as a Critical Problem	. 16
	Statement of the Problem	. 19
II.	REVIEW OF LITERATURE	. 25
	Public Residential Facility Cost Studies	. 25
	Community Residential Facility Cost Studies	. 32
	Comparison Cost Studies of Public and Community Residential Facilities	. 46
	Cost Functions of Human Services	. 55
	Educational Production Function Studies Education Cost Function Studies	. 58 . 59 . 62
	Summary of Research Issues	. 67
	Resident Characteristics	, 68 • 69 • 70
III.	METHODOLOGY	. 73
	Sample	. 74
	Public Residential Facilities	. 74

CHAPTER		Page
	Survey Instrument	. 77
	Procedures	, 85
	Editing and Preparation of Data	, 89
IV.	RESULTS	. 91
	Descriptive Analysis	, 91
	Descriptive Analysis by Census Regions	, 101 , 108
	Relation of Selected Factors to Cost	, 117
	Locational Factors	120 124 139
	Cost Function Analysis	. 146
۷.	DISCUSSION	, 161
	Revenue	161
	Expenses	, 167
	Capital Investments	. 168
	Locational Factors and Cost	170
	Census Regions	170 170
	Organizational Factors and Cost	. 171
	Size	171 174 175 176 177 178
	System Membership	179 180

vi

vii

CHAPTER Pa
Resident Factors and Cost
Age of Residents
Residents
Cost Function Analysis
Public Residential Facilities
IV. IMPLICATIONS
Evaluation of Deinstitutionalization as a Public Policy . 1
Summary of Major Findings and Public Policy Implications. 1
Constitutional Guarantees and Level of Funding 1 Programming Requirements and the Application of Cost
Functions
Community Alternatives
Limitations
Definition of Population2Sampling Errors2Measurement Errors2
Reporting Limitations of Respondents2Specification Errors2
Implications for Future Research
Research on Descriptive Trends
REFERENCES
APPENDIX
A. Description of Sample Facilities
B. Financial Questionnaire
C. Short Form Financial Questionnaire
D. Sampling Errors

-

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE		Page
1.1	Historical Events Comprising Public Policies toward Residential Services and Deinstitutionalization in the United States	10
2.1	Annual Per Capita Costs for Residents of Public Institutions for the Mentally Retarded 1915-1978	26
2.2	Summary of Public Residential Facility Cost Studies	33
2.3	Means, Standard Deviations, and Number of Cases for Three Residential Alternatives	38
2.4	Summary of Generic Operating Costs and Capital Costs by Resident Per Month	40
2.5	Summary of Community Residential Facility Cost Studies	47
2.6	Summary of Community and Public Residential Facility Cost Studies	56
2.7	Summary of Selected Education Cost Function Studies	60
2.8	Summary of Hospital Cost Function Studies	64
3.1	Stages of Development of Financial Questionnaire	78
3.2	Financial Questionnaire Items by Source	80
3.3	Data Collection Forms Used in National Sample Survey: Facility Forms	86
3.4	Data Collection Forms Used in National Sample Survey: Resident Forms	87
4.1	Total Revenue of PRFs in United States in 1977-1978	92
4.2	Total Revenue of CRFs in United States in 1977-1978	92
4.3	Total Revenue of PRFs and CRFs in United States in 1977-1978	94
4.4	Total Expenses of PRFs in United States in 1977-1978	95

х

TABLE		Page
4.5	Total Expenses of CRFs in United States in 1977-1978	• 95
4.6	Total Expenses of PRFs and CRFs in United States in 1977- 1978	. 97
4.7	Total Value of Capital Investments for PRFs in United States in 1977-1978	. 98
4.8	Total Value of Capital Investments for CRFs in United States in 1977-1978	. 98
4.9	Total Value of Capital Investments for PRFs and CRFs in United States in 1977-1978	• 98
4.10	Comparison of Per Diems for PRFs and CRFs in United States in 1977-1978	. 100
4.11	Sources of Revenue of PRFs by Census Region in United States in 1977-1978	. 102
4.12	Sources of Revenue of CRFs by Census Region in United States in 1977-1978	. 103
4.13	Expenses of PRFs by Census Regions in United States in 1977-1978	. 105
4.14	Expenses of CRFs by Census Regions in United States in 1977-1978	. 107
4.15	Capital Investments of PRFs by Census Regions in United States in 1977-1978	. 109
4.16	Capital Investments of CRFs by Census Regions in United States in 1977-1978	. 110
4.17	Sources of Revenues of PRFs by Size Groups in United States in 1977-1978	. 112
4.18	Sources of Revenues of CRFs by Size Groups in United States in 1977-1978	. 113
4.19	Expenses of PRFs by Size Groups in United States in 1977-1978	. 115
4.20	Expenses of CRFs by Size Groups in United States in 1977-1978	. 116

....

-

-

.

~

TABLE		Page
4.21	Capital Investments of PRFs by Size Groups in United States in 1977-1978	. 118
4.22	Capital Investments of CRFs by Size Groups in United States in 1977-1978	. 119
4.23	Summary of Analysis of Variance of PRF Per Diems by Census Region	. 121
4.24	Mean Per Diems of PRFs by Census Region	. 121
4.25	Summary of Analysis of Variance of CRF Per Diems by Census Region	. 122
4.26	Mean Per Diems of CRFs by Census Region	. 122
4.27	Summary of Analysis of Variance of PRF Per Diems by Metropolitan Location	. 125
4.28	Mean Per Diems of PRFs by Metropolitan Location	. 125
4.29	Summary of Analysis of Variance of CRF Per Diems by Metropolitan Location	. 126
4.30	Mean Per Diems of CRFs by Metropolitan Location	. 126
4.31	Summary of Analysis of Variance of PRF Per Diems by Staff-Resident Ratio	. 128
4.32	Mean Per Diems of PRFs by Staff-Resident Ratio	. 128
4.33	Summary of Analysis of Variance of CRF Per Diems by Staff-Resident Ratio	.130
4.34	Mean Per Diems of CRFs by Staff-Resident Ratio	.130
4.35	Summary of Analysis of Variance of CRF Per Diems by an Index of Service/Staffing Patterns	.132
4.36	Mean Per Diems of CRFs by an Index of Service/Staffing Patterns	. 132
4.37	Summary of Analysis of Variance of PRF Per Diems by Occupancy Rate	. 133
4.38	Mean Per Diems of PRFs by Occupancy Rate	. 133

xi

xii

-

.

-

~ .

•

-

TABLE	Page
4.39	Summary of Analysis of Variance of CRF Per Diems by Occupancy Rate
4.40	Mean Per Diems of CRFs by Occupancy Rate
4.41	Summary of Analysis of Variance of CRF Per Diems by Type of Ownership
4.42	Mean Per Diems of CRFs by Type of Ownership
4.43	Summary of Analysis of Variance of CRF Per Diems by System Membership
4.44	Mean Per Diems of CRFs by System Membership
4.45	Summary of Analysis of Variance of PRF Per Diems by Number of Years in Operation
4.46	Mean Per Diems of PRFs by Number of Years in Operation 138
4.47	Summary of Analysis of Variance of CRF Per Diems by Number of Years in Operation
4.48	Mean Per Diems of CRFs by Number of Years in Operation 140
4.49	Summary of Analysis of Variance of PRF Per Diems by Age of Resident Admitted
4.50	Mean Per Diems of PRFs by Age of Resident Admitted 141
4.51	Summary of Analysis of Variance of CRF Per Diems by Age of Resident Admitted
4.52	Mean Per Diems of CRFs by Age of Resident Admitted 142
4.53	Summary of Analysis of Variance of PRF Per Diems by Number of Levels of Mentally Retarded Residents Admitted 144
4.54	Mean Per Diems of PRFs by Number of Levels of Mentally Retarded Residents Admitted
4.55	Summary of Analysis of Variance of CRF Per Diems by Number of Levels of Mentally Retarded Residents Admitted 145
4.56	Mean Per Diems of CRFs by Number of Levels of Mentally Retarded Residents Admitted

TABLE

xiii

ч

.

....

••

TABLE	P	age
4.57	Summary of Analysis of Variance of PRF Per Diems by Proportion of Severely or Profoundly Mentally Retarded Residents Served	147
4.58	Mean Per Diems of PRFs by Proportion of Severely or Profoundly Mentally Retarded Residents Served	147
4.59	Summary of Analysis of Variance of CRF Per Diems by Proportion of Severely or Profoundly Mentally Retarded Residents Served	148
4.60	Mean Per Diems of CRFs by Proportion of Severely or Profoundly Mentally Retarded Residents Served	148
4.61	Correlation Matrix of Predictors and Dependent Variable for Public Residential Facilities	151
4.62	Stepwise Multiple Regression Analysis of Public Residential Facilities	153
4.63	Correlation Matrix of Predictors and Dependent Variable for Community Residential Facilities	155
4.64	Stepwise Multiple Regression Analysis of Community Residential Facilities	156
4.65	Correlation Matrix of a Second Set of Predictors and Dependent Variable for Community Residential Facilities	158
4.66	Stepwise Multiple Regression Analysis of Community Residential Facilities with a Second Set of Factors]	160
6.1	Estimated Costs of Residential Services for the Mentally Retarded	207
A.1	Distribution of the Sample of Public Residential Facilities for the Mentally Retarded by Size Class and Geographic Region of the United States	226
A.2	Distribution of the Sample of Community Residential Facilities for the Mentally Retarded by Size Class and Geographic Region of the United States	227
A.3	Sampling Rates and Expected Sample Sizes for the Study of Community Residential Facilities and Their Mentally Retarded Residents by Size Class, United States, 1977 2	228

Page

TABLE		Page
D.1	Approximate Standard Errors and Coefficients of Variation for Five Estimated Cost Items for Public Residential Facilities for the Mentally Retarded	. 242
D.2	Approximate Standard Errors and Coefficients of Variation for Five Estimated Cost Items for Community Residential Facilities for the Mentally Retarded	. 242

xiv

LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE	Page
1	Year of Opening for 4,290 CRFs: United States, 1977 2
2	Total Populations of Mentally Retarded People in Public Institutions for the Period 1880 to 1978
3	Annual Cost Per Resident of Care in Public Institutions for the Mentally Retarded for the Years 1915 to 1978 28

I. INTRODUCTION

Government financing of the long term residential care of mentally retarded people has been a matter of public policy for over 100 years. Historically, mentally retarded people have been treated by diverse government actions and reactions ranging from sheer rejection and isolation in large, public facilities to the modern practice of physically and socially integrating them within local community settings. This latter approach of shifting care from public institutions to smaller, community-based homes and facilities is commonly known as deinstitutionalization, though, as will be discussed later, the term is properly defined much more broadly.

The impetus for significant improvements in the care and treatment of mentally retarded people has come from both the general advancement in national wealth and the changing attitude in society toward dependent people (Mott, 1976). The culminating effect of changing attitudes has been the dramatic expansion of the number of community residential facilities (Bruininks, Hauber, & Kudla, 1979) depicted in Figure 1 and the rapid decline in the number of mentally retarded residents in public institutions (Lakin, 1979) illustrated in Figure 2. Lakin (1979) provided an historical review of demographic trends of public institutions from 1840 to 1978. According to Lakin, the 1880 census counted 2,429 residents in institutions. Steady increases were



،

ł

Figure 1. Year of Opening for 4,290 CRFs: United States, 1977 (97% CRFs Reporting) (Bruininks, Hauber, & Kudla, 1979, p. 58)

3

,

Ν

4

,



ı.

r

6

.

t

Figure 2. Total Populations of Mentally Retarded People in Public Institutions for the Period 1880 to 1978. (Lakin, 1979, p. 71)

reported from 1880 up to 1967 when the institutional population reached a peak of 194,650. From 1968 to the present, the institutional population has declined.

The direction and magnitude of deinstitutionalization as a public policy may be determined in the future by the current levels of expenditures, the projected costs, the efficacy of existing funding mechanisms, and identification of critical factors that affect cost variation. The purpose of the present study is to describe the level of expenditures for a national probability sample of publicly and privately operated residential programs for mentally retarded people and to identify the critical factors that affected cost variation during 1977-1978.

Within the United States, there are at least five groups concerned with the public policy of deinstitutionalization. Each group including a) legislators, b) executives of government, c) judges, d) interest groups, and e) government workers plays an important role in determining the method, priority, and extent of funding residential service. During policy development, interest groups may disproportionately act and interact to influence the final outcome. As Dror (1968) explained:

Public policy is a very complex, dynamic process whose various components make different contributions to it. It decides major guidelines for action directed at the future, mainly by government organs. These guidelines (policies) formally aim at achieving what is in the public interest by the best possible means. (p. 12)

The political tension generated by the interaction of these five groups may either agitate or settle the final outcome of laws, regulations, and interpretations.

Presently, the public policy of deinstitutionalization is not clearly articulated, coordinated, or funded. The definitions of residential care alternatives are often arbitrarily distinguished into two major categories: community residential facilities and public residential facilities. Scheerenberger (1978a) offered the following definition of public residential facility: "A state sponsored and administered facility which offers comprehensive programming on a 24hour, 7 days-a-week basis" (p. 2). In a similar manner, Bruininks, Hauber, and Kudla (1979) defined community residential facility as:

any community based living quarter(s) which provide 24-hour, 7 days-a-week responsibility for room, board, and supervision of mentally retarded persons as of June 30, 1977 with the exception of (a) single family homes providing services to a relative; (b) nursing homes, boarding homes, and foster homes that are not formally state licensed or contracted as mental retardation services providers; and (c) independent living (apartment) programs which have no staff residing in the same facility. (p. 11)

Due to its fragmentary nature and short life, an evaluation of the merits of deinstitutionalization seems less appropriate than analysis of its components. Dror (1968) proposed several methods of analyzing public policy such as historical analysis of details of a single policy; identification of emerging problems and trends extrapolated to meet future needs; the use of a case study approach that focuses on a substantive area within the policy; identification of key people responsible for policy development in a specific area; or comparison of public policies from the combined perspective of economics and political science. An historical analysis of significant events of deinstitutionalization seems feasible in revealing several elements of

this major social movement. This approach to policy analysis focuses upon what Dror refers to as the key people responsible for the development and management of public policy. Unlike the several reviews to date on this same topic, this review will be presented in historical terms and through an analysis of the five major participating groups in public policy including: a) legislative contributions, b) executive contributions, c) judicial contributions, d) interest group contributions, and e) government workers contributions.

Historical Analysis of Deinstitutionalization as a Public Policy

In reviewing the major milestones of deinstitutionalization, Dybwad (1972) and Lippman and Goldberg (1973) categorized each of the last three decades by a predominant force. Thus, the 1950s were noted as years of legislative action, the 1960s were marked by executive directives, and the 1970s represented an era of litigation and judicial decisions.

The definition for the movement of large numbers of mentally retarded people from public residential facilities to community based alternatives was debated long after the process was underway. Several writers during the 1970s displayed astonishing diversity in defining the phenomenon known as deinstitutionalization.

One of the earliest explanations of the term was offered by Francis X. Lynch, Director of the Division of Developmental Disabilities, Department of Health, Education, and Welfare. In a memo dated

June 11, 1974, Lynch stated:

Deinstitutionalization is a federally coined term used to characterize one of the Mental Retardation goals expressed by President Nixon in November 1971 (of reducing by one-third the census of state institutions for mentally retarded people).

A recent definition of deinstitutionalization is similar in scope. Bradley (1978) stated, "Deinstitutionalization is the means of removing persons from institutional programs and placing them elsewhere" (p. ix).

Other writers have elaborated upon this explanation. Among them was Horejsi (1975) who defined deinstitutionalization as both a goal and a process. The goal was based on President Nixon's recommendation that at least one-third of those residents in public residential facilities for mentally retarded people could live in community residential facilities. The process component of Horejsi's definition was delineation of four interrelated activities, the first three of which were set forth by the National Association of Superintendents of Public Residential Facilities for the Mentally Retarded (1974):

- prevent admission of people to public residential facilities by finding and developing alternative community residential facilities;
- return to community residential facilities all public residential facility residents who have been prepared through programs of habilitation and training to function in appropriate local settings;
- 3. establish and maintain responsive residential environments which protect human and civil rights and which contribute to expeditious return of the individual to normal community living whenever possible;
- promote public acceptance of retarded persons as neighbors, employees, and citizens possessing their human and civil rights. (p. 5)

Horejsi cautioned that deinstitutionalization should not be construed to mean institutional reform (modification or improvement of attitudes, philosophy, policies, utilization of resources, and financing to assist mentally retarded individuals), nor should it be confused with decentralization (breaking up large public residential facilities into smaller, more manageable units).

Bachrach (1976) expanded the definition of deinstitutionalization to three components stating that it was a process, fact, and philosophy. She argued that the process of deinstitutionalization was the "eschewal, shunning, or avoidance of traditional institutional settings . . . and the concurrent expansion of community based facilities" (p. 1). Deinstitutionalization as a fact refers to the nationwide statistical evidence that use of state hospitals has decreased while community residential facility alternatives have expanded. Finally, the philosophical basis of deinstitutionalization reflects the ideology of the times. Bachrach cited both "the strong civil libertarian emphasis on the rights of mental patients . . . with the emphasis for amelioration (moving away from) the individual and toward modification of the environment" (pp. 5-6).

The discourse on definition of deinstitutionalization is primarily limited to researchers and government officials charged with interpretation of laws and executive orders. In contrast with this limited scope of activity, the chronological events leading to the public policy of deinstitutionalization involve at least five basic contributing parties. Table 1.1 presents a chronological summary of events

from mid-19th century with identification of the contributing source provided in several columns labeled legislative, executive, judicial, interest groups, and government workers.

The legislative contributions refer to action by the U.S. Congress. Central to the commitment of the government to aid dependent people has been the annual expenditure of public funds for institutions and other residential alternatives. Appropriation of funds is a legislative prerogative that has shifted from primarily a state responsibility to a shared venture with the federal government, particularly during the 1970s.

Executive contributions refer to Presidential initiatives in issuing Executive orders, appointing commissions to study the needs of mentally retarded people, and presenting legislative recommendations to Congress.

Judges can and do make public policy by extracting applicable principles from previous case law, principles from the U.S. Constitution and federal law, and often interpreting these principles in the context of core social values. This approach is unique from the other methods of formulating public policy since judges are charged with the responsibility of insuring laws are uniform, impartial, and devoid of prejudice. The core social values that judges call upon such as equal justice, right to treatment, protection from harm, and the right to reside in the least restrictive environment have particular significance for deinstitutionalization. Table 1.1 presents several landmark decisions that assert the constitutional rights of mentally retarded people.

Table 1.1

Historical Events Comprising Public Policies toward Residential Services and Deinstitutionalization in the United States

Year	Event	Agency/Individual	L	2	J	I	G	Reference
1850- 1875	Era marked by the belief that mentally retarded people were capable of learning and could be cured by special training.	Edouard Seguin, President, American Association of Medical Officers of American Institutions				x		Sloan 6 Stevens, 1976, p. 5; Wolfensberger, 1976, p. 69.
1875- 1900	Considerable evidence that mentally retarded people could not be cured by special training. The concept of the state school changed to the idea that it was an asylum for incurables. Some pupils known as the "untrainables" were regarded as people who would remain in institutions and never return to the community.	Frederick Kuhlmann, President, American Association of Medical Officers of American Institutions				x		Sloan £ Stevens , 1976, p. 171.
1893	Fernald proposed a financial basis for building more institutions. "This special care (given by institutions) is now recognized as not only charitable, but economical and conservative. Each hundred dollars invested now saves a thousand in the next generation."	Walter E. Fernald				x		Wolfensberger, 1976, p. 62.
1900- 1925	State schools abandoned original objectives and became state institutions for permanent commitment of mentally retarded persons. Industrial training programs expanded. Era marked by intro- duction of intelligence testing movement.	Frederick Kuhlmann, President, American Association on Mental Deficiency				x		Sloan & Stevens, 1976, p. 172.
1916	The annual cost per resident hovered between \$150-200 during the late 1800s leading Cornell to observe, "Until we get the per capita cost of the 'high grade feebleminded' down less than \$100 per year, there will be objection to their segregation on the grounds of expense."	W. S. Cornell, National Conference of Charities and Corrections				x		Wolfensberger, 1976, p. 66.
1925- 1950	Almost every state supported at least one institution. The number of residents increased from 25,000 to 50,000 during this period. The colony plan was intro- duced as well as the idea of parole and extra institutional care.	Frederick Kuhlmann, President, American Association on Mental Deficiency				x		Sloan & Stevens, 1976, p. 172.
1946	National Mental Health Act established the National Institute of Mental Health and provided grants for community mental health services.	U.S. Congress	X					General Accounting Office, 1977, p. 204.
1950	The National Association for Retarded Citizens was founded. One of the primary missions was, "to promote the general welfare of the mentally retarded of all ages everywhere: at home, in the community in institutions, and in public, private, and religious schools."	Board of Directors, National Association for Retarded Citizens ,				x		National Association for Retarded Citizens, 1976, p. 3.
1950	Midcentury objectives were established by the American Association on Mental Deficiency which called for: 1) provision of adequate and suitable facilities and provisions for the care and training of the mentally deficient; 2) community placement and supervision of suitable institutional and special class trained children as long as they can and do adjust to communicy if ife.	Executive Council, American Association on Mental Deficiency				x		Sloan & Stevens , 1976, p. 205.

.

.

.

Table 1.1 (continued-2)

.

ς.

.

.

Historical Events Comprising Public Policies toward Residential Services and Deinstitutionalization in the United States

Year	Event	Agency/Individual L	EJ	IG	Reference
1950- 1954	The National Association for Retarded Citizens conducted a mass communication campaign educating the public about mentally retarded people. This led to the first Presidential Proclamation on the issue by Dwight D. Eisenhower.	National Association for Ratarded Citizens and President Dwight D. Eisenhower	x	x	Lippmann, 1976, p. 98.
1954	Two trends were identified by the President, American Association on Mental Deficiency: (a) the increased emphasis on education and training of mentally retarded residents and (b) the increased proportion of severely retarded residents in state schools. He cautioned against both trends citing that "medicine, not education will find the final answers." He also advised that money for research should have priority over spending funds on severely retarded residents.	Arthur T. Hopwood, President, American Association on Mental Deficiency		x	Sloan & Stevens, 1976, p. 216.
1955	American Association on Mental Deficiency President, Gale H. Walker, criticized the status of residential care provided to mentally retarded people. He cited the types of names used for institutions; the need to build home-like settings; and the barren, unattractive interiors. There were critical shortages of bed space and personnel at that time. The care of the mentally retarded person has been primarily politically expedient rather than what is professionally possible. He also noted that the National Association for Retarded Citizens was influencing policy more than the American Association on Mental Deficiency.	Gale H. Walker, President, American Association on Mental Deficiency		x	Sloan & Stevens, 1976, p. 219.
1956	The President of the American Association on Mental Deficiency noted that in several states "there is evidence of political interference in institutions, especially in areas of staffing, operation, and admission.	Arthur E. Westwell, President, American Association on Mental Deficiency		x	Sloan & Stevens, 1976, p. 228.
1961	E. L. Johnstone, President, American Association on Mental Deficiency advocated that institutions should have three divi- sionsresearch, training, and permanent care for adults who would make industrial contributions to the institution and state that protected and trained them. The same idea had been presented by the President's father in a similar address in 1928.	Edward L. Johnstone, President, American Association on Mental Deficiency		x	Sloan & Stevens, 1976, p. 241.
1962	Report of President's Panel on Mental Retardation entitled <u>A proposed program</u> for national action to combat mental <u>retardation</u> concluded that state institu- tions should upgrade the quality of services and local communities were encouraged to work with federal and state agencies to provide comprehensive, community-based facilities and services.	President John F. Kennedy	x		General Accounting Office, 1977, p. 255.
1963	The President's First Separate Special Message to Congress on Mentally Ill and Mentally Retarded called for a national program to combat both conditions.	President John F. Kennedy	x		General Accounting Office, 1977, p. 206.

Table 1.1 (continued-3)

Historical Events Comprising Public Policies toward Residential Services and Deinstitutionalization in the United States

.

•

.

•

.

Year	Event	Agency/Individual	LEJIG	Reference
1963	Mental Retardation Facilities and Community Mental Health Center Construction Act of 1963 authorized funds for construction of community based mental health centers and facilities for the mentally retarded (PL 88-164).	U.S. Congress	x	General Accounting Office, 1977, p. 207.
1 96 3	American Association on Mental Deficiency President Sloan warned against the problems of overgeneralization, particularly, that large institutions were inherently bad. "It might be true, but it was not certain," stated Sloan.	William Sloan, President, American Association on Mental Deficiency	x	Sloan & Stevens, 1976, p. 248.
1965	Senator Robert F. Kennedy toured Willow- brook State School and his shocked reaction gained mass media coverage. "We have a situation that borders on a snake pit the children live in filth."	U.S. Congress	x	Shearer, 1976, p. 114.
1965	Social Security Amendments of 1965 enacted both the Medicare and Medicaid programs.	U.S. Congress	x	General Accounting Office, 1977, p. 207.
1965	Federal Assistance to State Operated and Supported Schools for the Handicapped authorized federal grants to states for educating handicapped persons in state schools.	U.S. Congress	x	General Accounting Office, 1977, p. 209.
1965	Vocational Rehabilitation Act Amendments of 1965 authorized construction of community residences for mentally retarded persons receiving vocational rehabilitation services in sheltered workshops (PL 89-333).	U.S. Congress Y S	x	General Accounting Office, 1977, p. 210.
1966	Executive Order 11280 established the President's Committee on Mental Retardation	President Lyndon B. Johnson	x	General Accounting Office, 1977, p. 210.
1967	Mental Retardation Amendments of 1967 authorized staffing grants for community facilities for mentally retarded people for a 51-month period (PL 90-170).	U.S. Congress	x	General Accounting Office, 1977, p. 210.
1969	American Association on Mental Deficiency President Koch boldly proclaimed that the large, isolated medical facility for the mentally retarded was a mistake. He also argued that services for mentally ill and mentally retarded residents should be separated.	Richard Koch, President, American Association on Mental Deficiency	x	Sloan & Stevens, 1976, p. 270.
1970	Developmental Disabilities Services and Facilities Construction Amendments of 1970 provided formula grants to states for comprehensive planning. The House Committee urged improved institutions and development of alternative community based residential facilities and day care programs (PL 91-517	U.S. Congress	x	General Accounting Office, 1977, p. 211.
1970	Report of the President's Task Force on the Mentally Handicapped placed emphasis on community based care and expanded coverage of mentally disabled persons under Medicare and Medicaid.	President Richard M. Nixon	x	General Accounting Office, 1977, p. 211.
1970	Housing and Urban Development Act required HUD to encourage development of residential settings to accommodate special needs of handicapped persons (PL 91-152).	U.S. Congress	x	General Accounting Office, 1977, p. 211.

Table 1.1 (continued-4)

Historical Events Comprising Public Policies toward Residential Services and Deinstitutionalization in the United States

.

.

Year	Event	Agency/Individual	L_E	J	IG	Reference
1971	Presidential Statement on Hental Retar- dation established a national goal of returning one-third of 200,000 mentally retarded people in public institutions to residential placements in the community. The Justice Department was directed to initiate action to strengthen full legal rights for mentally retarded people.	President Richard M. Nixon	x			General Accounting Office, 1977, p. 212.
1970s	Advances in behavioral technology and its application to teaching mentally retarded people aided in advancement of training of independent living skills necessary for placement in community settings.	University researchers such as B. F. Skinner			x	Horejsi, 1975, p. 7.
1971	Amendments to Social Security Act authorized residential care in "Intermediat Care Facilities" under Medicaid (PL 92-223)	U.S. Congress e	x			General Accounting Office, 1977, p. 212.
1971	Pennsylvania Association for Retarded Citizens v. Commonwealth of Pennsylvania was a landmark decision affirming the handicapped child's right to education at public expense and his right to certain procedural or due process safeguards.	U.5. District Court		x		Braddock, 1977, p. 14.
1972	Amendments to Social Security Act estab- lished Supplemental Security Income program to federalize and standardize state assistance programs for the aged, blind, and disabled (PL 92-603).	U.S. Congress	x			General Accounting Office, 1977, p. 213.
1972	Wyatt v. Stickney ruled that mentally ill and mentally retarded people have a constitutional right to treatment in the least restrictive setting necessary.	U.S. District Court		x		General Accounting Office, 1977, p. 213; Gilhool, 1976, p. 169.
1973	The normalization principle was defined as it applies to residential services. The National Association for Retarded Citizens promulgated this principle widely.	Wolf Wolfensberger			x	Wolfensberger, 1972; Horejsi, 1975, p. 8.
1973	Rehabilitation Act of 1973 gave priority for vocational rehabilitation services to the most severely disabled first. Section 504 of this act prohibits discrimi- nation against handicapped people.	U.S. Congress	x			General Accounting Office, 1977, p. 214.
1974	Rehabilitation Act Amendments of 1974 authorized a White House Conference on Handicapped Individuals and established the policy that all levels of government should work to enable handicapped individuals to live independently and with dignity.	U.S. Congress	x			General Accounting Office, 1977, p. 215.
1974	Housing and Community Development Act of 1974 changed the program definition of HUD to include developmentally disabled people (PL 93-383).	U.S. Congress	x			General Accounting Office, 1977, p. 216.
1974	Welsch v. Likens in Minnesota affirmed that mentally retarded people have a constitutional right to treatment and in the least restrictive alternative.	U.S. District Court		x		General Accounting Office, 1977, p. 216.
197 4	U.S. v. Solomon was the first class action suit initiated by the U.S. Department of Justice on behalf of mentally retarded people in institutions to receive treatment.	U.S. District Court		x		General Accounting Office, 1977, p. 216.

14

Table 1.1 (continued-5)

Historical Events Comprising Public Policies toward Residential Services and Deinstitutionalization in the United States

•

.

μ.

•

Year	Event	Agency/Individual	L	E	J	I	G	Reference
1974	President Rosen, American Association on Mental Deficiency, noted the number of increased discharges from institutions to community facilities. He advocated limits on new admissions to institutions and creative planning for future living alternatives. "The setting that may seem appropriate today, may be too restrictive tomorrow."	David Rosen, President, American Association on Mental Deficiency				x		Sloan & Stevens, 1976, p. 285.
1974	Executive Order 11776 reaffirmed the national goal of returning one-third of the mentally retarded residents in institutions to community settings.	President Richard M. Nixon		x				General Accounting Office, 1977, p. 216.
1974	Presidential Statement on Mental Retar- dation pledged the federal government's initiative in finding suitable housing for retarded adults but urged local levels to provide the real help.	President Richard M. Nixon		x				General Accounting Office, 1977, p. 217.
1975	Social Services Amendment of 1974 (Title XX) became the social services program established to help dependent people (a) achieve or maintain self sufficiency, (b) prevent or reduce inappropriate institutional care, and (c) secure institutional care only when appropriate.	U.S. Congress	X					General Accounting Office, 1977, p. 217; Mott, 1976, p. 49.
1975	Developmentally Disabled Assistance and Bill of Rights Act required states to pre- pare plans outlining community alternatives to institutionalization (PL 94-103).	U.S. Congress	x					General Accounting Office, 1977, p. 218.
1975	Education for All Handicapped Children Act of 1975 (PL 94-142) authorized handicapped children to receive a free appropriate public education to meet individual needs in the least restrictive environment.	U.S. Congress	x					General Accounting Office, 1977, p. 219.
1975	New York State Association for Retarded Citizens v. Carey ordered that residents of Willowbrook had a constitutional right to treatment in the least restrictive setting. It also ordered reduction of the Willowbrook population and concurrent development of community placements.	U.S. District Court			x			General Accounting Office, 1977, p. 219.
1975	Horacek v. Exon ordered reduction of Nebraska's institutions and established three year goals to accomplish the reduction.	U.S. District Court			x			General Accounting Office, 1977, p. 221.
1976	General Accounting Office issued a report based on 18 months of investigation designed to assess the impact of federal programs on deinstitutionalization. The report noted that deinstitutionalization programs were often too piecemeal and fragmented to ensure service delivery in the least restrictive setting.	General Accounting Office					x	Braddock, 1977, pp. 16-18.
1976	O'Connor v. Donaldson established grounds for commitment either as (a) danger to self or others, or (b) incapable of surviving safely in the community with family or friends. Also guaranteed regular review of necessity for resident institutionalization This case recognized the full constitutiona rights of handicapped citizens	U.S. District Court 1			x			Bradley, 1978, p. 140.

Table 1.1 (continued-6)

Historical Events Comprising Public Policies toward Residential Services and Deinstitutionalization in the United States

Year	Event	Agency/Individual	LE	J	1	G	Reference
1977	Medicaid Intermediate Care Facility- Mentally Retarded regulations were promulgated in 1974 and became operational in March 1977. The result of these regulations according to Bradley, "In order to maintain Medicaid support for their institutional systems, states are being forced to accelerate the movement of clients out of institutions in order to concentrate limited state financial resources on the improvement of physical facilities and staff ratios for those residents who remain."	U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare				x	Bradley , 1978, pp. 6-7.
1977	Halderman and the United States v. Penn- hurst State School and Hospital held that residents of Pennhurst have a right under the due process clause of the 14th Amend- ment to habilitation in the least restrictive setting. The court also held that mentally retarded people should not be segregated in an institution that does not meet minimially adequate standards. In March 1978, the court ordered that suitable community living arrangements must be pro- vided as well as individual habilitation plans. In effect, Pennhurst was ordered to close.	U.S. District Court		x			President's Committee on Mental Retardation, 1978, p. 16.
1978	Florida passed the Retardation and Pre- vention Act placing priority on community based programs: "unnecessarily placing clients in large, state institutions, are unreasonably costly, are ineffective in bringing the individual client to his or her maximum potential, and are in fact debilitating to a great majority of clients."	Florida State Legislature	x				National Center for Law 6 the Handicapped, 1978, p. 13.
1978	A new definition of developmental disability eliminated the delineation of handicapping conditionsmental retardation, cerebral palsy, epilepsy, and autism and replaced the categorical approach with a broader definition.	U.S. Congress	x				National Center for Law 5 the Handicapped, 1979, p. 3.
1979	National mail survey of community and public residential facilities was under- taken by the Developmental Disabilities Project on Residential Services and Community Adjustment in 1977. Results published in 1979 noted a dramatic increase in community residential facilities (see Figure 1).	University of Minnesota				x	Developmental Disabilities Project, 1979, p. 2.

Interest groups representing both professional and consumer functions of residential care in the United States often precipitate and cause government action. Two groups, the American Association on Mental Deficiency (AAMD) and the National Association for Retarded Citizens (NARC), represent the day to day leadership of groups most concerned with residential care for mentally retarded people. The recapitulation of historical events from 1850-1950 from the viewpoint of the American Association on Mental Deficiency sets an appropriate backdrop for a closer review of events during the last three decades.

Government workers are responsible for the implementation of public policy through interpretation and promulgation of regulations related to public law. Several departments in the United States share responsibility for any public policy, and in the case of residential care for mentally retarded people there are at least "135 federal programs administered by 11 major departments and agencies" responsible for aspects of deinstitutionalization (General Accounting Office, 1977, p. 184).

Outcomes of Deinstitutionalization: Cost as a Critical Problem

Blatt, Bogden, Biklen and Taylor (1976) suggested that if the public policy of deinstitutionalization was not reconceptualized, the movement would fail as a result of inertia or backlash. Bradley (1978) asserted that deinstitutionalization as a public policy has reached adolescent maturity restrained from further development by "lack of a systematic or integrated approach to the improvement of programs for

developmentally disabled persons" (p. 7). Braddock (1977) similarly charged that federal actions to date should only be considered as ad hoc outputs not public policy:

The federal stance toward deinstitutionalization is inchoate, evolving piecemeal, and the actions we highlight lack necessary coherence to be described accurately as a federal "policy" in this area. (pp. 10-11)

Dozens of unintended outcomes have emerged during recent years to indicate growing discomfort with the policy of deinstitutionalization. Bradley (1978) enumerated the following list:

-Parents have expressed some insecurity about the stability of community services.

-State and local governments have complained about the need to use several funding sources in a piecemeal fashion all of which have "requirements" or require categorical funding.

- -State institution employees have become angry about job insecurity and loss of work issuing propaganda that proclaims institutions are better able to provide care and stability to residents than private, proprietary agencies.
- -Accountability fluctuates when several, smaller facilities outnumber the monitoring capability of state agencies.

-In some states, the role of the private sector is avoided and private, proprietary facilities are prohibited. (p. 9)

One of the most prominent obstacles in development of community residential alternatives has been funding (Popp, 1978, p. 37). Although several landmark judicial decisions have ordered massive changes in the delivery of services to mentally retarded residents, litigation does not insure appropriate services will be available. Legislators have not always appropriated funding to match the intent or requirements of judicial orders.

Bachrach (1976) observed, "the deinstitutionalization movement seems to be encountering fiscal problems" (p. 14). Concerns about the financial plight of deinstitutionalization are plagued by inadequate data related to the costs of residential care (Kirk & Therrien, 1975). Economic considerations have paramount importance to the public policy of deinstitutionalization but have received little attention by researchers (Bruininks, Thurlow, Thurman, & Fiorelli, 1980; O'Connor, 1976). As a result of this neglect, the President's Committee on Mental Retardation (1976) found it impossible to gather comparable state information on the costs of services to mentally retarded people:

Amazingly little nationwide data is available from which program trends can be extrapolated and implications drawn. . . And yet, everyday decisions on the allocation of public resources are made by national and state policymakers based on little more than rudimentary assumptions about what is happening in the field. (p. 1)

Opinions about costs of residential services abound, while rigorous studies remain difficult to design, implement, and evaluate. In addition to methodological problems, Intagliata, Willer, and Cooley (1979) noted that this paucity may be due to reticence of researchers who fear discussion of costs would replace the issue of human rights in determining the breadth of residential alternatives. O'Connor (1976) did not publish cost data collected on 611 community residential facilities because of mixed methodological and humanitarian concerns:

Regardless of the outcome of this type of comparison, humanitarian concerns and civil rights advocacy may override economic consideration. Even if a full range
of community services costs more, human consideration is likely to continue to be a motivational force and its effective implementation will require a knowledge of costs to allow proper allocation and utilization of funds at all levels both public and private. (p. 34)

The dilemma of moral and economic considerations not only touches upon researchers but also manifests itself with the other major participants of public policy. Legislators, executives, judges, interest groups, and government workers have all faced and debated the delicate balance of costs and moral benefits. In an era of fiscal neoconservatism, the allocation of scarce resources will depend upon sound planning and management approaches. Cost was identified as an important tool for "program planning, management, financing, and evaluation" in 1977 by the General Accounting Office (p. 6). Noting that the state of the art in determining costs of residential alternatives had not been adequately developed at that time, the report recommended:

In view of federal legislation and court decisions, however, the most important question appears to be how to most cost effectively serve mentally disabled persons in the least restrictive environment appropriate to their needs. (p. 6)

Statement of the Problem

During the last decade, significant changes have occurred in the approach and delivery of residential services to mentally retarded people. As an alternative to institutionalization, community residential services have expanded rapidly. The trend of substantial decreases in resident population of state institutions accompanied by rapid increases in community residential placements has been documented by several

recent surveys (Bruininks, Hauber, & Kudla, 1979; Scheerenberger, 1978a, 1979).

The continued shift of emphasis toward community residential alternatives will depend upon comprehensive, accurate financial information regarding the relative costs of care in public and community residential facilities. The importance of this study cannot be overemphasized. Knowledge of expenditures is the first step in understanding the progress toward implementation of deinstitutionalization as a public policy. As Caiden (1978) aptly summarized, "Expenditures represent the difference between lip service and hard fact" (p. 4).

Up to the present time, there are at least three major issues that remain unknown about costs of residential services.

- There is no national descriptive information about the costs of community and public residential care (PCMR, 1976; Caiden, 1978).
- 2. There has been no comprehensive study of single factors that are associated with the cost of residential care. The studies completed thus far tend to focus only on one or two variables rather than an extensive analysis of locational, organizational, and resident dimensions.
- 3. Cost function models in education and health care areas have not been adapted for use in cost studies of residential facilities for mentally retarded people. Little attention has been paid to the relationships that may exist among and between a large set of predictors, such as locational,

organizational, and resident variables, and the cost of residential care for mentally retarded people.

These three gaps of information serve as the basis of this study. The purpose of the present investigation is to approach the topic of costs from a public policy perspective. Government officials require cost information for evaluation of past efforts toward deinstitutionalization and for future planning of expanded residential alternatives. The first objective of this study is to provide a descriptive profile of the national patterns of revenue and expenditures of community and public residential facilities during 1977-1978. Evaluation of the efforts of deinstitutionalization depends upon an accurate picture of current revenue and expenditures. No national study has ever been previously completed which provides the detailed profile of costs that the current study affords.

The distribution and location of residential services are controlled in part by state rules, regulations, and zoning laws. There are several areas open to regulation which may or may not affect costs. These administrative matters can be examined in light of growing concern for projecting future costs and planning for future expansion of community residential alternatives. The second objective of this study is to provide an analysis of costs by locational, organizational, and resident variables. The selection of the factors is guided by philosophical, regulatory, and research concerns regarding the size, staffing patterns, and location of residential facilities. Government officials can regulate and manage residential facilities by directly manipulating each of these selected factors.

The second objective of this study will be to test hypotheses about the relationship of selected locational, organizational, and resident factors with cost. These hypotheses include:

Locational Factors

- H_{O1}: There is no difference in the per diem rates of residential services located in the four census regions (Northeast, North Central, West, and South).
- H_{O2}: There is no difference in the per diem rates of residential services located in metropolitan and nonmetropolitan areas.

Organizational Factors

- H_{O3}: There is no relationship between per diem rates of residential services and size (number of residents).
- H₀₄: There is no relationship between per diem rates of residential services and the turnover rates of direct care staff.
- 5. H_{05} : There is no relationship between per diem rates of residential services and the staff-resident ratio.
- 6. H_{O6}: There is no relationship between per diem rates of residential services and the index of service/staffing patterns.
- H₀₇: There is no difference in the per diem rates of residential services and the occupancy rate.
- H_{O8}: There is no difference in per diem rates of community residential facilities by type of legal ownership.

- 9. H₀₉: There is no difference in per diem rates of community residential facilities by membership in a system.
 (A system is a group of residential facilities owned and operated by one parent organization.)
- 10. H₀₁₀: There is no difference in the per diem rates of residential services and the number of years in operation.

Resident Factors

- 11. H₀₁₁: There is no difference in the per diem rates of residential services and the age of residents served.
- 12. H₀₁₂: There is no difference in the per diem rates of residential services and the level of mental retardation of residents served.
- 13. H₀₁₃: There is no difference in the per diem rates of residential services and the proportion of severely/profoundly mentally retarded residents served.

The third and final objective of this study will be development of an explanation of cost relationships using a cost function approach. A cost function is the testing of statistical relationships between inputs or independent variables and cost or the dependent variable using multiple regression techniques. The input factors will be selected from three major categories including locational factors, organizational factors, and resident factors. Results from the second objective of this study will be used in making decisions for inclusion in the multiple regression analysis. Separate cost function analyses will be run for public and community residential facilities.

II. REVIEW OF LITERATURE

Few comprehensive cost studies have been completed at a national or state level. Of those states which have issued reports, the scope of these studies is often restricted. Although underdeveloped, the existing literature does provide insight into the design requirements of future cost analysis studies. To provide a cohesive structure for the review of literature, three major categories have been selected: a) cost studies related to public residential facilities, b) cost studies of community residential facilities, and c) cost comparison studies of community and public residential facilities. The fourth section of this chapter will focus on cost functions of human services as a model for a third level of analysis in this study.

Public Residential Facility Cost Studies

Providing care for mentally retarded people in institutions is expensive and will become even more costly in the future. Baumeister (1970) estimated that "more money is spent on the five percent of the mentally retarded people who are institutionalized than upon the 95 percent who are not" (p. 22).

Lakin (1979) summarized the average annual per capita expenditures for public residential facilities serving mentally retarded people between 1915 and 1978. Table 2.1 presents these annual per capita

Table 2.1

Annual Per Capita Costs for Residents of Public Institutions for the Mentally Retarded 1915-1978^a

.

^

•

.

-

Year	Cost	Cost (1967=\$1.00)	Year	Cost	Cost (1967=\$1.00)
1915	182.52	600.39	1952	1112.50	1399.52
1922	309.81	606.28	1953	1186.83	1481.16
1927	304.02	584.65	1954	1204.07	1495.45
1928	300.67	586.10	1955	1285.50	1603.02
1929	281.10	547.95	1956	1394.34	1713.23
1930	265.05	530.10	1957	1507.13	1787.46
1931	287.85	631.25	1958	1596.47	1843.92
1932	262.57	641.98	1959	1746.92	2000.22
1933	238.24	641.02	1960	1867.70	2104.90
1934	236.87	590.70	1961	1916.12	2138.39
1935	252.22	613.67	1962	2033.96	2245.49
1936	259.06	624.24	1963	2130.38	2324.24
1937	278.59	647.88	1964	2208.19	2376.01
1938	283.43	671.64	1965	2361.08	2498.02
1939	238.05	692.43	1966	2619.81	2695.78
1940	291.13	693.17	1967	2965.33	2695.33
1941	287.98	653.02	1968	3471.99	3332.04
1942	315.29	646.09	1969	3995.58	3638.96
1943	347.48	670.81	1970	4634.85	3985.25
1944	365.20	692.98	1971		
1945	386.11	716.35	1972		
1946	433.79	741.52	1973		
1947	527.91	789.10	1974	9937.50	6728.17
1948	631.38	875.92	1975		
1949	697.72	977.51	1976	13052.30	7655.31
1950	745.60	1034.15	1977		
1951	807.11	1037.14	1978	18286.65	9377.77

^aLakin, 1979, p. 97.

costs in both actual and real dollars (1967), while Figure 3 depicts graphically the steady increase in costs.

Considerable variability in state expenditures for operation of institutions was reported by Baumeister (1970). For example, in 1966 five states spent less than \$4.00 per day compared with over \$10.00 per day spent by five other states. Moreover, per capita expenditures were found to be dependent upon the size of the institution and the type of patient served. Southern states generally expended the least amount of money per patient. Baumeister also noted that small institutions had higher per capita costs than larger facilities.

Conley (1973) provided an economist's viewpoint on the aggregate costs of public residential facilities. Faced with two serious problems of data collection, Conley relied upon personal estimation. First, the number of mentally retarded people served by residential programs was not available and had to be estimated. Second, there was no meaningful coordination of large amounts of statistical cost data. In particular, Conley found that several statistical surveys gathered information but yielded no comprehensive, comparable national figures.

By necessity, Conley assumed the following: a) the average cost of care for mentally retarded people was the same as for mentally ill people when a facility served both types of residents; b) inpatient care in residential treatment centers was twice as costly as outpatient care; c) the average maintenance costs increased in private mental hospitals and residential treatment centers at the same rate as public mental hospitals; d) the number of mentally retarded persons in



Figure 3. Annual Cost Per Resident of Care in Public Institutions for the Mentally Retarded for the Years 1915 to 1978. (Lakin, 1979, p. 98)

private mental hospitals and residential treatment centers in 1970 was assumed to be equal to the number in 1969; and e) in order to make estimates of capital costs of existing private facilities, data from new construction under the Mental Retardation Construction Program were used. The average capital investment per patient was slightly over \$9,000 but a lower figure of \$7,500 was used for private residential facilities because they tended to be located in areas accessible to generic services (hospitals, laundries, and repair shops) and partly because they tended to use less expensive construction methods. Conley applied an average cost of \$15,000 per bed to estimate the capital value of public institutions.

Conley estimated that the average yearly maintenance expenditures for residents in public institutions totaled \$3,472 in 1968 and \$4,635 in 1970. These figures were derived from direct accounting of expenditures. The annual figure increased approximately 33% by adding in the rental value of land, buildings, equipment; the value of unpaid resident work; and the value of volunteer labor. These adjusted annual maintenance expenditures for 1968 and 1970 totaled \$4,546 and \$5,865, respectively. Conley attributed the increase in per capita expenditures to the inclusion of capital costs which are usually excluded from cost studies and reports of public residential facilities.

Scheerenberger has conducted mail surveys of public residential facilities under the auspices of the National Association of Superintendents of Public Residential Facilities in 1974, 1976, 1977, and 1979. Financial data were collected on both the long and short form

questionnaires. The items on the long form included: total operating cost (personnel, other, depreciation), total new construction or major remodeling, and per diem. The short form asked for total operating cost (personnel, other) and per diem.

According to the trends reported by Scheerenberger (1978a) over one-half billion dollars was spent in maintaining public residential facilities in 1970. During 1976-1977 this figure had risen to almost \$2.4 billion (p. 21). During the study conducted in 1979, 174 facilities completed the long form questionnaire and 104 facilities used the short form which determined only per diem. Scheerenberger (1979) estimated the total operational budgets were \$3,033,907,945 excluding capital construction and renovation costs. The mean per diem was \$60.10 for fiscal year 1978-1979 compared with the mean per diem of \$44.23 for fiscal year 1976-1977 and \$10.91 for fiscal year 1969-1970. During the past decade the per diem rate accelerated 451% in public residential facilities.

During the 1977-1978 fiscal year, Krantz, Bruininks, and Clumpner (1978) gathered per diem information for public residential facilities by surveying state government officials. The range of per diems varied from a low of \$22.00 (est.) to a high of \$116.05. The Southern states continued to provide lower per capita expenditures than other geographic regions. The national average per day per person cost was reported as \$50.10 (p. 25).

Internationally, there have been two studies completed on the costs of institutions for mentally retarded people in Scotland and

Israel. Primrose (1972) assessed the differential costs of institutional care for different groups of residents in a 1,325 bed facility in Scotland. The purpose of the study was to illustrate the variation in cost which exists behind an "average per diem" figure. After classifying the patients by age and level of independence, per week cost-of-care figures were calculated for each group. The lowest cost was reported for adult males who worked off the grounds and lived in hostel arrangements on campus. The highest per week cost occurred for patients in the Admissions and Assessment Hospital Unit. The next most expensive cost of care was provided to people in the geriatric unit. The author concluded:

Before valid comparisons of cost can be made, like must be compared with like; crude averages have little meaning unless details of what is included are known. (p. 626)

Don and Amir (1969) investigated the differences in cost between Israeli facilities operated by the government compared with large private facilities. Ten residential institutions constituted the sample (4 government operated, 2 public, and 4 private facilities). The cost of maintenance varied from \$89.43 to \$99.14 per month with higher costs paid in institutions providing care to more severely retarded residents. Government institutions tended to have higher staff-resident ratios, higher wage rates, but lower food costs. Expenditures on maintenance and repair varied with internal standards of care and budget flexibility rather than the physical condition of buildings or the space to resident ratio. No significant differences were found in expenditures due to heterogeneity of resident characteristics (sex, age, level of retardation).

The size of institutions did vary with costs, but in a curvilinear fashion. In government institutions, the average cost diminished up to 70-80 beds, then increased upward to 200 beds, then declined after 200 beds. Partial control for differences in characteristics of the population occurred in the selection of facilities by matching levels of resident functioning.

Ownership of facilities was also found to influence expenditures among the three types of facilities. Costs tended to be higher in government operated facilities because of "bureaucratic procedures and decision-making, regulations by the Civil Service Commission, strength of the union, and discouragement of thrift" (p. 38). While costs varied by the type of ownership, the level and quality of services did not. Don and Amir (1969) reported after careful personal observation that "the provision of services increased with the size of institutions, but the difference in quality of services tended to be small" (p. 39). A summary of the public residential facility cost studies appears in Table 2.2.

Community Residential Facility Cost Studies

Few significant studies have been undertaken in the area of community residential facility costs. Heal, Sigelman, and Switzky (1978) offered a detailed review of cost findings and reported that because of the poor quality of data O'Connor (1976) eliminated cost analyses from her reports.

	Publication				Study		
Researcher(s)	Date	Scope	Methodology Employed	Statistical Analysis	Period	Kesults	Limitations
Don 6 Amir	1969	Israel- 4 government, 2 public and 2 private residential facilities	Onsite interviews and review of financial statements	Average monthly costs per patient were calculated for major categories such as personnel, programming, food, clothing, etc. Totals were presented by type of ownership.	1964-65	Monthly cost ranged from \$89.43 - \$99.14 with higher costs paid in institutions.	Descriptive totals only; analysis by ownership 6 size only.
Baumeister	1970	U.Spublic residential facilities from 1930-1965	Analysis of cost data collected by U.S. Census Bureau	Descriptive statistics such as annual per capita expendi- ture reported by year.	1930-65 by 5-yr. intervals	Year per capita exp. 1930 \$ 265 1935 252 1940 291 1945 386 1955 1,093 1960 1,660 1965 2,375	Descriptive totals only.
Primrose	1972	Scotland- l public residential facility	Onsite audit of cost records for one-week period	Average weekly costs were calculated for direct care, ward costs, general costs, and program costs. Figures are presented by type of resident (e.g., "Toddlers," "Active Boys," "Geriatrics")	1970	Lowest cost for adult males who worked off- campus. Highest costs per week for patients in Admissions and Assessment Units.	Descriptive totals only; analysis by type of resident.
Conley	1973	U.Spublic institutions	Analysis of Department of Health, Education, and Welfare data and U.S. Census Bureau reports	Calculation of direct and indirect costs of public institutions. Totals presented.	1968, 1970	\$875 million public institution total; \$1.1 billion public institution total.	Descriptive estimates for 1968 6 1970.
Scheerenberger	1978	U.S266 public residential facilities	Mail survey of all facilities; 223 reported financial information.	Total expenditures reported; proportions reported for personnel, capital, and general operating costs.	FY '76- '77	\$2.4+ billion total; \$44.23 per diem.	Descriptive totals only.
Krantz, Bruininks, 6 Clumpner	1978	U.S236 public residential facilities	Mail survey of state mental retardation coordinators	Average cost per diem reported by state and weighted propor- tionate to number of people represented.	FY '77- '78	\$50.10 U.S. mean per diem.	Descriptive per diens only.
Scheerenberger	1979	U.S278 public residential facilities	Mail survey of all facilities; 174 long forms and 104 short form questionnaires completed.	Total expenditures reports; per diems and proportion for personnel, capital, 6 general operating costs.	FY '78- '79	\$3.0+ billion total; \$60.10 per diem	Descriptive totals only.

Table 2.2 . Summary of Public Residential Facility Cost Studies .

۲.

.

.

,

ω

• •

Several methodological problems hampered collection of cost information in the O'Connor study. First, no comprehensive system of accounting had been developed in group homes so that comparable fiscal information could be gathered. O'Connor attempted to gather cost data through a personal interview format. This approach failed because local accounting systems were not sophisticated enough to handle the questions; the interviewers and respondents were not accounting-oriented; and the interviewee was not often the most informed respondent about the financial aspects of the facility. To accommodate for these onsite problems, estimates were accepted during the interview and in other cases, local budget records were submitted and analyzed after the completed interview to assist in providing complete data on the protocols.

As previously mentioned, O'Connor made no statements about the costs of community residential care because of incomplete data. In replacement for the results, several excellent recommendations were presented to urge improved accounting procedures at the local level as well as the publication of an accounting manual (Sipe, 1976).

In 1973, Baker, Seltzer, and Seltzer collected annual budget figures from 196 community residences. The average annual budget for community facilities in 1973 was \$56,000 or \$4,680 per resident (1977, p. 205). In reporting the results, Baker et al. presented annual per capita expenditures by prototypic models or types of residential programs. The models were defined by size, type of resident served, or specialized services. Small group homes serving 6-10 residents reported

a per capita budget of \$5,690 which was almost twice as expensive as a large group home (21-40 residents) with an annual expenditure of \$3,380. During that same year, the per diem in public residential facilities was \$24.43 or \$8,917 per year per resident (Baker et al., 1977).

Heal et al. (1978) cautioned that comparisons of per diem figures between public and community residential facilities proposed by Baker et al. (1977) were dangerous. Public residential facilities do not include capital costs of land and buildings in the per diem figures. The cost of rent, on the other hand, was included in the cost estimates provided by community residential facility administrators. Program and service costs, however, were included in the public residential facility per diem, but were excluded from the community residential facility per diem.

Disparity in public and community residential facility data emerges from two other sources: a) differences in the characteristics of the population served, and b) the effect of population decline within public residential facilities on fixed costs. In recent national surveys of community and public residential facilities (Bruininks, Hauber, & Kudla, 1980; Scheerenberger, 1978a), the population served in public residential facilities was primarily residents with severe or profound levels of mental retardation (75%). This figure contrasts with 32% of the population in community residential facilities with the same classification. The degree of dependence of residents significantly contributes to the differences of cost. The second problem

relates to the rapid decline in number of residents in public residential facilities. This flux of numbers causes an acceleration of fixed costs that cannot be reduced quickly. Certain fixed costs such as administrative overhead and maintenance of buildings cannot fluctuate with changes in resident attendance. Thus, as the population declines, the volume of resident days decreases which drives up unit costs.

Peat, Marwick, Mitchell & Co. (1976) was commissioned by the Illinois Developmental Disabilities Advisory Council to estimate the cost of designing and operating ten various residential service arrangements. The costs included start-up financing, operating expenses, and the capital financial requirements for establishing normalized residential service facilities.

One of the most important assumptions of this report was that community residential facilities typically underpay professional and paraprofessional staff. If competitive rates of pay similar to public residential facilities were paid by community residential facilities, the average daily cost was estimated to be in the range of \$26.08 to \$41.98. This per diem range included capital costs and was comparable to the range of per diems in public residential facilities at the time of the report in 1976.

Peat, Marwick, Mitchell & Co. also found that there was a generally predictable relationship in human service organizations between personnel and other direct operating costs. The relationship varied depending upon the size of facilities and composition of services, but generally, over a long time period with a large number

of providers, the salary mix of staff personnel in each arrangement tended toward the overall mean salary for each position. If salaries showed wide variability, it was a result of educational qualifications, experience, or the supply and demand of the local labor market for qualified personnel.

On a smaller scale, the Department of Mental Health in Indiana (1975) produced a progress report on ten community residential facilities at the request of the Indiana Legislative Council. Lower costs were associated with units offering the least services and the highest functioning residents. Differences within apartment units depended on resident characteristics such as functioning level and independent living skills. Differences within larger group homes were affected by rent or mortgage payments with lower rates reflecting gratis or donated buildings and furnishings. Those facilities which served younger, severely handicapped children experienced higher costs. Personnel expenses consumed the largest share of the budgets ranging in proportion from 32% to 73% of total operating costs. The average cost of personnel for all ten agencies totaled 53.2% of the budgets.

Heal and Daniels (1978) completed a cost effectiveness analysis of three community alternatives (natural homes, supervised apartments, and group homes) in three counties in northern Wisconsin. Personal interviews were conducted with a representative sample of 29 developmentally disabled individuals and their residential supervisors to collect data about the individuals and the facility. The major purpose of the study

was to identify and measure six major dimensions: a) competence, b) social adjustment, c) normalized life style, d) satisfaction, and e) economy. There were two sources of costs, those borne by the individual resident and those paid by society. Apartments were found to have the lowest society cost, the highest individual contribution, and the highest approximation to a normalized life style. On the other hand, the group homes were more expensive for society and were less normalized than apartments. Natural homes were found to be at intermediate levels between these two types of residences. Table 2.3 presents the results of this study.

Table 2.3

	$\frac{\text{Individual Cost}}{X}$			Society Cost X SD		
Group Home (n = 16)	\$1,564.25	399.65	\$5,361.00	112.53	\$6,925.25	
Natural Home (n = 9)	1,423,22	1,417.45	4,576.33	1,751.94	5,999.55	
Apartment $(n = 4)$	3,645.00	1,617.92	1,833.75	1,174.05	5,478.75	

Means, Standard Deviations, and Number of Cases for Three Residential Alternatives^a

^aHeal and Daniels, 1978, p. 3a.

As noted earlier in this section, O'Connor was unable to publish cost data from the interview study of 105 facilities conducted in 1973. Based on that experience, O'Connor and Morris (1978) designed a study with specific emphasis on a specially designed accounting system that

would record accurate cost information for a 12-18 month period. The second purpose of the study was to analyze costs with facility and resident characteristics (facility location, administrative structure, size of facility, and age of residents).

Of the 200 community residential facilities in HEW Regions IX and X, 50 facilities volunteered to participate. No selection was made although certain strata were identified such as profit/nonprofit ownership, size, age of residents, and location. A four-month pilot study was conducted with eight facilities to test the accounting system. Following minor changes in the forms, four workshops were conducted throughout those regions to give training to 50 facility administrators. Follow-up workshops were conducted two months later. The final sample size was 29 facilities located in four states: Washington (n=8), Oregon (n=10), California (n=8), and Arizona (n=3). Of the 29 facilities, 9 were proprietary, and 20 were nonprofit organizations. The average size was 24 residents, and the average age of the residents was 25 years.

The results were reported as average monthly expenses per resident by type of operating costs. Relationships were analyzed by correlation, one-way analysis of variance tests and stepwise multiple regressions. Table 2.4 presents the mean costs per month per resident by type of operating cost and capital cost. The per diem was \$12.80 per person for operating costs and \$2.27 per person for capital costs.

Ten variables were selected and one-way analyses of variances were completed with four dependent variables--staff costs, total operating

Table 2.4

Summary of Generic Operating Costs and Capital Costs by Resident per Month^a

Type of Cost	Mean	SD
Staff	\$262	\$195
Food	47	13
Utilities	19	11
Insurance	4	4
Repair and Maintenance	10	7
Taxes, Licenses, Fees	4	4
Supplies	13	11
Vehicles	14	11
Miscellaneous		15
Total Operating Costs	\$384	\$226
Total Capital Costs	\$ 68	\$ 46

^aO'Connor and Morris, 1978, p. 28.

costs, capital costs, and total costs. According to O'Connor and Morris:

Five variables were significantly related to all four costs including state, region, degree of programming, staff to resident ratio, and age of residents. A sixth variable, profit orientation was related to all but the capital costs. Two variables, type of dwelling and size of facility, were significantly related only to capital costs. (p. 44)

The only variables that were not related to costs of CRFs were facility isolation and resident IQ.

The final level of analysis was a stepwise multiple regression to ascertain the predictive combinations of variables. Results indicated:

There were probably three underlying factors in the data. The first factor which was related to both

3.

operating costs and total costs, was a combination of staff to resident ratio, degree of programming, and age of residents. The second factor which was related to all three costs, was the type of dwelling. The third factor appears to be the state in which the facility was located. (p. 58)

In discussing the results, O'Connor and Morris cited staff to resident ratio as a major factor contributing to personnel costs and in turn, expenses consuming the majority of community residential facility budgets. The level of programming is related to both staff to resident ratio and personnel expenses. Nonprofit facilities tended to have higher staff to resident ratios and levels of programming. Size was related to capital costs with the larger facilities reporting higher capital costs.

Gross (1978) analyzed existing cost data from community residential studies in Massachusetts and Virginia using five different cost reporting methods. This study was the first attempt to describe and categorize cost reporting techniques applicable to social welfare literature.

Cost reports can vary in response to three basic questions:

- 1. Cost to whom?
 - a) resident
 - b) families
 - c) service agency
 - d) federal government
 - e) society

2. What is the object of the cost study?

- a) individual
- b) agency
- c) government level

3. What is the method of determining costs?

a) Reimbursable cost reporting coined by Gross to mean determination of the level of cost sharing by a specific government unit. After total cost is determined for the program under study, all other contributions are subtracted from this amount leaving the reimbursement level of the specific government unit. Mayeda and Wai (1975) attempted to report the share of financial participation as money flowed from the federal government down. This method has not been fully developed.

b) Average per person cost reporting, according to Gross, is widely accepted because readers can readily grasp the meaning of the measure. The problem with this approach is the inherent weakness in averaging across all individuals. The objective of this type of analysis is to determine the total costs of a program to the government and the total number of people served.

c) Functional cost reporting is an accepted term in the literature that means an internal method that separates costs into direct program costs (variable costs) and support service costs (fixed costs). Beatrice (1974) divided residential costs of Massachusetts into these two categories in order to project the effect of rapid deinstitutionalization (volume change) on cost over time.

d) Unit cost reporting is also found in the literature and means calculation of the cost for one unit of service by dividing the total costs for a service by the total number of service units. The difficulties of this approach have been thoroughly expounded by

Bowers and Bowers (1976) and include:

(a) lack of service objectives, (b) poor service definitions,
(c) no common language of services, (d) poor unit definitions,
(e) lack of data, (f) no public pricing of services,
(g) the unique nature and composition of human services,
(h) lack of project continuity in experimental efforts,
(i) the apprehension of workers that units of service will be linked to worker efficiency, (j) lack of system designers who understand the whole of the unit of service system,
(k) a lack of support systems in place, and (l) a lack of information use by management. (pp. 11-28)

e) Needs approach of cost reporting is a recent development which has no theories and no studies to support its use. The method begins with a diagnostic procedure of individual resident needs followed by a prescription of services to meet those needs including timeline and the appropriate number of units of service. Costs are then calculated for the prescription according to the type of provider. Anderson, Greenberg, Patten, and Fine (1976) have selected 200 elderly residents in nursing homes and matched them with 200 elderly people who live in their own homes. No results have been yet reported.

After reviewing the contradictory results of four cost studies on residential services (Rathbone-McCuan et al., 1975; Jones & Jones, 1976; Mayeda & Wai, 1975; Beatrice, 1974), Gross argued that the inconclusive findings may be a result of differences in cost reporting methods. By applying the five cost reporting methods to two sets of data from the Commonwealth of Virginia alternative living environments for the elderly and the Commonwealth of Massachusetts alternative living environments for the mentally retarded, Gross found that outcome varied with type of approach used.

Of the five methods, Gross (1978) found:

There is no one way to calculate costs for such analysis . . . without full knowledge of the methodological and behavioral implications of each cost reporting approach, they are all potentially susceptible to misuse. (p. 38)

The deinstitutionalization movement does not singularly affect people who are mentally retarded. Persons who are chemically dependent, mentally ill, or juvenile delinquents have also been served in a wide array of community residential alternatives. Faced with a similar gap in the lack of centralized planning and development of community options, little is known about operating costs, characteristics, and effectiveness of halfway houses of psychosocially disabled persons. The National Institute of Mental Health recently sponsored a study to determine the costs associated with the provision of community based residential care. The purpose of this study was to examine the differences in costs as they relate to characteristics of disability groups, the type of facilities, and the types of services provided by the facilities.

One of the first problems encountered by investigators Piasecki, Pittinger, and Rutman (1977) was the absence of a meaningful classification framework:

Designations such as boarding home, board and care facility, group home, hostel, or domiciliary care facility tend to be used somewhat interchangeably by different authorities to describe essentially the same type of residential service. The same problems can be observed with respect to varying descriptive terms for halfway house type programs, e.g., halfway house, sheltered living home, transitional home, rehabilitation house, as well as for various apartment-dwelling types of programs. (p. 2)

Given this kaleidoscope of overlapping descriptions, a typology was formed using size, type of staff, and scope of services. A second broader framework comprised of three sets of variables for statistical analysis was also designed. The factors were environment (geographical location), organizational attributes (staffing patterns and services), and client group characteristics (age and level of disability).

Per diem costs varied substantially according to the locale of the residence. Facilities in urban downtown areas reported average daily costs for 1973 at \$11.20 while facilities in rural areas reported costs of over \$18.00 per day. Facility costs also varied widely by geographic region. Nursing home costs were lowest in the South (\$13.51) and highest in the Northeast (\$21.43).

Organizational variables, particularly the total expenditure for staff salaries, was an important determinant of total per diem cost for residential services. In halfway houses, about 50% of the average facility budget was expended on salaries. The presence of full-time professional staff was also an important factor in determining the overall costs of the program. Facilities which made extensive use of volunteers and paraprofessionals were significantly less expensive than those employing full-time psychologists and psychiatrists.

The rank ordering of per diems by type of ownership revealed that proprietary operations cost less than \$9.00 daily, nonprofit organizations operated at a cost of slightly over \$9.00, while government facilities were most expensive with per diem rates over \$12.00. Generally, facilities operated by governmental units tended to report

the highest cost per day, the lowest number of residents per unit, and the lowest occupancy rate.

Facilities offering basic domiciliary services were found to be less expensive than those offering educational, vocational, or counseling services with the former costing \$9.97 and the latter averaging \$11.36.

A brief synopsis of the community residential facility studies is presented in Table 2.5. The National Institute of Mental Health study completed by Piasecki, Pittinger, and Rutman (1977) was excluded because the residents were not mentally retarded. The study by Gross (1978) was excluded because the purpose of the research was methodological in nature.

Comparison Cost Studies of Public and Community Residential Facilities

One of the most carefully designed studies of comparison between community and public facilities was conducted by Mayeda and Wai (1975). The model they employed aggregated costs over six direct variables and one indirect cost variable including: a) room and board, b) attendant services, c) special programs, d) special professional services, e) educational programs, f) support services, and g) general and administrative costs. By analyzing budgets of state hospitals and regional centers in California, Florida, and Washington for a six-month period in 1974 and 1975, Mayeda and Wai were able to trace and record the total costs for services provided to 4,284 community and institutional residents.

Researcher(s)	Publication Date	Scope	Methodology Employed	Statistical Analysis	Study Period	Results	Limitations
0 'Connor	1976	U.SSampling frame of 3,412 community facilities; 105 selected for interviews	Interviews were conducted of facility administrators	None	1973	None	No report because of incomplete data
Baker, Seltzer, £ Seltzer	1977	U.SSampling frame of 301 community facilities	Mail survey of 196 facilities; in-depth interview in 15 facilities located in Northeastern U.S	Per diems presented by type of facility. Researchers defined the "types."	1973	Average annual budget was \$4,680 per resident in 1974. (\$12.82 per diem)	
Indiana Department of Mental Bealth	1975	Indiana-10 community facilities	Analysis of cost reports submitted to Indiana Department of Mental Health	Costs broken down by major categories such as personnel, food, capital expenditures. Ranges of per diems given by type of facility.	1975	Lowest costs associated with least services and highest functioning residents. Average per diem was \$15.40.	Provides per diem for small (n=10) sample of homes.
Peat, Marwick, Mitchell, & Co.	1976	Illinois- estimation of fiscal require- ments to develop normalized residential services.	Analysis of cost reports from other states and site visits to Minnesota, Nebraska, Pennsylvania, & Michigan.	Estimation of per day costs presented by level of occupancy. Capital costs estimated for renting, buying and building. Pro forma expenses presented for each type of facility.	1976	Estimated per diems ranged from \$26.08 - \$41.98.	
Heal 6 Daniels	1978	Wisconsin-29 individuals in 3 settings (natural home, group home, apt.)	Personal interviews with 29 developmentally disabled individuals and their residential supervisors.	Estimates of individual resi- dent contributions to cost of care (labor and money) and society's contribution to cost of residential service for sample of 29 residents.	1977	Apartments (\$5,478.75) were the most cost effective alternative when compared with group homes (\$6,925.25) and natural homes (\$5,999.55).	
O'Connor & Morr	in 1978	Region IX and X- 29 facilities in Washington Oregon, California, and Arizona	Pacilities were trained and asked to submit standard monthly report of expenses and revenues for l year. Site visits by research staff to collect resident, building, and personal data.	Results reported by operating costs, capital costs, relation- ships of facility and resident characteristics to cost, and revenues. Use of multiple regression to determine relationships.	1975	Average total operating program costs were \$384.00 @ month per person (\$12.80 per diem). Average capital cost per person per month was \$68.00 (\$2.27 per diem). Three combinations of variables contributed to cost differences: (1) staffing/programming/age of residents, (2) type of dwelling, and (3) state.	

Tat	ale.	2.	5

۰ •

Summary of Community Residential Facility Cost Studies

In addition to the collection of cost data, a performance measure of resident adaptive behavior was taken with one of three scales: the Adaptive Behavior Scale, the Washington Assessment and Training Scale, and the Florida Client Assessment Instrument. Mayeda and Wai planned to link individual progress with expenditures as a means of approximating cost-benefit relationships. The last objective of this study was to study the "input/output funding flow structure in two community-based systems" (p. 2).

The cost data of the Inland Counties Regional Center in California were analyzed in combination with the input/output studies and the assessment data of individual clients. Although this Center is responsible for purchase or provision of services to developmentally disabled clients, there was "an expenditure bias toward children living at home with natural parents" and evidence to indicate that "many clients were not being provided with certain professional services" (p. 4). The first conclusion of this study was:

The cost of services to developmentally disabled persons in state hospitals do not differ significantly from the adjusted true costs of services in community settings provided both groups are provided with a full array of needed services. (p. 4)

During the six-month period of this study, the mean cost of services to residents in state hospitals was \$6,247 compared with \$638 for clients in the community. When the additional costs of educational programs, special professional services, and generic services were added, the true cost of services in community settings approached the costs of care in state hospitals. The original difference between the

two settings (\$6,247 and \$638) was explained as a function of utilization patterns since none of the 463 clients served through the Inland Counties Regional Center received dental, psychological, speech, audiology, occupational therapy, physical therapy, or any other special professional services during that six-month study period. The authors concluded:

The service utilization patterns in community settings are lower than utilization patterns of services in state hospitals due partially to the weaknesses of the coordinating interface in community settings and differences in repayment criteria and policies. (p. 5)

It should be mentioned that not all clients needed these professional services, while in some instances those who did need services received them in community residential or day programs rather than the Inland Counties Regional Center. Mayeda and Wai redefined the difference between state hospitals and community programs as a difference in organizational administrative structures. A state hospital was a unified service system administered by a single person or unit and was demand dominated whereas community programs were multiply administered and supply dominated.

Developmentally disabled individuals who lived at home with their parents cost society less than placement in group homes and significantly less than placement in state hospitals. The Inland Counties Regional Center reported providing liberal services to parents to help maintain children in homes. This finding led to the third conclusion by Mayeda and Wai:

The major actual cost savings for services to developmentally disabled persons who actively require nurturance and assistance are rooted in the natural home environment. The cost of liberal home support and special professional services to those living at home will not deplete these savings. (p. 8)

Jones and Jones (1976) collected budget information on 13 community residential facilities in Massachusetts as part of a larger study of community placement of discharged residents. Cost savings did accrue when residents were placed in the community, particularly to the state since the financial burden was shifted to federal, local, and private sources of funding.

Cost data were collected on a small sample of 24 residents which was considered representative of the larger population. Between January 1, 1972 and June 30, 1973 individual records were kept in terms of Supplemental Security Income, costs to the Massachusetts Department of Mental Health, in-kind services provided, and resources coming from private agencies for the sample. A comparison was made with institutional costs if the sample residents had not been released. Jones and Jones found:

The average cost in the institution is \$7,464 versus \$6,112 in community residences. However, when the costs of rehabilitative programs and federal input are added, the difference narrows markedly. (p. 87)

Jones and Jones also examined some of the same issues addressed by Mayeda and Wai. They questioned whether cost comparison of services provided in state hospitals and community settings could be made without controlling for the needs of residents and the actual services delivered to residents. In terms of differences in service utilization patterns between unified systems such as state hospitals and coordinated

systems such as community programs, Jones and Jones proposed that other factors beside administrative variables should be examined. Utilization may be in response to need, awareness of need, availability of subsidization, and any combination of these factors. Based upon observation and personal judgment, the authors concluded:

The institution, as a treatment site for the developmentally disabled, does not come out as very desirable on either a cost or an effectiveness criterion and certainly not on an effectiveness to cost ratio. (p. 18)

In the Commonwealth of Virginia, Murphy and Datel (1976) undertook a cost-benefit analysis to project costs and benefits over a ten-year period for 52 clients transferred from institutions to community settings. Clients were stratified by housing, employability, and source of income. Costs were entered for community support services, client maintenance, service integration, deinstitutionalization, and lost economic productivity. Benefit elements included savings of institutional costs and increased economic productivity. The ratios of benefits to costs for all but one strata ranged from 1.52 to 11.86. The only stratum for which costs exceeded benefits were those clients who needed intensive care, were not employable, and received at least half of their income from public sources. In this stratum, the average net cost per client for the 10-year period was \$395.93. The average net benefits per client ranged from \$2,500 over 10 years for residents in nursing homes to \$29,000 over 10 years for clients who are employable full-time. The authors noted that savings in deinstitutionalization benefit state sources. On the societal cost side, federal sources carry much of the load in maintaining deinstitutionalized residents.

Most recently, Intagliata, Willer, and Cooley (1979) completed a cost comparison study of institutional and community based alternatives for mentally retarded people in New York. The purpose of this study was to analyze and compare costs for residential care separate from professional services in both public and community settings. The sample consisted of a public residential facility (1,400 residents); a hospital based rehabilitation unit for children; a county Association for Retarded Citizens agency providing residential services, school services, and sheltered workshop services; and a Board of Cooperative Education Services Center providing special education services.

Several problems were encountered with the quality of cost data. First, there were no consistent standard units of service defined or applied in the cost records of the sample. Second, budgets were prepared according to conventional line items rather than functional lines using services as cost centers. Last, there was little or no cross referencing of cost data with resident characteristics. For example, 76% of the public residential facility population was severely retarded, but the facility could not determine how many of those residents received a particular service such as physical therapy and at what cost. This last limitation was projected by the authors to have even greater importance in the future since "subpopulation analyses will become increasingly relevant as the population of individuals being released from institutions becomes more diverse" (p. 12).

Given these limitations, Intagliata et al. (1979) found that the annual per capita costs of natural family (\$2,108) and family care

(\$3,130) settings were significantly less expensive than the institution (\$14,630). However, the annual per capita cost of residential care provided by group homes (\$9,255-\$11,000) was significantly greater than that of other community settings examined, and in fact, depending upon resident level of disability, approached the cost level of the public residential facilities.

In response to a need for nationwide data on capital outlays for public and community residential facilities, the President's Committee on Mental Retardation commissioned the National Association of State Mental Retardation Program Directors, Inc. (NASMRPD) to conduct a state-by-state survey in 1978-1979. The major purpose of this study was to determine:

to what extent are the states, the traditional providers of residential services to mentally retarded citizens, using capital construction dollars to reconstruct and expand existing public institutions, as opposed to enhancing the development of community residential programs. In other words, are we seeing the recent trend toward community based residential facilities undermined by widespread efforts to rebuild existing institutions. (p. 2)

The staff at NASMRPD completed the survey in three phases between December, 1978 and July, 1979. The first phase consisted of phone interviews to each state to determine the best respondent who could handle questions related to capital budgeting. Copies of state capital budget plans were solicited from all states and received from 39 respondents. In February, 1979, the second phase of the study began with analysis of budget materials sent by states. This analysis led to the drafting of a pilot interview form. The questionnaire was

finalized and sent in advance of the phone interview. During the third phase, phone interviews were conducted between March and July, 1979. Verification of answers occurred by mail follow up.

Because of varying definitions, approaches to budgeting, and time frames employed by individual states, comparisons of capital improvement projects on a state-by-state basis were very difficult to complete. At a national level, capital outlays were reported for fiscal year 1977-1978, fiscal year 1978-1979, and fiscal year 1979-1980. The actual and projected state appropriations for capital projects totaled \$1 billion for this three-year period. Five states (California, Michigan, New Jersey, New York, Ohio) accounted for 52% of the total outlays during that period.

The predominant type of project funded was construction or renovation projects on the grounds of state-operated residential facilities which accounted for 82.7% of the appropriations. In 33 of 50 states, the entire capital improvement budget was earmarked for state institution renovation projects. The primary reason cited by respondents for capital improvements in state institutions was the need to comply with federal Intermediate Care Facility/Mental Retardation (ICF-MR) standards. Failure to comply with ICF-MR standards would cost \$758.8 million in federal money, according to 35 state respondents.

No states reported plans to build new public residential facilities or to increase total bed capacity of public residential facilities. States did plan, however, to construct community day program buildings (8) and community residential facilities (13).

The per capita outlays for public residential facility renovations (based on relative number of residents in PRFs) ranged from a high of \$24,205 in Washington to a low of \$404 in Rhode Island. The national median was \$5,460.

A summary of the comparative cost studies of community and public residential facilities is presented in Table 2.6.

Cost Functions of Human Services

The application of statistical techniques to cost data in order to estimate economic relationships and to test various hypotheses about such relationships was defined by Johnston (1960) as statistical cost analysis. Pure relationships in statistical cost analysis are rarely assumed. This approach recognizes that cost fluctuations may be a function of the size of the organization, the labor intensity of the operation, and the general level of wages. The statistical testing of economic hypotheses was characterized as both complex and hazardous by Johnston (1960) since:

The economic system grinds out its complex convolutions; the myriads of actors--consumers, firms, regulatory agencies, and government units--act and interact; a more or less imperfect collection of statistical agencies records, with varying degrees of error and omissions, partial, quantitative measures of this evolutionary economic process; and the poor econometrician comes along in the wake of the monster, gathering what data he can in an attempt to "test" various hypotheses about aspects of economic activity. (p. 2)

The paucity of published statistical cost analysis studies in the area of residential facilities for mentally retarded residents may, thus, be attributed to the lack of systematic data collection approaches,
Table 2.6

Summary of Community and Public Residential Facility Cost Studies

					Study		
Researcher (s)	Date	Scope	Methodology Employed	Statistical Analysis	Period	Results	Limitations
Mayeda 6 Wai	1975	3 states-1 public residential facility in Washington, 2 public facilities in Plorida and community facilities in California 6 Florida.	Expenditure data for 4,284 residents were collected in five major categories for a six-month period.	Totals & means were pre- sented for the breakdown of costs at each location. Chi-square tests and analysis of variance computed for California data.	1974-75	Mean cost of services to residents in state hospitals was \$6,247 compared with \$630 for community facilities. Differ- ence was explained in terms of utilization patterns.	In-depth analysis of costs by demographics of residents (age, sex, handicap) and utilization of services. No analysis by organizational factors.
Jones 6 Jones	1976	Massachusetts-13 of 16 community facilities parti- cipated. Costs based on 24 discharged residents.	Detailed budgets were analyzed; information was obtained from parent/houseparent interviews and Dept. of Hental Health reports.	Means & ranges reported for breakdown of facility costs & sources of revenue; individual resident profiles are given including sources of support. Cost differ- ences reported by place of residence (community or public).	1972-73	Average cost in institution = \$7,464 Average cost in community = \$6,112	Small sample prohibited cost analysis by resident characteristics and facility characteristics. Excluded organizational factors that influence cost variation.
Murphy & Datel	1976	Virginia-52 residents who were discharged from institutions	Projected costs 6 benefits for the sample of residents were estimated. Seven adjustments were made.	Average 6 total cost- benefit ratios were presented for total sample.	Projection based on 1973-74 data	\$20,800 per capita savings over 10-year period by placing residents in community.	Small sample size; projections based on limited study period. No identification of critical factors that affect cost.
Intagliata, Willer, & Cooley	1979	New York-1 public residential facility, 1 hospital rehab unit, 1 special school center, 1 ARC system	Budget documents were obtained 6 analyzed. Foster home costs were obtained from state billings.	Average cost per residen per year presented for each type of facility. Day program costs reported separately.	t 1977-78	Institution = \$14,630 annual per capita. <u>Group home</u> = \$9,255- \$11,000 annual per capita. <u>Family care</u> = \$3,130 annual per capita <u>Natural family</u> = \$2,10 annual per capita	No analysis by resident characteristics or organizational factors. 08
National Associ- tion of State Mental Retardation Program Directors	1980	U.SState by state survey of capital outlays for PRFs & CRFs	Phone interviews with state government officials. Analysis of state capital budgets 6 plans.	Analysis by state totals National totals given for 3-year period FY'77-'78, FY'78-'79, 6 FY '79-'80	. 1978-79	Total state appropri- ations for capital projects totaled \$1 billion for 3-yr period. National median outlay was \$5,460 per person for public residential facility renovations.	

4 S

• •

56

) ,

failure to identify and measure organizational factors concurrently with the expenditure data, widely different accounting practices, and failure to select statistical techniques that test both linear and curvilinear relationships. O'Connor and Morris (1978) are the only researchers who have attempted a cost function analysis of residential facilities for mentally retarded people.

Cost function analysis studies have been reported in education, nursing homes, and hospitals. Turning away from the studies of residential services for mentally retarded people to these other areas of human services, a brief overview will be given of the issues, methodological concerns, and results of cost function analysis.

According to Knapp (1978) a statistical cost function is the:

empirical representation of the relationship between the cost of production and the level of output, usually obtained from a multiple regression of total or average cost (cost per unit of output) upon output and other significant influences such as the <u>mix</u> of output and idiosyncracies of particular producing units. (p. 31)

In the case of residential care, one would like to know how the costs of care vary with the size of the home, the dependency of residents, and the changes in resident well-being and behavior. Size and resident characteristics are considered inputs or the independent variables. In contrast with industry, which can quantify raw material inputs such as tons of metal needed for manufacturing, human services identify and measure inputs with less precision, often using proxies to substitute for real inputs. The dependent variable is cost per unit of output.

Educational Production Function Studies

Cohn (1979) identified several factors (proxies) that have been used as inputs in cost production studies of schools. The three broad categories are 1) student characteristics, 2) school related factors that can or cannot be manipulated by administrators, and 3) community influences. Student characteristics, according to Cohn are the "innate endowment variables of individuals." These variables are usually omitted in studies because of the lack of a reliable measure. School factors include a) building characteristics and condition of physical plant, b) quantity and quality of equipment, c) support facilities such as library, d) size of school, e) curriculum, f) class size, g) extra curricular offerings, h) teacher experience and training, i) teaching load, j) teacher salaries, k) administrative characteristics, and 1) auxiliary staff. The community influences include a) parent socioeconomic status, b) community attitudes, c) average income, d) degree of urbanization, and e) peer influence.

The initial studies in education began at a micro-level of analysis usually at the district level. One measure of output was correlated with several identified factors. Mollenkopf and Melville (1956) found a positive correlation between library and supply expenditures and student achievement scores. Other single factors that had some degree of positive correlation were student/teacher ratio, class size, and number of special support personnel. In 1962 Thomas used regression techniques to identify three variables that were related to student performance: starting salaries, teacher experience, and number

of books in the library. Coleman (1966) published a landmark study identifying several "nonschool factors" that affected achievement in addition to the single school factor, teachers' verbal ability. Because of the controversial nature of its findings, the statistical analysis of the data has been criticized. Of particular importance for this study was the selection and entering of variables in the regression equation.

Cohn noted that stepwise multiple regression assumes independence of variables. If multicollinearity is present then the first variables entered will be most potent. Coleman entered nonschool factors first and those variables had the greatest importance.

Of the several variables that have been studied in schools, Heim (1972) reviewed the literature and found five variables that were consistently studied: 1) teacher degree status, 2) teacher experience, 3) interaction of inputs and outputs, 4) class size, and 5) availability of special support staff.

Education Cost Function Studies

The results of education production function studies may be applied pragmatically to the issue of estimating optimal school unit size in order to maximize outputs and minimize cost. Although both the theoretical and empirical foundations of such work need greater refinement, policy makers have relied upon cost function outcomes in making decisions about school consolidation. The impetus to minimize school costs through reallocation of resources is most keenly

experienced during difficult economic periods. As Cohn and Morgan

(1978) explained:

As long as the economy was growing at a relatively rapid pace, along with growing K-12 enrollments, funds for the operation of public schools were relatively plentiful. In an age of plenty, coupled with growth, administrators are frequently more interested in expansion and development than in relallocation of resources to reduce costs. That era is no longer here, replaced by stagnation--even reduction--in enrollments, along with increased competition from higher education and other public services for the taxpayers' dollar. It seems that now should be an especially opportune time to concentrate on the allocation-of-resources topic, since it appears that improved resource allocation may be the only option which administrators may employ to improve the educational outputs. (p. 89)

Abundant literature on school economy of scale shows a U-shaped relationship between size and per pupil expenditures. In other words, high per pupil costs are usually associated with both small and large school units with minimal costs for those schools in between. The optimal school size has varied from state to state as shown in Table 2.7.

Table 2.7

Researcher	Year	Sample	Size ^a
Riew	1966	Wisconsin High Schools	1,675
Cohn	1968	Iowa High Schools	1,500
Osburn	1970	Missouri High Schools	2,244
Sabulao & Hickrod	1975	Illinois Unit Districts (K-12) Illinois High Schools Illinois Elementary Schools	2,432 874 336

Summary of Selected Education Cost Function Studies

^aAverage daily attendance

An underlying assumption of past cost function studies was that a school district, school, or school building was a proper unit of observation for determining scale effects regardless of the mix of programs offered. The study conducted by Sabulao and Hickrod (1975) investigated the differential effects of three types of school units, and they concluded that greater economies of scale existed for unit districts that operated K-12 grades in contrast with districts operating K-8 grades or 9-12 grades only.

In addition to size, Cohn and Hu (1973) examined the mix of programs within Michigan schools and they found the annual costs of vocational programs was \$100 greater than nonvocational programs. Further analysis of program costs indicated wide variation in enrollment, student teacher ratios, and teacher salaries within a school unit. They concluded:

School consolidation may not serve to reduce per pupil costs unless enrollments increase in programs for which scale economies apply. Reallocation of students among programs within a given school may achieve greater economies than would be obtained from consolidation of two or more schools. (p. 312)

It appears that savings accrue to organizations whose administrators can analyze, combine, and reorganize services which are subject to economy of scale within a school or district. This application of cost function analysis to resource allocation in districts and classrooms has been examined by Thomas (1980), Michelson (1972), and Cohn and Morgan (1978).

The definition of quality educational services remains elusive to several researchers in the area of cost function analysis. Cohn

(1975) noted that a comprehensive index of school output remains inadequate particularly the measurement of the quality of services. There has been little attempt to measure the unintended consequences to student achievement after school size increases. Alkin and Benson (1968) found no increase in math and reading achievement results associated with increased size after the socioeconomic status of students and expenditure per pupil had been allowed to operate. Kiesling (1968) examined size, output, and results from several achievement tests. When the socioeconomic background of students and the expenditure per pupil were allowed to operate, the shape of the function was linear and negative. Larger schools were associated with lower achievement test scores. James and Levin (1970) cautioned against further conclusions about scale and outputs given the inadequate information on the shape of the function.

Hospital Cost Function Literature

In no human services area has there been greater productivity in cost function analysis than hospitals. The introduction of Medicare in the United States in 1966, has had "tremendous impact on total expenditures, allocation of new resources to the health sector, and c^{au}sed acceleration of prices of health services, especially health care" (Friedman, 1973, p. 234). Of crucial concern to health care researchers is the relationship of public policy on supply, demand, and pricing of health care services. Cost studies have examined such questions as the optimum size of hospitals (economy of scale) for

building new facilities as well as examining efficient use of existing hospital resources.

One of the first considerations in designing hospital cost studies is the definition of hospital output. Although a hospital has numerous outputs, most researchers use simple dependent measures such as patient days or average daily census as an output measure. Table 2.8 briefly summarizes some recent hospital cost function studies.

A secondary issue addressed by researchers in several different approaches is the definition of case mix. As shown in Table 2.8, researchers have:

- assumed that case mix is reasonably constant within a single hospital over a short time period (Lave & Lave, 1970; Carr & Feldstein, 1967; Ingbar & Taylor, 1968);
- 2) stratified hospitals into groups on the basis of facilities available to provide care. Grouping occurs on the basis of number and type of facilities (Berry, 1967a, 1970; Francisco, 1970; Kuenne, 1972; Berry & Carr, 1973);
- 3) estimated cost relationships for each of several hospital departments assuming the case mix within a department is homogeneous (Carr & Feldstein, 1967; Francisco, 1970; M. Feldstein, 1968; Ingbar & Taylor, 1968; Kuenne, 1972);
- 4) developed a composite output measure by using a set of derived weights for various services. The total output of each hospital is a weighted sum of individual services (Cohen, 1970);

Table 2.8

		Interval		Sample		
Study	Year	Observation	Type of Hospital	Size	Output Measure	Definition of Case Mix
Berry & Carr	1973	1966	Short-term, general-all hospitals (AHA Annual National Survey)	2700	Average daily census	Stratified hospitals into groups on the basis of numbers and types of facilities.
Berry & Carr	1973	1966	Short-term, general- governmental (AHA Annual National Survey)	667**	Average daily census	Stratified hospitals into groups on the basis of numbers and types of facilities.
Berry & Carr	1973	1966	Short-term, general- voluntary (AHA)	1772**	Average daily census	Stratified hospitals into groups on the basis of numbers and types of facilities.
Berry & Carr	1973	1966	Short-term, general- proprietary (AHA)	154**	Average daily census	Stratified hospitals into groups on the basis of numbers and types of facilities.
Kuenne	1972	1964-1970	General hospitals in New Jersey with 4000-7000 annual admissions	25	Admissions	Stratified hospitals into groups on the
Kuenne	1972	1964-1970	General hospitals in New Jersey with 7000-13,000 annual admissions.	24	Admissions L	basis of numbers and types of facilities. Also assumed case mix within a department is homogeneous.
Lave, Lave, & Silverman	1972	Second half of 1968	General hospitals, Western Pennsylvania	65	Utilization (actual bed days/ available bed days)	Cluster analysis of diagnostic categories for purposive aggregation of services.
Evans & Walker	1972	1967	General hospitals, British Columbia	90	Average occupancy rate (100 X total patient days/ 365/total available beds)	Factor analyzed diagnostic categories into homogeneous output variables.
Evans	1971	1967	General hospitals, Ontario	185	Average occupancy rate	Factor analyzed diagnostic categories into homogeneous output variables.
Lave & Lave	1970	14 semi-annual observations during 1961-67	General Western Pennsylvania	74	Utilization (recorded patient days/available patient days)	Assumed case mix is reasonably constant within a single hospital over a short time period.
Lave & Lave	1970	7 annual observations during 1961-67	G eneral Eastern and Western Pennsylvania	109	Utilization (utilization as % of mean utilization for the hospital during seven-year interval)	Assumed case mix is reasonably constant within a single hospital over a short time period.
Cohen	1970	1965	Short-term, general, members of UHF of New York	46	Service units (a cost-weighted average of hospital services)	Output measured as a set of weights for various services.

Summary of Hospital Cost Function Studies

•• Exact sample size not given; listed sample size estimated from authors' regression analysis.

•

Note: This table was provided by Dr. Roger Feldman, University of Minnesota, and appears in an unpublished manuscript by staff members of BHSR & E in the School of Public Health, 1973.

.

.

.

64

) (1) (

Table 2.8 (continued-2)

٤

٠

Summary of Hospital Cost Function Studies

e *****

Study	Year	Interval Observation	Type of Hospital	Sample Size	Output Measure	Definition of Case Mix
Francisco	1970	1966	Short-term, general	4710	Total patient days	Stratified hospitals into groups on the basis of numbers and types of facilities. Assumed case mix within a department is homogeneous.
Feldstein	1968	Fiscal Year 1960-61	Acute, nonteaching in England and Wales	177	Total annual cases adjusted for case-mix variation among hospitals	Assumed case mix within a department is homogeneous and used vectors for case mix proportions.
Ingbar 6 Taylor	1968	Annual observations 1958-59 1962-63	Short-term, voluntary in Massachusetts	72	Available bed days	Assumed case mix is reasonably constant within a single hospital over a short period of time and case mix within a department is homogeneous.
Berry	1967	1963	Short-term, general (AHA)	763	Patient days	Stratified hospitals into groups on the
Berry	1967 Addendum	1963	Short-term, general (AHA)	763	Average daily census	basis of numbers and types of facilities.
Carr & Peldstein	1967	1963	Short-term, general (AHA)	3147	Average daily census and patient days	Assumed case mix is reasonably constant within a single hospital over a short time period and case mix within a department is homogeneous.

Note: This table was provided by Dr. Roger Peldman, University of Minnesota, and appears in an unpublished manuscript by staff members of BHSR 6 E in the School of Public Health, 1973.

i i

5) included direct measures of case mix within the cost function by use of vectors for case mix proportions (M. Feldstein, 1968); used factor analysis to group diagnostic categories into homogeneous output variables (Evans, 1971; Evans & Walker, 1972) and used cluster analysis of diagnostic categories for purposive aggregation of services (Lave, Lave, & Silverman, 1972).

Despite the multiple approaches outlined above, there appears to be no satisfactory measure of hospital output according to Lave and Lave (1970). To address this concern, Lave, Lave, and Silverman (1972) designed a study to develop cost functions which would take explicit account of the multiproduct nature of hospital output without incurring multicollinearity problems (M. Feldstein, 1968; Evans & Walker, 1972; Evans, 1971). This particular effort seems most relevant to the present study in terms of research design and variables selected for inclusion as input measures.

Lave, Lave, and Silverman collected data from 65 Pennsylvania hospitals during the last half of 1968 and regressed average cost per patient day, in ordinary linear fashion against a set of variable clusters which represented either an institutional characteristic or a diagnostic characteristic. Institutional variables such as hospital size, occupancy rate, and teaching status were identified as well as variables representing the commonality of diagnosis (percentage of patients with the same diagnosis). This study showed that extreme multicollinearity would arise in cost models employing all variables

separately, thus limiting one's ability to generalize on the influence of individual explanatory factors.

Lave et al. noted that Evans (1971) had performed principal component analysis to eliminate multicollinearity and form orthogonal clusters in that study. The problem with this approach was that the clusters lost meaning and purpose. Variables in the Lave et al. study were clustered by similar regression coefficients thus taking advantage of prior information about the relationships among variables. The conclusions of the study were as follows:

- marginal cost of care was \$318.98 or 68% of average cost. The marginal cost of an additional day in the hospital was \$26.09;
- 2) economies of scale were not significant;
- advanced teaching hospitals and hospitals in metropolitan areas had much higher costs;
- hospitals performing complex surgery or treating relatively large proportions of unusual cases had higher costs.

Summary of Research Issues

A common argument in favor of deinstitutionalization has been the belief that community residential facilities are less expensive than public residential facilities. From several perspectives, this argument remains debatable. Conley (1973) offered an economist's viewpoint which favored community based programs over institutional settings. The General Accounting Office report (1977) reviewed seven

studies and reported that five favored community care as a less expensive approach, while two studies reported that costs did not differ significantly when a full range of needed services were provided in both settings.

The studies that have been completed and reviewed in this paper offer results that were rarely comparable across settings or responsive to the needs of policy makers. The timeliness of cost analysis for the future direction of deinstitutionalization as a public policy was appropriately stated by Skoler (1978):

The cost of not costing is too high to ignore. While interest groups compete for public dollars, legislators, executives, judges, and government workers must make allocative decisions against a backdrop of inflation, proposition 13's, and a rapidly decreasing tolerance for those who would plan and allocate in ignorance. (p. 2)

The first step in matching the conclusions of the existing cost studies with the projected needs of public policy makers is to identify what are the major independent and interdependent sources of cost variation. An initial list might include <u>resident characteristics</u> such as age, <u>organizational characteristics</u> such as size, and <u>locational factors</u> such as urban or rural location. Findings from the literature on costs of residential care for mentally retarded people will be supplemented by research results from the nursing home literature.

Resident Characteristics

Costs may vary substantially in residential facilities for mentally retarded people to the extent that particular residents require more specialized or intensive services (Primrose, 1972; Indiana Department of Mental Health, 1975; Mayeda & Wai, 1975; Jones & Jones, 1976; O'Connor & Morris, 1978). This factor may be best illustrated in the observation by Sharfstein et al. (1977):

One recent study of comparative costs (controlled for age, sex, and diagnostic differences) incurred by patients in United States Public Health Service Hospitals and in private voluntary hospitals concluded that the Public Health Service Hospitals' cost per stay is about one-third less than that of private hospitals. Other researchers who did not control for these critical differences in patient characteristics, reported that Public Health Service Hospitals appear to be more expensive than private hospitals. (p. 30)

Rates within nursing homes have also been linked with resident characteristics. In some cases, the characteristic found to be most crucial was "personal affluence." Several researchers have found that institutions that care for elderly poor people are inferior whether discussing quantity or quality of care (Anderson, Holmberg, Schneider, & Stone, 1969; Greenwald & Linn, 1971; Kosberg, 1971; Penchansky & Taubenhaus, 1965; Townsend, 1964).

Locational Factors

Environmental factors affect the costs of residential care according to several researchers. Piasecki et al. (1977) found that facilities located in rural areas tended to have higher per diem costs. Facilities that exhibited greater degrees of compliance with state and federal regulations also reported greater operating costs (Levey, Ruchlin, Stotsky, Kinloch, & Oppenheim, 1973) in nursing homes. Regional differences within the United States have also been noted with

the Southern region operating with the lowest cost (Baumeister, 1970; Piasecki et al., 1977; Krantz, Bruininks, & Clumpner, 1978; Scheerenberger, 1978a, 1979).

Organizational Characteristics

Ownership has received greater research attention within nursing home studies than residential facility studies for mentally retarded people. Government facilities operated for mentally disabled tended to operate at higher cost levels than proprietary and nonprofit operations (Don & Amir, 1969; Piasecki et al., 1977). Evidence within the nursing home literature indicates disagreement about the relationship between ownership and cost. Anderson et al. (1969) found little difference between nonprofit and proprietary nursing homes. Gottesman (1972) concluded that nonprofit facilities were more desirable because of greater family financial support, use of volunteers, and greater number of donations.

The sociological concomitants of facility size have been thoroughly investigated but with inconclusive results. Size and quality of care within nursing homes have been positively related (Anderson, Holmberg, Schneider, & Stone, 1969; Beattie & Bullock, 1963), negatively related (Linn, 1974; Townsend, 1964), and not related at all (Gottesman, 1974; Levey et al., 1973). A further confounding influence is introduced when one considers the size of the living unit rather than the size of the facility as a whole (Goldsmith, 1971; King, Raynes, & Tizard, 1971).

The economic considerations governing size and cost (shape of the average cost curve) have more than academic interest. According to Knapp (1978):

The conventional average cost curve has a U-shape implying that cost per unit of output initially falls as output increases as a result of economies in the use of fixed equipment (kitchen, laundry) and specialized staff (occupational therapy, medical staff) and bulk buying of supplies. Eventually the curve rises again due to the strain of overuse of equipment and buildings, increasing maintenance costs and difficulties encountered in the administration of residential services. In contrast with the U-shaped curve of residential facilities, manufacturers and industries report an L-shaped curve of average costs that do not rise once a minimum level of cost is reached. (p. 32)

Within the nursing home domain, debate also continues about the tradeoffs among size, cost, and benefits. Stotsky (1970) favored smaller facilities because of efficiency, home-like conditions, personal attention, and greater congruency with resident needs. In contrast, he felt that larger institutions tended to be dehumanizing and depersonalizing. Kosberg (1974) viewed smaller facilities as void of treatment resources and professional staff, on the verge of bank-ruptcy, and had administrators who were ill-trained for their positions. Larger facilities, on the other hand, had greater resources, more professional staff, greater cash flow, and provided resources that smaller facilities could not. Kosberg (1974) cautioned that the expertise within larger facilities could be lost if the staff members were too far removed from the residents.

Size has been viewed as a single determinant of cost and as an important mediating variable for other factors which influence cost

variation. The former relationship was tested by Baker, Seltzer, and Seltzer (1977). The authors found that smaller group homes for 6-10 mentally retarded residents were twice as expensive as larger group homes serving 21-40 residents. Other researchers have proposed that size affected staffing patterns which affected cost variation (Peat, Marwick, Mitchell & Co., 1976; Piasecki et al., 1977; O'Connor & Morris, 1978).

The inconclusive evidence relating size of residential facilities to cost is matched by similar results in hospital cost studies. Berki (1972) best summarizes the current state of thought about economy of scale:

What are the shapes of the short run and long run cost functions of hospitals? Are there economies of scale? The answer from the literature is clear: "The exact general form of the function is unimportant" (Feldstein, 1967, p. 133) but "whatever its exact shape" (Ingbar & Taylor, 1968, p. 107), and depending on the methodologies and definitions used, economies of scale may exist, may not exist, or do not exist, but in any case, according to theory, they ought to exist. (p. 115)

In summary, there appears to be evidence that several variables can cause variations in cost. For purposes of this study, the variables assessed in relationship to cost of residential services have been divided into three major categories--locational factors, organizational factors, and resident factors. An adequate understanding of cost of residential services depends upon detailed analysis of all three domains.

III. METHODOLOGY

Previous cost studies in the area of residential services for mentally retarded people have typically suffered from three major weaknesses. First, the scope of previous studies was restricted to localities within states or sites within several states. National patterns have been reported only in the area of capital budgets. Second, the methodology of previous studies usually depended upon mail questionnaires, inspection of secondary records, or onsite visits, while combinations of various survey methods have not been employed. Third, previous studies have assessed concurrent information on a very limited number of attributes of the residents, organizational structure, and locational factors.

The design and methodology of the present study attempts to overcome each of these three limitations. First, the scope of the present study is national. Second, onsite visits in combination with a self report questionnaire and telephone followup ensured high response rates on survey items and more extensive verification of data than a single approach. Third, the present study was conducted as part of a larger, comprehensive in-depth study of residential facilities and the mentally retarded people who live in them. Information was collected on facility practices, staffing patterns, and policies related to residents.

A complete description of the methodology employed in the 1978-1979 in-depth interview study of community and public residential facilities is published elsewhere (Hauber, Bruininks, Wieck, Sigford, & Hill, 1980). This study was conducted in collaboration with the Survey Research Center, University of Michigan.

Sample

Public Residential Facilities

In 1977, Dr. Richard C. Scheerenberger conducted a survey of 263 public residential facilities in the United States that met the following definition:

A state sponsored and administered facility which offered comprehensive programming on a 24-hour, 7 days-a-week basis as of June 30, 1977. (1978a, p. 2)

This survey was conducted in cooperation with the University of Minnesota Developmental Disabilities Project on Residential Services and Community Adjustment. A data tape of the results of this survey was supplied to Dr. Irene Hess, Director of the Sampling Section of the Survey Research Center at the University of Michigan. A two stage probability sample was used to sample approximately 80 public residential facilities which would represent all size categories and geographic regions in the United States. Six size classes were selected for sampling purposes. According to Hess (1979a), the selection of facilities was made proportionate to the number of mentally retarded residents served in the facilities:

There were approximately 152,000 mentally retarded residents in public facilities in 1977. If 80 selections

are to be made, there should be one sample facility for every 152,000/80 or 1,900 residents. However, there can be some gains in precision if every facility with 1,900 or more residents is included with certainty. Also, it was desirable to include with certainty some of the large facilities that had somewhat fewer than 1,900 residents. A convenient breaking point between certainty and noncertainty selections was 1,600, and the 14 facilities with 1,600 or more residents were included with certainty. There remained 249 facilities with 122,703 residents. Those estimates were adjusted downward to 121,856 which contains 1,904 exactly 64 times. Sixty-four became the number of noncertainty selections to be made, one selection for each 1,904 estimated residents.

To distribute 64 selections across four regions and five size classes required the use of the probability sampling technique of controlled selection.

During the data collection period, six of the sample facilities were unable to participate. Substitutions from the same size and geographic classes were made for three early refusals. To adjust for the remaining three nonparticipating facilities, a double weight has been assigned to three participating facilities of similar characteristics. (pp. 3-4)

Appendix A (Table A.1) presents the distribution of the total sample of 78 facilities, 14 certainty and 62 noncertainty selections, by size class and region of the United States.

Community Residential Facilities

In 1977 a national mail census was undertaken by the Developmental Disabilities Project on Residential Services and Community Adjustment at the University of Minnesota. A total of 4,427 community residential facilities which met the following definition participated in the survey and comprised the sampling frame:

Any community-based living quarter(s) which provides 24-hour, 7 days-a-week responsibility for room, board, and supervision of mentally retarded persons as of

June 30, 1977, with the exception of: (a) single family homes providing services to a relative; (b) nursing homes, boarding homes, and foster homes that are not formally state licensed or contracted as mental retardation service providers; and (c) independent living (apartment) programs which have no staff residing in the same facility. (Bruininks, Hauber, & Kudla, 1979, p. 11)

The appropriate data were again supplied to Dr. Irene Hess who sampled facilities according to size class and geographic region. Fourteen sampling categories were selected in order to represent the broad range of facilities as presented in Appendix A (Table A.2). Hess (1979b) noted wide differences between the two groups of facilities:

Immediately our attention is drawn to the striking differences in facility size between public and community facilities. Nearly 95 percent of community facilities and 60 percent of their residents are in less-than-50 residents classes, while it may be recalled that about nine percent of public facilities and only one-half of one percent of their residents were reported to be in the less-than-50 residents class. The size classes defined for public facilities are quite inappropriate for community facility stratification. (p. 1)

The sampling criteria varied with the size classes as shown in Appendix A (Table A.3). For example, facilities serving 200 or more residents were included with certainty while facilities with one, two, or three residents were sampled at a rate of 1:58. Of the six largest facilities (those with 400 or more residents), only one facility agreed to participate. After several extra efforts were made to solicit cooperation from these nonparticipating facilities, the project staff decided to keep the one facility in the study, make no adjustment for nonresponse from these large facilities, and report that the largest facilities are underrepresented.

Survey Instrument

A three-page questionnaire was designed to assess both the sources and amounts of revenue and the general patterns of expenses of residential facilities. The format of the self-report questionnaire was patterned after an income statement that shows changes that have occurred in the income position of an organization during a specific period of time. Gross (1978) identified several positive features of an income statement format including: a) the advantage of providing a profile of the costs associated with running the organization, b) the advantage of comparing income and expenses simultaneously, and c) the advantage of providing the contributors of resources (government agencies) with information about the use of resources by the providers of the service (p. 43).

The development of the financial questionnaire occurred over several months. Table 3.1 presents an outline of the stages of development of the survey instrument.

After reviewing several existing instruments, questions were selected from several sources. Table 3.2 presents a profile of the financial questionnaire items by source. Several concepts were important in developing the instrument and are defined below.

1. <u>Cost</u>: The title of this thesis includes the term cost. In common usage cost is most often used to mean expired costs which, by definition, are expenses. By standard definition, however, cost means the totality of relevant resources (expired and unexpired) used to

Table 3.1

-

•

٠.

Stages of Development of Financial Questionnaire

Stag	e Activity	Time Line
#1	Project staff members reviewed the literature to compile a set of research questions.	January- July 1977
#2	Goal analysis survey of project staff and a panel of 30 national experts in the field of residential services.	July 1977- January 1978
	Two research issues emerged from the goal analysis survey as very important: 1) What are the sources and conditions for receiving the facility's program income, including services to particular residents? 2) What are the objects, purposes, amounts, and conditions of the facility's expenditures?	
	The rating scale ranged from $1-3$ with 3 as the most important and easily obtainable.	
	Issue #1 received a rating of 2.5 on importance and 2.1 on feasibility. Issue #2 received a rating of 2.3 on importance and 1.8 on feasibility.	
#3	Several sources were consulted in developing the questionnaire, including: Conley, 1973; D.D. Office, Survey of Public Institutions for the Mentally Retarded; NIMH Annual Census of Patient Character- istics; Social Security Administration, Survey of Institutionalized Persons; Scheerenberger, National Survey of Public Residential Facilities; National Center for Health Statistics, Nursing Home Survey. Professor Laird Heal of the University of Illinois was also consulted.	April- June 1978
	From this review, a very abbreviated form was developed to assess the total operating costs and the total sources of revenue. This short interview consisting of two questions was pretested during June, 1978 in several field sites.	

Table 3.1 (continued)

Stages of Development of Financial Questionnaire

Stag	e Activity	Time	Line
#4	The financial questionnaire did not adequately handle the concerns and research issues. The administrative interviews were too long during the field test and had to be cut to one hour. The respondent was unable to handle the questions about finances and the interviewers reported feeling uneasy about handling financial questions.	June	1978
	At this time it was decided to forego an interview and to substitute a self report questionnaire to be com- pleted by the fiscal agent of the facility. Thus, the questionnaire could be completed separately from the interviewing time enabling the fiscal agent to com- plete the questionnaire at his/her own convenience.	1	
	A new questionnaire was fashioned based upon the previous work in Stages #1-4. This form was tested in Minnesota on two public facilities and three community facilities.	1	
	The content of the questionnaire had to include questions about the budget year or reported time period; the sources of revenue by general category of government or other contributor; the expenses by general breakdown of personnel, capital, and all other expenses; the rent, market value or appraised value; the land area or lot size; the value of furnishings; the per diem charge; and general questions about the provision of day programs in the operating expenses.	-	
#5	The second pretest was scheduled by the University of Michigan for July, 1978. The financial questionnaire was included for testing in several sites. A separate building inventory was also field tested. Because of the expressed difficulty of several family operators with this questionnaire, an alternative form was developed and included in the interview booklet (Appendix C). After minor modifications and the refinement of definitions, the final version of the questionnaire was completed in September, 1978. A copy of the final questionnaire is provided in Appendix B.	July	1978

Table 3.2

Financial Questionnaire Items by Source

Financial Questionnaire Items	Heal draft questionnaire (1978)	Conley (1973)	Survey of Public Institutions (DHEW, 1970)	Survey of Institutionalized Persons (1976)	Survey of PRFs (Scheerenberger, 1978a)	Nursing Home Survey (NCHS, 1976)	Peat, Marwick, Mitchell, 6 Co. (1976)
Sources of Revenue							
1. Federal sources	x			x	x	x	x
2. State sources	. X			x			x
3. Regional sources							
4. County sources							
5. Other government	•			x			
6. Support from residents or family							
(SSI)	. X.					X	X
7. Donations or contributions	. X			X		X	1
8. Total revenue (#1-#7)	. x /			x		X	X
Expenses							
1. Total payroll	. x				x	x	x
2. Total payroll taxes						X	X
3. Total fringes						X	x
4. Capital expenses for							
a) furniture/fixtures	•						x
b) equipment							X
c) buildings	•						X
d) leasehold improvements	•						X
e) land							X
5. Total capital expenses	. X				X	X	*
6. All other expenses (nonpersonnel							•
and noncapital)	. X				X.	×	
7. Total expenses (#1,#5,#6)	. X	X	x	X	x	X	*
Other Questions							
1. Average per diem (charge)				x			
2. Average per diem (cost)	•			x	X		
3. Expenses compared to income	•						
4. Capital expenses compared to							
typical year							
5. Figures for MK only?	•						
o. what percentage of expenses day							
7 If repted, total rept	¥	¥				x	x
A. Appraised value of land/building		~				-	-
9. Market value of land/building	. x						
10. Market value of furnishing	. <u>x</u>						x
11. Expenses for repair/maintenance	. x						
12. Land area (acres/lot size)							
11 Profit/nonprofit/family avail							

.

٠

1

.

80

4

produce or acquire specific goods or services. Cost is measured by the amount of cash paid for the property or services exchanged.

2. <u>Expense/expired cost</u>: The amount of resources consumed during a specific period of time.

3. <u>Asset/unexpired cost</u>: Costs not consumed during the accounting period that are, therefore, available for future use (e.g., prepaid insurance of building/equipments) (National Institute of Mental Health, 1980, p. 35).

4. <u>Revenue</u>: The amount received or to be received from the customer for the goods or services which the entity is supplying him (Burns & Hendrickson, 1972, p. 96).

5. <u>Personnel expense</u>: Salaries, wages, and fringe benefits of persons employed by the organization.

6. <u>Capital expenses</u>: Costs for improvements, including costs for long-term capital additions or benefits which are distributed over time.

7. <u>Operating expenses</u>: Supplies, articles, and materials consumed and distinguishable from equipment or other long-lived assets by being consumed within an accounting period.

8. <u>Per diem charge</u>: The per day per person charged for a resident to live in this facility. This figure might also be known as the reimbursement rate.

9. <u>Per diem cost</u>: The per day per person cost for a resident to live in this facility. The cost may exceed the rate of reimbursement or charge.

10. <u>Fixed cost</u>: Costs incurred regardless of the level of output such as rent, wages and salaries of some types of labor, some utilities, and some maintenance.

11. <u>Variable cost</u>: Costs which vary with the level of output such as supplies, food, some utilities, and some wages and salaries. Variable costs can be varied by management decisions "in the short run."

12. <u>Direct expenses</u>: Costs directly traceable to a particular program, department, product or function.

13. <u>Indirect expenses</u>: Costs not directly traceable to a particular program or product. They are expenses incurred as a general result of being in existence and presumably benefit all particular programs or products within the enterprise.

The survey instrument presented in Appendix B should be considered as a gross measure of a facility's financial status. As described in Table 3.1, the financial questionnaire was designed to assess patterns of revenue and expenditures for a one-year time period to coincide with data collected from other survey instruments. Based on field testing results, the instrument was kept very brief in recognition of the respondents' limited time and resources as well as to encourage 100% completion of all items. All of these factors precluded the development of a longer, more detailed questionnaire which would have spanned several reporting periods.

The first section of the financial questionnaire assesses the sources of revenue. For purposes of this study, revenue was divided into three sources: a) revenue generated from government sources such

as federal, state, regional, and county levels; b) revenue generated from the families of mentally retarded residents or the residents themselves; and c) revenue from contributions, donations, and all other sources.

Respondents were asked to specify the source of revenue by level of government, such as "federal," "state," or "county." In several instances, the names of specific programs were cited such as Title XX. Pre-editing of questionnaires recoded the mentioned source into one of the government categories. All money flowed through the state and was listed as such by the respondent.

The second category of revenue is the income from family and resident payments. Developmentally disabled individuals may receive assistance from Social Security or Supplemental Security Income (SSI) to pay for room, board, and related services. Families may also pay private tuition or a portion of the cost of care.

The last category of other contributions includes such sources of revenue as United Way, donations from philanthropic organizations, and other fund raisers. No attempt was made to have respondents estimate the in-kind donations of volunteer help because of difficulty in placing a dollar amount on such contributions.

The second section of the financial questionnaire contained questions relating to expenses including personnel expenses, capital expenses, and operating expenses.

A potential source of error in completing the revenue section of the survey stems from the nature of reimbursement for providing

residential services. A facility may not be able to identify and trace the exact sources of funds beyond the primary source of revenue. As a result, the state contributions to a facility may be overestimated, and the federal share may be underestimated.

The second section of the questionnaire was concerned with the breakdown of expenses by three categories: a) personnel, b) capital, and c) all other expenses.

Respondents were asked to list the total payroll expenses as well as the amount of money spent on payroll taxes and fringe benefits. Capital expenses were subdivided into the categories of furniture and fixtures, equipment, buildings, leasehold improvements, and land. All other expenses and the total operating expenses rounded out the remainder of this section. In conjunction with the total operating expenses, respondents were asked to provide the per diem rates, a common term in residential care. There were two types of per diems ascertained: a) the per day per person reimbursement rate from a government source, and b) the per day per person cost based on the total operating expenses divided by the total number of resident days (number of residents x 365 days).

An obvious limitation of the questions contained in this second section was the failure to determine whether capital assets were depreciated, whether these assets were included in the per diem rates, and the historical patterns of capital outlays.

The third and final section of the instrument contained a set of general questions regarding the value of capital investments. Based

on pretesting, it was known that respondents had to rely upon estimates in placing a dollar value on land, buildings, and furnishings. The questions were structured to determine rent, appraised value, or estimated market value of land and buildings. Other questions assessed the value of furnishings and equipment and the total number of acres or square feet owned by the facility.

Procedures

A total of 11 instruments were used during the overall in-depth interview study of facilities and residents. The financial forms and materials used for this study were part of the materials listed in Table 3.3 and Table 3.4. All survey forms, cover letters, abstracts, phone scripts, and interviewer manuals were developed by the project staff at the University of Minnesota between January 1, 1978 and September 1, 1978. Field testing occurred within facilities in Canada in June, 1978 and in the United States at several facilities in July, 1978 as documented in Table 3.1.

The actual interviews were conducted between September, 1978 and April, 1979 at 236 facilities. Trained interviewers from the Survey Research Center of the University of Michigan conducted the onsite interviews under the supervision of the field office at Ann Arbor. The project staff at the University of Minnesota collaborated with the University of Michigan in ensuring quality control in conducting the study. Step by step procedures were developed by the University of Minnesota staff in quiding the interviewers through the visit. Training

•

-

Data Collection Forms Used in National Sample Survey: Facility Forms

Item	Completion Method	Completed by	Purpose
Cover Sheet Facility Admin.		Interviewer	Names of facility & respondents. Date & time of interview
Facility Admin. Questionnaire	Interview	Interviewer	Characteristics & information on policies, procedures, plans, etc. of facility
Building Description Sheets Forms A & B	Usually self- administered	Facility Administrative Staff	Number of total build- ings. Specific infor- mation on residential buildings.
Show cards for Facility Admin. Questionnaire			Visual aids
Financial Questionnaire	Self- administered	Facility Accountant or other person responsible for finances	Sources of income, expenditures, general financial information
Letter to Financial Officer			Introduce Financial Questionnaire to Finance Officer
Release of information for Financial Questionnaire	Self- administered	Facility Administrator	Authorizes accountant to complete financial questionnaire
Staff Compo- sition Sheet (Pub. & Comm.)	Self- administered	Facility Administrative Staff	To collect information on types of staff employed, especially direct care staff
Staff Separa- tions (Pub. Facilities)	Self- administered	Facility Administrative Staff	To collect detailed information on staff turnover for one-month period.

Data Collection Forms Used in National Sample Survey: Resident Forms

Instrument	Completion Method	Completed by	Purpose
Respondent Determination Sheet	Ask knowledge- able adminis- trative staff	Interviewer	Selection of Direct Care Staff member to be interviewed
Release of Information Forms		To be signed by parent or guardian	To authorize infor- mation from records
Personal Record Sheet	Self- administered or interview	Care Personnel or interviewer or staff with access to records	To collect basic demographic information on selected resident
Cover Sheets- Care Personnel Questionnaire		Usually the interviewer	Gives names of selected residents and care person respondents
Care Personnel Questionnaire	Interview Care Personnel for each selected resident	Interviewer	Characteristics of resident, day program, services, behavior problems
Respondent Booklet			Visual Aids for Care Personnel Questionnaire
Behavior Description Booklet	Self- administered	Care Personnel Respondent	To collect adaptive behavior description for each selected resident
Care Personnel Self- administered Booklet	Self- administered	Care Personnel	Job satisfaction scale and selected items about facility practices

materials were also provided by the Minnesota staff to assure standardized procedures in handling each interview. In addition, two comprehensive (236 page) interviewer manuals were developed separately for the public and community facilities.

Interviewers from the Survey Research Center usually conducted a pre-visit to the facility to present an overview of the survey instruments, establish a work plan, and set time lines for completion of tasks. At this pre-visit, the most appropriate fiscal agent of the facility was selected to complete the financial questionnaire. Whenever possible, the financial questionnaire was assigned as quickly as possible to allow the respondent time to complete work on the questions. Any problems related to the completion of the financial questionnaire were handled directly by the project staff at the University of Minnesota. Interviewers were responsible for picking up the completed questionnaires and transmitting them to the Field Office at Ann Arbor. Almost all accountants, bookkeepers, and business managers cooperated fully and completed the questionnaires with no problems.

The codebooks and training materials for coders were also developed by the Minnesota staff. All editing of questionnaires was completed by the project staff on frequent visits to Michigan. All telephone follow-up work was conducted by the project staff. A complete description of the editing, coding, and follow-up procedures is described elsewhere (Hauber, Bruininks, Wieck, Sigford, & Hill, 1980).

Editing and Preparation of Data

One source of potential error occurs in the recording, coding, and handling of data. Verification of financial data occurred in a systematic process over several months. The recording, coding, and updated corrections of financial variables were handled on an item by item basis (100% check) at least six times during July, 1979 through June, 1980. Special checks on 100% of the data were made to determine valid zeroes from missing data.

Survey respondents invariably do not answer all questions. In order to make population estimates of the financial information provided by the sample respondents, missing values were imputed. At the suggestion of the Sampling Section of the University of Michigan, estimated values were supplied based upon the average value of that item matched for Census region and size of facility.

In a few instances, some facilities did not participate in the study. Adjustment for facility nonresponse occurred as part of the weighting procedures for population estimates based on disproportionate stratified samples. The weight assigned to a facility was the reciprocal of the probability of that facility's selection in the sample. Reciprocal weights were assigned by the Sampling Section of the Survey Research Center.

The population figures presented in Chapter IV represent estimates of the true revenues, expenses, and capital investments of public and community residential facilities. All estimates have been rounded off to the thousand dollar place. Appendix D contains the sampling errors for specific population estimates.

IV. RESULTS

Results will be presented in the same order as the study objectives. First, revenues, expenses, and capital investments will be presented for public residential facilities, community residential facilities, and combined groups. Second, analysis of per diem rates by selected organizational factors will be presented to test stated hypotheses. Third, cost function analyses are presented of multiple factors that may influence per diem cost rates.

Descriptive Analysis

The total revenue for public residential facilities (PRF) during 1977-1978 is presented in Table 4.1 and totals \$2.63 billion. Government sources account for 98% of the PRF revenue or \$2.57 billion. The single largest contributor to public residential facilities is state support which totaled over \$1.9 billion. Federal and family support may be underestimated due to the inability of respondents to separate and identify those sources from state appropriations. Counties and regions were identified as contributing the least amount of money to public residential facilities.

Table 4.2 presents the total revenue for community residential facilities in 1977-1978. In contrast with the total revenue of \$2.63 billion for PRFs, the total revenue for CRFs was significantly less at

Table 4.1

Total Revenue of PRFs in United States in 1977-1978 (U.S. Probability Sample, 1978-1979, 100% Reporting) Population Estimates

Source	Dollars	% Total
Total Government	\$2,570,000,000	98%
Federal State	642,200,000 1,923,376,000	
Region County Other (Government source not specified)	14,000 4,410,000	
Total Resident/Family	43,000,000	2%
Total Donations	13,600,000	<u>< 18</u>
U.S. Total Revenues	\$2,626,600,000	100%

Table 4.2

Total Revenue of CRFs in United States in 1977-1978 (U.S. Probability Sample, 1978-1979, 100% Reporting) Population Estimates

Source	Dollars	% Total
Total Government	\$350,565,000	72%
Federal State Region County Other (Government source not specified)	125,147,900 120,409,900 9,402,000 26,168,400 69,436,800	
Total Resident/Family	93,095,000	19%
Total Donations	40,386,000	9%
U.S. Total Revenues	\$484,046,000	100%
\$484 million. However, the number of mentally retarded residents in PRFs totaled 151,972 and the number of residents in CRFs totaled 62,397 of of June 30, 1977.

Although government sources comprised a large proportion of revenue (72%), the proportion of resident and family contributions as well as donations were appreciably higher in CRFs than in PRFs. The relative dollar amounts from each source were more equally divided in CRFs: federal sources (\$125 million), state (\$120 million), county (\$26 million), other government sources (\$69 million), resident/family (\$93 million), and total donations (\$40 million).

The population estimate of combined revenue for CRFs and PRFs is presented in Table 4.3. In 1977-1978, the total revenue received by public and community residential facilities equalled \$3.11 billion. Government sources accounted for 94% of that total (\$2.9 billion) while resident/family contributions were 4% of the total (\$136 million) and donations equalled 2% or \$54 million.

Providing residential care to mentally retarded people is a labor intensive industry that requires 24-hour supervision of varying intensity. The personnel costs of public residential facilities reflect the size and type of resident served (75% are severely or profoundly mentally retarded (Scheerenberger, 1978a). Table 4.4 summarizes the expenses for public residential facilities. The payroll expenses of public residential facilities totaled \$2.165 billion or 79% of the total expenses. Of that amount payroll taxes equalled 9% or \$186 million and fringe benefits totaled \$230 million or 11%.

Total Revenue of PRFs and CRFs in United States in 1977-1978 (U.S. Probability Sample, 1978-1979, 100% Reporting) Population Estimates

Source	Dollars	% Total
Total Government	\$2,920,565,000	94%
Federal State Region County Other (Government source not specified)	767,347,000 2,043,785,900 9,402,000 26,169,800 73,846,800	
Total Resident/Family (SSI)	136,095,000	48
Total Donations	53,986,000	2%
U.S. Total Revenues	\$3,110,646,000	100%

Other operating expenses such as transportation, food, resident training, staff training, and consumable supplies accounted for 16% of expenses or \$428 million. Capital expenses such as furniture and equipment totaled \$142 million or 5% of the total expenses of \$2.7 billion.

Personnel expenses in community residential facilities consumed 52% of the \$518 million total expenses or \$268 million. As shown in Table 4.5 the proportion of money (52%) was considerably less than the proportion spent in PRFs for personnel (79%). In the several "family run" facilities personnel expenses are extremely low since there is no formal payment of salaries or fringe benefits. Community residential facilities, on the whole, are much smaller, have fewer staff members, and do not employ specialists to provide day and support services.

Total Expenses of PRFs in United States in 1977-1978 (U.S. Probability Sample, 1978-1979, 100% Reporting) Population Estimates

Туре	Dollars	% Total	
Total Payroll	\$2,165,378,000	79%	
Total Payroll Taxes Total Fringe Benefits	229,729,000		
Total Capital Expenses Furniture & Fixtures Equipment Buildings Leasehold Improvements Land	141,972,000 11,239,000 21,803,000 93,647,000 13,891,000 1,492,000	5*	
Total All Other Expenses	428,160,000	16%	
U.S. Total Expenses	\$2,735,510,000	100%	

Table 4.5

Total Expenses of CRFs in United States in 1977-1978 (U.S. Probability Sample, 1978-1979, 100% Reporting) Population Estimates

Type Dollars		% Total
Total Payroll Total Payroll Taxes Total Fringe Benefits	\$267,605,000 19,698,000 11,146,000	52%
Total Capital Expenses Furniture & Fixtures Equipment Buildings Leasehold Improvements Land	59,989,000 12,422,000 4,972,000 35,865,000 3,055,000 3,675,000	12%
Total All Other Expenses	193,521,000	36%
U.S. Total Expenses	\$517,815,000	100%

Payroll taxes and fringe benefits were considerably less (11% or \$30.7 million) when compared to the proportion of these expenses in PRFs (20% or \$314 million).

Other operating expenses such as transportation, food, and consumable supplies accounted for 36% of the total expenses (\$194 million) of community residential facilities. Capital expenses for furniture, equipment, and remodeling totaled \$60 million or the remaining 12% of the total expenses.

Table 4.6 shows the combined total expenses of PRFs and CRFs. The total expenses of \$3.25 billion are greater than the total revenue of \$3.11 billion in Table 4.3. The difference between revenue and expenses represents approximately a 4% deficit spending level. The difference of \$14 million may be due to three causes: a) rounding errors, b) nonprofit facilities tend to run at deficit levels while proprietary facilities tend to operate with a profit margin due to the implicit costs of personnel rather than the direct expenses of salaries for the proprietor, and c) the dominant form of payment for residential services is reimbursement by third party payers after care is rendered (Johns, Chapman, & Raphael, 1976). This method may allow reimbursement of service providers for costs incurred with payments rendered after the accounting period has ended. The combination of paying for costs incurred as well as lag in reimbursement time may account for the majority of the \$14 million. Personnel expenses (\$2.4 billion) account for 75% of the total expenses of \$3.25 billion. All other operating expenses (\$622 million) total 19% of the total, followed by capital expenses (\$202 million).

Total Expenses of PRFs and CRFs in United States in 1977-1978

а Э	(U.S. Probability Sample, 1978-1979, Population Estimates	100% Reporting)	
Туре		Dollars	% Tota

1

1100		- TOCAL
Total Payroll	\$2,432,983,000	75%
Total Payroll Taxes Total Fringe Benefits	205,640,000 240,875,000	
Total Capital Expenses	201,961,000	6%
Furniture & Fixtures Equipment Buildings Leasehold Improvements Land	23,661,000 26,775,000 129,512,000 16,946,000 5,167,000	
Total All Other Expenses	621,681,000	19%
U.S. Total Expenses	\$3,253,325,000	100%

One of the most difficult questions posed to respondents was an estimated appraised value of land, buildings, and equipment. Placing a price on buildings that are specially constructed facilities or which may be built over several years of a facility's operation has perplexed several researchers in the past. Given the various assumptions and estimates made by survey respondents, Tables 4.7, 4.8, and 4.9 present the best indications of capital investments.

For public residential facilities, the total appraised value of land and buildings totaled \$4.01 billion, the value of furnishings was approximately 11% of that figure or \$439 million. Annual maintenance expenses for capital items were estimated at \$40 million for PRFs in

Total Value of Capital Investments for PRFs in United States in 1977-1978 (U.S. Probability Sample, 1978-1979, 100% Reporting) Population Estimates

Туре	······	Dollars
Total	Appraised Value of Land & Buildings	\$4,009,360,000 439,277,000
Total	Maintenance Expenses	39,609,000
Total	Number of Acres	12,359 acres

Table 4.8

Total Value of Capital Investments for CRFs in United States in 1977-1978 (U.S. Probability Sample, 1978-1979, 100% Reporting)

Туре		Dollars
Total	Appraised Value of Land & Buildings	\$1,289,630,000
Total	Value of Furnishings	136,793,000
Total	Maintenance Expenses	11,792,000
Total	Number of Acres	3,441 acres

Table 4.9

Total Value of Capital Investments for PRFs and CRFs in United States in 1977-1978 (U.S. Probability Sample, 1978-1979, 100% Reporting)

Туре	Dollars
Total Appraised Value of Land & Buildings	\$5,299,000,000
Total Value of Furnishings	576,071,000
Total Maintenance Expenses	51,401,000
Total Number of Acres	15,801 acres

1977-1978. The total number of acres held by PRFs was approximately 12,359.

Capital investments are considerably less for CRFs than PRFs as shown in Table 4.5. The appraised value of land and buildings was \$1.29 billion, with furnishings totaling \$137 million. Maintenance expenses totaled \$11.8 million and the total number of acres held by CRFs was approximately 3,441.

The total value of capital investments for all PRFs and CRFs was \$5.3 billion as shown in Table 4.9. The total value of furnishings was \$576 million and the total maintenance expenses were \$51 million. Approximately 15,801 acres are held by public and community residential facilities.

Respondents were asked to give both the per day per person reimbursement rate and the per day per person cost of residential care. Table 4.10 presents a breakdown of per diem reimbursement rates and per diem cost rates. In most cases the reimbursement rate reported by public residential facilities was \$2.00 - \$3.00 less than the cost rate. Community residential facilities differed by \$1.00 - \$2.00 between the charge and cost rates. Per diem reimbursement rates are also presented by facility size categories. Public residential facilities with fewer than 500 residents reported the highest per diem of \$60.05. Lower per diems were reported for larger facilities: \$41.68 for facilities with 500-999 residents, \$47.81 for facilities with 1,000-1,599 residents, and \$46.82 for facilities with more than 1,600 residents. In contrast, community residential facilities showed

Comparison of Per Diems for PRFs and CRFs in United States in 1977-1978 (U.S. Probability Sample, 1978-1979, 100% Reporting)

·	Mean	SD
PRF Per Diem Charge (Weighted for nonresponse)	\$49.91	21.65
PRF Per Diem Cost (Weighted for nonresponse)	52.57	22.74
CRF Per Diem Charge (Weighted for nonresponse)	18.71	11.50
CRF Per Diem Cost (Weighted for nonresponse)	20.29	12.81
Size of PRFs	<u>Average Pe</u>	r Diem
< 500	\$60.0	5
500 - 999	41.6	8
1,000 - 1,599	.47.8	1
1,600 +	46.8	2
Size of CRFs	Average Pe	r Diem
1 - 5	\$15.5	1
6 - 15	16.4	0
16 - 32	18.8	6
33 - 64	25.5	0
65 +	25.0	9

a steady progression in per diem rates, with the smallest facilities having the lowest per diem (\$15.51) and the larger facilities reporting higher per diems (\$25.09).

Descriptive Analysis by Census Regions

The patterns of revenue for PRFs and CRFs are presented by census regions in Tables 4.11 and 4.12. As described in Chapter III, Hess selected the sample of facilities to represent the census regions thus allowing geographic comparisons.

The census regions are defined as follows:

- 1. Northeastern Region
- 3. Southern Region

Connecticut Maine Massachusetts New Hampshire New Jersey New York Pennsylvania Rhode Island Vermont

2. North Central Region

Illinois Indiana Iowa Kansas Michigan Minnesota Missouri Nebraska North Dakota Ohio South Dakota Wisconsin

- Alabama Arkansas Delaware District of Columbia Florida Georgia Kentucky Louisiana Maryland Mississippi North Carolina Oklahoma South Carolina Tennessee Texas Virginia West Virginia
- 4. Western Region

Alaska Arizona California Colorado Hawaii Idaho Montana Nevada New Mexico Oregon Utah Washington Wyoming

Sources of Revenue of PRFs by Census Region in United States in 1977-1978 (U.S. Probability Sample, 1978-1979, 100% Reporting) Population Estimates

Source	Northeast	North Central	South	West
Government	\$861,156,000	\$696,103,000	\$642,507,000	\$373,541,000
Federal	286,413,000	129,178,000	171,449,000	56,784,000
State	574,501,000	565,259,000	467,543,000	316,757,000
Regional				
County			14,000	
Other (Government source not specified)	242,000	1,666,000	3,501,000	
Resident/Family	14,327,000	8,992,000	17,636,000	2,105,000
Contributions	2,414,000	3,434,000	7,531,000	409,000
Total	\$877,897,000	\$708,529,000	\$667,674,000	\$376,055,000

2 · · · ·

1

,

,

Table	4.	12
		_

Sources of Revenue of CRFs by Census Region in United States in 1977-1978 (U.S. Probability Sample, 1978-1979, 100% Reporting) Population Estimates

Source	Northeast	North Central	South	West
Total Government	\$ 83,664,000	\$124,217,000	\$ 63,707,000	\$ 74,923,000
Federal	25,936,000	40,854,000	24,080,000	32,860,000
State	30,683,000	36,202,000	35,254,000	16,851,000
Regional		1,270,000		8,132,000
County	7,688,000	13,710,000	3,015,000	1,350,000
Other (Government source not specified)	19,357,000	32,181,000	1,358,000	15,730,000
Resident/Family	23,164,000	31,982,000	26,526,000	10,267,000
Contributions	5,754,000	8,490,000	10,640,000	15,000,000
Total	\$112,582,000	\$164,689,000	\$100,873,000	\$100,190,000

The estimated revenue for PRFs in the Northeastern region (\$878 million) as shown in Table 4.11 is greater than revenue for any other region. The PRFs in North Central states reported the next highest revenue (\$708 million) followed by the Southern region (\$668 million) and the West (\$376 million). The proportion of revenue contributed by government services was approximately 98% in all four regions.

Table 4.12 provides a similar profile of revenue for CRFs. In contrast, the North Central region reported the highest amount of revenue with \$165 million followed by the Northeastern states with \$113 million. The Southern region reported slightly higher revenues (\$101 million) than the CRFs in the Western states (\$100 million).

In examining the relative contributions of sources across regions, one can detect a few notable trends. The government contributions vary from 63% in the Southern region to 75% in all other regions. Within governmental sources, state contributions showed the greatest range from 23% in the West to 55% in the South. County support to residential facilities is proportionally higher in the North Central region (11%) and Northeast region (10%) when compared to the South and West. Resident/family contributions showed little proportional variation across regions: Northeast (21%), North Central (19%), South (26%), and West (10%).

The PRFs in the Northeast region recorded the largest expenses (\$932 million) followed by the Southern region (\$719 million), the North Central (\$699 million), and the West (\$374 million) as shown in Table 4.13.

.

•

.

Expenses of PRFs by Census Regions in United States in 1977-1978 (U.S. Probability Sample, 1978-1979, 100% Reporting) Population Estimates

Туре	Northeast	North Central	South	West
Total Payroll Expenses	\$760,869,000	\$556,571,000	\$545,610,000	\$294,721,000
Payroll Taxes	63,445,000	60,080,000	36,852,000	24,797,000
Fringe Benefits	98,364,000	54,913,000	47,218,000	28,466,000
Total Capital Expenses	19,239,000	32,826,000	65,704,000	22,982,000
Furniture & Fixtures	2,768,000	1,513,000	4,313,000	2,522,000
Equipment	2,821,000	5,378,000	9,556,000	3,865,000
Buildings	9,644,000	24,819,000	46,497,000	11,895,000
Leasehold Improvements	2,965,000	935,000	5,068,000	4,700,000
Land	1,041,000	181,000	270,000	
All Other Expenses	151,998,000	109,765,000	108,210,000	56,505,000
Total Expenses	\$932,106,000	\$699,162,000	\$719,524,000	\$374,208,000

Payroll expenses in PRFs ranged from \$295 million in the West upward to \$761 million in the Northeast region. Capital expenses in PRFs were similar in the Northeast and Western regions, \$19 million and \$23 million, respectively. The South and North Central states reported considerably higher capital expenses of \$66 million and \$33 million, respectively. All other operating expenses averaged approximately 15% across all regions.

Table 4.14 illustrates a somewhat similar description of expenses for CRFs by census regions. The rank order of expenses for CRFs by census regions is: North Central (\$183 million), Northeast (\$123 million, South (\$109 million), and West (\$107 million). Some regional variation in proportional money spent on payroll can be noted with the Northeast and North Central regions reporting approximately 54% of all expenses for payroll, and the South and West reporting 50% and 44%, respectively. The capital expenses reported by the CRFs in the North Central region (\$17.8 million), Southern region (\$17.9 million), and Western region (\$16.7 million) are very similar while the Northeastern region shows a substantially lower amount (\$7.7 million). All other operating expenses were proportionally similar: West (40%), Northeast (39%), North Central (37%), and South (33%).

The capital investments of public residential facilities in land and buildings are fairly comparable in all four regions: Northeast (\$1.06 billion), North Central (\$1.15 billion), West (\$1.003 billion), and South (\$795 million). Approximately 10% of these respective amounts was listed as the value of furnishings: Northeast (\$137 million),

1

.

Expenses of CRFs by Census Regions in United States in 1977-1978 (U.S. Probability Sample, 1978-1979, 100% Reporting) Population Estimates

.

.

Туре	Northeast	North Central	South	West
Total Payroll Expenses	\$67,899,000	\$97,317,000	\$55,029,000	\$47,310,000
Payroll Taxes	4,933,000	7,343,000	3,623,000	3,799,000
Fringe Benefits	3,615,000	3,489,000	2,131,000	1,911,000
Total Capital Expenses	7,703,000	17,771,000	17,907,000	16,674,000
Furniture & Fixtures	1,979,000	5,215,000	2,549,000	2,679,000
Equipment	1,117,000	1,903,000	771,000	1,180,000
Buildings	4,352,000	8,073,000	12,949,000	10,559,000
Leasehold Improvements	78,000	1,927,000	262,000	788,000
Land	177,000	653,000	1,376,000	1,468,000
All Other Expenses	47,608,000	67,238,000	35,730,000	43,144,000
Total Expenses	\$123,210,000	\$182,326,000	\$108,666,000	\$107,128,000

.

,

North Central (\$138 million), South (\$108 million), and West (\$55 million). The Southern PRFs held the largest amount of land with 4,213 acres. The Northeast region reported 3,611 acres followed by the West with 1,529 acres and North Central with 3,006 acres.

Community residential facilities reported appraised value of land and buildings as \$238 million in the Northeast, \$389 million in the North Central states, \$223 million in the Southern region, and \$439 million in the West. The value of furnishings showed wide variation from a low of \$14 million in the South to \$20 million in the Northeast, \$49 million in the West to the highest reported value of \$53 million in the North Central region. The total number of acres held by CRFs in each region was as follows: Northeast (607 acres), North Central (1,761 acres), South (482 acres), and West (274 acres). Tables 4.15 and 4.16 present the profiles of capital investments for PRFs and CRFs.

Descriptive Analysis by Size Categories

In no single dimension do PRFs differ more from CRFs than in terms of size or number of mentally retarded residents. CRFs ranged in size from 1 resident to over 400, while PRFs served as few as 10 residents to over 3,000 residents.

For analysis purposes the sample public residential facilities were grouped into four size categories: a) less than 500 residents (n=18), b) 500 to 999 residents (n=25), c) 1,000 to 1,599 residents (n=21), and d) 1,600 or more residents (n=11). In contrast with this distribution, the sample CRFs were divided as follows: a) 1 to 5

Tab	le	4.	15
-----	----	----	----

,

•

.

.

Capital Investments of PRFs by Census Regions in United States in 1977-1978 (U.S. Probability Sample, 1978-1979, 100% Reporting) Population Estimates

Туре	Northeast	North Central	South	West
Appraised Value of Land & Buildings	\$1,060,770,000	\$1,150,530,000	\$794,695,000	\$1,003,350,000
Appraised Value of Furnishings	137,431,000	138,429,000	108,291,000	55,125,874
Maintenance & Repair Expenses	6,596,000	9,757,000	18,539,000	4,716,000
Total Number of Acres of Land	3,611 acres	3,006 acres	4,213 acres	1,529 acres

Capital Investments of CRFs by Census Regions in United States in 1977-1978 (U.S. Probability Sample, 1978-1979, 100% Reporting) Population Estimates

Туре	Northeast	North Central	South	West
Appraised Value of Land & Buildings	\$237,836,000	\$389,241,000	\$223,534,000	\$439,024,000
Appraised Value of Furnishings	20,209,000	52,761,000	14,520,000	49,303,000
Maintenance & Repair Expenses	2,784,000	4,680,000	2,061,000	2,267,000
Total Number of Acres of Land	607 acres	1,761 acres	s 482 acres	274 acres

;

.

ł

.

residents (n=39), b) 6 to 15 residents (n=58), c) 16 to 63 residents (n=31), and d) 64 or more residents (n=33).

Tables 4.17 and 4.18 present the revenue patterns of PRFs and CRFs, respectively, by size of facility. The proportion of money (98%) coming from government sources is consistent across all size groups of public residential facilities with no relationship detected between size and reimbursement patterns. The federal-state share of revenue reported by respondents in the smaller size categories was 31%/68% while the larger categories reported a 17%/83% split. The specific federal-state patterns were: size category 1, 32%/68%; size category 2, 31%/69%; size category 3, 15%/85%; and size category 4, 19%/81%. Once again, the estimates provided by the respondents may underestimate the true federal share. The relative proportion of nongovernment contributions equalled 1%-2% for each size group. When combined, the size categories of 500-1,599 residents accounted for over \$1.54 billion in revenue or 59% of all revenue reported. This combined size group also accounts for 39.6% of all residents in public residential facilities.

The revenue patterns of CRFs, as shown in Table 4.18, show an increasing growth in total revenue reported as the size of facilities increases. The estimated revenue of facilities with 1 to 5 residents was \$38.2 million; 6 to 15 residents was \$118 million; 16 to 63 residents was \$138 million; and 64 or more residents was \$190 million.

Government was the largest source of revenue across all community facilities with facilities of 6 to 15 residents receiving 82% of its

Sources of Revenues of PRFs by Size Groups in United States in 1977-1978 (U.S. Probability Sample, 1978-1979, 100% Reporting) Population Estimates

Source	Number of Residents					
	< 500	500 - 999	1,000 - 1,599	1,600 +		
Total Government	\$693,756,000	\$836,785,000	\$675,878,000	\$366,888,000		
Federal	220,289,000	251,913,000	103,732,000	67,889,000		
State	472,382,000	580,735,000	572,132,000	298,811,000		
Regional						
County			14,000			
Other	1,085,000	4,137,000		188,000		
Resident/Family	9,213,000	19,456,000	8,988,000	5,403,000		
Contributions/Donations	4,958,000	2,676,000	3,589,000	2,567,000		
Total	\$707,927,000	\$858,917,000	\$688,455,000	\$374,858,000		

· ,

.

•

.

1

Sources of Revenues of CRFs by Size Groups in United States in 1977-1978 (U.S. Probability Sample, 1978-1979, 100% Reporting) Population Estimates

Source	Number of Residents				
	1 - 5	6 - 15	16 - 63	64 +	
Total Government	\$30,949,000	\$ 96,288,000	\$ 89,694,000	\$129,579,0 00	
Federal	1,915,000	19,947,000	40,119,000	61,748,000	
State	11,333,000	38,725,000	30,016,000	38,917,000	
Regional		4,796,000	1,270,000	3,336,000	
County	1,523,000	9,143,000	10,085,000	5,011,000	
Other (Government source not specified)	16,178,000	23,677,000	8,204,000	20,567,000	
Resident/Family	5,807,000	19,251,000	31,213,000	35,668,000	
Contributions/Donations	1,419,000	2,468,000	16,599,000	19,398,000	
Total	\$38,175,000	\$118,007,000	\$137,506,000	\$184,645,000	

revenue from government sources followed by facilities with 1 to 5 residents (81%), 64 or more residents (70%), and 16 to 63 residents (63%). The greatest use of donations and other contributions was reported by facilities in the upper size ranges: 16 to 63 residents (12%) and 64 or more residents (11%). These larger facilities were usually residential schools with church or other private affiliations. Resident and family revenue accounted for 15% of the total revenue in the smaller size categories and approximately 20% in the larger facilities serving 16 residents or more.

The expenses of PRFs and CRFs are reported in Tables 4.19 and 4.20, respectively. PRF personnel expenses ranged from 75% of the budget in facilities of fewer than 500 residents to 83% of the budget in the second largest category, 1,000 to 1,599 residents. Capital expenses showed little spread across the size categories averaging between 3% and 7% of the budget. The remainder of approximately 13% to 19% of the budget in all size categories was spent on all other operating expenses.

The expense patterns reported by CRFs show greater diversity than those of PRFs. In facilities serving 16 or more residents, the proportion of money spent on personnel, capital and other operating expenses totaled approximately 57%, 9%, and 34%, respectively. Facilities with fewer than 5 residents spent a lower proportion of money on personnel (28%) than facilities with 6 to 15 residents (42%). The lowest proportion of money spent on capital items (8%) was reported by facilities with 16 to 63 residents, whereas the proportion reported by facilities with 1 to 15 residents was 16%.

Expenses of PRFs by Size Groups in United States in 1977-1978 (U.S. Probability Sample, 1978-1979, 100% Reporting) Population Estimates

Туре		Number of Residents					
	< 500	500 - 999	1,000 - 1,599	1,600 +			
Total Payroll Expenses	\$552,641,000	\$679,058,000	\$628,885,000	\$297,187,000			
Payroll Taxes	41,917,000	43,503,000	75,316,000	24,438,000			
Fringe Benefits	44,846,000	72,717,000	81,040,000	30,358,000			
Total Capital Expenses	36,088,000	61,907,000	25,394,000	17,993,000			
Furniture & Fixtures	2,463,000	2,424,000	4,720,000	1,510,000			
Equipment	5,196,000	7,160,000	5,601,000	3,662,000			
Buildings	14,809,000	51,298,000	14,115,000	12,632,000			
Leasehold Improvements	13,016,000	86,000	378,000	189,000			
Land	604,000	309,000	580,000				
All Other Expenses	142,235,000	127,288,000	97,616,000	59,339,000			
Total Expenses	\$730,964,000	\$868,253,000	\$751,895,000	\$374,519,000			

Expenses of CRFs by Size Groups in United States in 1977-1978 (U.S. Probability Sample, 1978-1979, 100% Reporting) Population Estimates

Type of Expense	Number of Residents					
	1 - 5	6 - 15	16 - 63	64 +		
Total Payroll Expenses	\$10,495,000	\$ 54,557,000	\$ 84,077,000	\$118,495,000		
Payroll Taxes	730,000	4,393,000	6,404,000	8,171,000		
Fringe Benefits	648,000	2,272,000	2,429,000	5,797,000		
Total Capital Expenses	5,971,000	21,151,000	11,602,000	21,333,000		
Furniture & Fixtures	2,368,000	4,041,000	2,172,000	3,841,000		
Equipment	541,000	1,046,000	1,358,000	2,027,000		
Buildings	2,955,000	13,507,000	7,397,000	12,074,000		
Leasehold Improvements	107,000	885,000	499,000	1,565,000		
Land		1,672,000	176,000	1,826,000		
All Other Expenses	20,610,000	54,221,000	49,987,000	68,903,000		
Total Expenses	\$37,076,000	\$129,929,000	\$145,596,000	\$208,731,000		

) .

.

.

4

.

The reported capital investments of public and community residential facilities combined by size categories are presented in Tables 4.21 and 4.22, respectively. The total appraised value of PRF land and buildings of over \$4 billion was unevenly distributed across size categories: fewer than 500 residents (\$1.28 billion), 500 to 999 residents (\$1.5 billion), 1,000 to 1,599 residents (\$856 million), and 1,600 or more residents (\$354 million). The land holdings showed a similar pattern with facilities of less than 500 residents reporting 3,294 acres, facilities of 1,000 to 1,599 residents listing 3,790 acres, and facilities of over 1,600 residents owning 1,144 acres. The largest amount of land was held by facilities with 500 to 999 residents (4,132 acres).

The appraised values of land and buildings of community residential facilities by size categories are given in Table 4.22. The breakdown by size categories is as follows: facilities of 1 to 5 residents reported \$109 million, facilities of 6 to 15 residents reported \$189 million, facilities with 16 to 63 residents reported \$545 million and facilities with 64 or more residents reported \$448 million in appraised value of land and buildings. The amount of land ranged from 528 acres (facilities with 1 to 5 residents) to 1,720 acres (facilities with 64 or more residents).

Relation of Selected Factors to Cost

Several single factors were cited in Chapter II which may influence variation in per diem costs. For organizational purposes these single

Capital Investments of PRFs by Size Groups in United States in 1977-1978 (U.S. Probability Sample, 1978-1979, 100% Reporting) Population Estimates

Туре	< 500	Number of F 500 - 999 1	Residents 1,000 - 1,599	1,600 +
Appraised Value of Land & Buildings	\$1,283,690,000	\$1,515,880,000	\$855,650,000	\$354,140,000
Appraised Value of Furnishings	144,648,000	115,386,000	116,535,000	62,708,000
Maintenance & Repair Expenses	13,624,000	9,685,000	12,238,000	4,063,000
Number of Acres of Land	3,294 acres	4,132 acres	3,790 acres	l,144 acres

÷ •

t

.

ŧ

.

۲

.

Capital Investments of CRFs by Size Groups in United States in 1977-1978 (U.S. Probability Sample, 1978-1979, 100% Reporting) Population Estimates

Туре	1 - 5	Number of 6 - 15	Residents 16 - 63	64 +
Appraised Value of Land & Buildings	\$108,691,000	\$188,823,000	\$544,567,000	\$447,554,000
Appraised Value of Furnishings	16,296,000	20,546,000	61,392,000	38,560,000
Maintenance & Repair Expenses	649,000	1,684,000	3,263,000	6,196,000
Number of Acres of Land	528 acres	539 acres	655 acres	1,720 acres

factors have been grouped under three major categories: 1) locational factors, 2) organizational factors, and 3) resident factors. Within each category, separate hypotheses will be stated, followed by the results tested at the .05 levels of statistical significance.

Locational Factors

There are two environmental factors that were tested separately for public residential facilities and community residential facilities.

1. H_{O1}: There is no difference in the per diem of residential services located in the four census regions (Northeast, North Central, West, and South).

There were significant differences in the per diem rates of public residential facilities located in the four census regions according to the results of a one-way analysis of variance test. The PRFs located in the Northeastern region were operating at the highest rate of \$62.19 while PRFs in the South had the lowest rate of \$41.75. These two means were significantly different (p < .05), while the other comparisons were not. The analysis of variance and table of means and standard deviations appear in Tables 4.23 and 4.24, respectively.

When the community residential facility per diems were analyzed, there were no significant differences among the four census regions. Table 4.25 and Table 4.26 present the analysis of variance and table of means. The per diem means are quite comparable: Northeast (\$22.44), North Central (\$20.79), South (\$20.36), and West (\$18.28).

The data contained in this report have not been adjusted for cost of living differences that exist across census regions. Future

Table	4.	23
-------	----	----

Summary of Analysis of Variance of PRF Per Diems by Census Region

Source of Variation	df	SS	MS	F
Between Groups	3	4686.51	1562.17	3.59*
Within Groups	71	30901.28	435.23	
Total	74	35587.79		

* p<.05

Table 4.24

Mean Per Diems of PRFs by Census Region

Census Region	Me	ean	SD	N
Northeast	\$ 63	2.19	31.	36 21
North Central	\$ 50	0.58	15.0	51 19
South	\$ 43	1.75	16.0	24
West	\$ 50	0.91	9.1	78 11

Tabl	е	4	•	2	5
	_	-			_

Sι	ımmaı	ry of	E Analy	ysis	s of	Var	riance
of	CRF	Per	Diems	by	Cens	us	Region

.

.

Source of Variation	df	SS	MS	F
Between Groups	3	317.09	105.70	. 7.7
Within Groups	157	21642.48	137.85	
Total	160	21959.56		

Table 4.26

Mean Per Diems of CRFs by Census Region

Census Region	Mean	SD	N
Northeast	\$ 22.44	10.79	32
North Central	\$ 20.79	12.98	62
South	\$ 20.36	12.97	28
West	\$ 18.28	9.19	39

analyses of this cost data will adjust for such differences using a comparative index published by the Bureau of Labor Statistics (1979). The index is developed for a hypothetical urban family of four consisting of an "employed husband, age 38, a wife not employed outside the home, an 8-year-old girl, and a 13-year-old boy" (p. 21). Separate annual family budgets were reported for lower, intermediate, and higher levels of consumption.

The budgets and indexes are prepared for 39 metropolitan areas and four nonmetropolitan areas in the United States. Indexes for the four census regions are not reported, and according to Rogers (1980) from the Bureau of Labor Statistics, "the 39 metropolitan areas represent an extremely small sample of the census regions."

The reader should be advised that the statistically significant difference in PRF per diems might be an illusion of cost of living differences rather than "real" cost differences.

2. H_{O2}: There is no difference in the per diem of residential services located in the metropolitan and nonmetropolitan areas.

A Standard Metropolitan Statistical Area (SMSA) usually consists of a central city with a population exceeding 50,000, the county in which it is located, and other contiguous counties that are metropolitan in character and are socially and economically integrated with a central city (U.S. Department of Commerce, 1978). For purposes of this study, residential facilities were recategorized into three categories of location: a) SMSA central for facilities which were located in cities of 50,000 people or more, b) SMSA noncentral county for facilities located in contiguous counties, and c) non-SMSA counties for the remainder of the facilities which are located outside an SMSA.

One-way analysis of variance tests were run separately for public residential facility per diems and community residential facility per diems. As shown in Tables 4.27 and 4.29, there were no significant differences between location for either group of facilities. The table of means and standard deviations for PRFs is given in Table 4.28, while Table 4.30 presents the CRF means and standard deviations.

Organizational Factors

Seven organizational characteristics have been suggested in the review of literature as affecting cost differences. The eight factors are: 1) size, 2) staff turnover rate, 3) staff-resident ratio, 4) index of service/staffing patterns, 5) occupancy rate, 6) ownership of facility, 7) membership in a system or chain of residential facilities under one general ownership, and 8) number of years in operation. Factors 4, 6, and 7 are applicable to community residential facilities only.

3. H_{O3}: There is no relationship between the per diem of residential services and size of facility (number of mentally retarded residents).

Pearson correlation coefficients were calculated between size and per diem rates for PRFs and CRFs, separately. The size of public residential facilities was negatively, but not significantly, correlated with the per diem of those facilities (r = -.12). In contrast, the size of community residential facilities was positively correlated with per

Summary of Analysis of Variance of PRF Per Diems by Metropolitan Location

Source of Variation	df	SS	MS	F
Between Groups	2	415.87	207.94	.43
Within Groups	<u>72</u>	35171.91	488.50	
Total	74	35587.79		

Table 4.28

Mean Per Diems of PRFs by Metropolitan Location

Loca	ation	Mean	SD	N
(1)	SMSA Central (city with 50,000)	\$ 51.87	23.78	31
(2)	SMSA Noncentral County	\$ 55.90	28.14	10
(3)	NonSMSA County	\$ 48.88	18.33	34

Summary of Analysis of Variance of CRF Per Diems by Metropolitan Location

•

Source of Variation	df	SS	MS	F
Between Groups	2	498.72	249.36	1.84
Within Groups	158	21460.84	135.83	
Total	160	21959.56		

Table 4.30

Mean Per Diems of CRFs by Metropolitan Location

Loc	ation	Mean	SD	<u> </u>
(1)	SMSA Central (city with 50,000)	\$ 22.11	11.30	84
(2)	SMSA Noncentral County	\$ 18.43	8.58	14
(3)	NonSMSA County	\$ 18.63	12.64	63

diem (r= .22) which was statistically significant (p < .005). However, this correlation was rather low and accounted for only about 5% of the variance in costs.

4. H₀₄: There is no relationship between per diem of residential services and the turnover rate of direct care staff.

Pearson product correlation coefficients were calculated separately for PRFs and CRFs. The relationship between the turnover rate of direct care staff and the per diem rates was negatively correlated for public residential facilities (r= -.11), but the relationship was not statistically significant. The relationship between turnover rate and per diem in community residential facilities was also negatively correlated (r= -.19) and was also not statistically significant.

5. H_{05} : There is no relationship between per diem of residential services and the staff-resident ratio.

The staff-resident ratio was calculated for each facility based on the total number of staff, given on the staff composition questionnaire, divided by the total number of mentally retarded residents. The staff-resident ratios were divided into five groups: a) less than .33, b) .33-.65, c) .66-.99, d) 1.00-1.32, and e) 1.33+.

One-way analysis of variance tests were run separately for public residential facility per diems and community residential facility per diems. Significant differences (p < .005) were found in per diem rates of public residential facilities as shown in Table 4.31. Upon examination of the table of means given in Table 4.32, there appears to be a direct relationship between higher staff-resident ratios and higher per diem costs.

•

Summary of Analysis of Variance of PRF Per Diems by Staff-Resident Ratio

Source of Variation	df	SS	MS	F
Between Groups	3	10306.19	3435.40	9.65**
Within Groups	<u>71</u>	25281.60	356.08	
Total	74	35587.79		

** p<.005

Table 4.32

Mean Per Diems of PRFs by Staff-Resident Ratio

Staff-Resident Ratio	Mean	SD	N
<.33	NA	NA	NA
.3365	\$ 30.00	0	1
.6699	\$ 44.66	14.99	44
1.00 - 1.32	\$ 54.00	13.52	23
1.33+	\$ 84.57	43.98	7
Differences in community residential facility per diems were also significant (p <.005) when compared on staff-resident ratio groups (Table 4.33). The lowest per diem (\$15.32) occurred in facilities with a staff-resident ratio of less than .33. The mean per diems and standard deviations are given in Table 4.34. The highest per diem of \$28.88 was reported by facilities with staff-resident ratios of 1.00 to 1.32. Those facilities with staff-resident ratios greater than 1.33 reported per diems (\$16.50) considerably lower than facilities with staff-resident ratios ranging from .66-1.32.

6. H_{O6}: There is no relationship between per diem rates of residential services and an index of service/staffing patterns.

All public residential facilities in the sample provided a full range of services by a full complement of staff. In contrast, community residential facilities offered several different levels of service from domiciliary care to a full range of services similar to public facilities. The staff composition questionnaire was completed by each facility and was scored according to an index of service/ staffing patterns according to types of staff employed. The index was defined as follows:

- 1 = Family run; no other staff employed
- 2 = Direct care staff and at least a part-time administrator
- 3 = Direct care staff, administrator(s), and facility support staff such as kitchen or laundry workers
- 4 = Direct care staff, administrator(s), facility support staff, educational support staff, and medical support staff
- 5 = Direct care staff and administrator(s), facility support staff, educational support staff, medical support staff, and social services support staff

Summary of Analysis of Variance of CRF Per Diems by Staff-Resident Ratio

Source of Variation	df	SS	MS	F
Between Groups	4	4489.09	1122.27	10.02**
Within Groups	156	17470.48	111.99	
Total	160	21959.57		

** p <.005

Table 4.34

Mean Per Diems of CRFs by Staff-Resident Ratio

Staff-Resident Ratio	Mean	SD	N
<.33	\$ 15.32	8.62	53
.3365	\$ 19.22	8.57	50
.6699	\$ 28.03	13.95	40
1.00 - 1.32	\$ 28.88	9.06	8
1.33+	\$ 16.50	14.28	10

A one-way analysis of variance test was run on the community residential facility per diems and the results appear in Table 4.35. Significant differences were found (p < .0005) among group means with the lowest per diem rate (\$11.85) reported by facilities that were family owned and operated. The highest per diem of \$31.47, on the other hand, was reported by facilities offering a full range of services. Level 1 facilities (\$11.85) were significantly different from all other levels. Level 2 facilities (\$19.00) were significantly less expensive than level 4 facilities (\$24.14) and level 5 facilities (\$31.47). Finally, level 3 (\$22.38) and level 4 facilities differed significantly from level 5 facilities (see Table 4.36).

7. H₀₇: There is no difference in the per diem rates of residential services and the occupancy rate.

Occupancy rate was defined as the number of residents divided by the bed capacity. Occupancy ranged from less than 70% to over 100%, and the rates were recategorized as follows: a) < 70%, b) 71-90%, c) 91-95%, d) 96-100%, and e)>100%. No significant differences were found in comparing means of public and community residential facilities. Tables 4.37 and 4.39 present the analysis of variance tables for public and community facilities, while Tables 4.38 and 4.40 present the tables of means and standard deviations, respectively.

8. H_{O8}: There is no difference in per diem rates of community residential facilities by type of legal ownership (family, private nonprofit corporations, proprietary corporations).

Table 4.41 presents a summary of the analysis of variance (see Table 4.42 for means and standard deviations) for type of legal ownership with per diem as the dependent variable. There were significant

1	3	2

Summary of Analysis of Variance of CRF Per Diems by an Index of Service/Staffing Patterns

df	SS	MS	F
4	5463.81	1365.95	12.92***
156	16495.75	105.74	
160	21959.56		
	df 4 <u>156</u> 160	df SS 4 5463.81 156 16495.75 160 21959.56	df SS MS 4 5463.81 1365.95 156 16495.75 105.74 160 21959.56 105.74

*** p<.0005

Table 4.36

Mean Per Diems of CRFs by an Index of Service/Staffing Patterns

Intensity of Services/Staffing	Mean	SD	N
Level 1 - Family Run	\$ 11.85	6.17	34
Level 2 - Direct Care & Administrator	\$ 19.00	11.20	56
Level 3 - Direct Care & Administrator & Facility Support Staff	\$ 22.83	10.10	23
Level 4 - Direct Care & Administrator & Facility Support Staff & Educational Support Staff & Medical Staff	\$ 24.14	10.74	29
Level 5 - Direct Care & Administrator & Facility & Medical & Educational & Social Service Support Staff	\$ 31.47	12.61	19

Summary of Analysis of Variance of PRF Per Diems by Occupancy Rate

Source of Variation	df	SS	MS	F
Between Groups	5	4757.11	951.42	2.13
Within Groups	69	30830.68	446.82	
Total	74	35587.79		

Table 4.38

Mean Per Diems of PRFs by Occupancy Rate

Occupancy Rate	Mean	SD	N
Level 1 (< 50%)	NA	NA	NA
Level 2 (50- 70%)	\$ 61.00	31.37	6
Level 3 (71- 80%)	\$ 42.20	13.77	5
Level 4 (81- 90%)	\$ 52.94	16.51	18
Level 5 (91- 95%)	\$ 64.08	33.69	13
Level 6 (96-100%)	\$ 43.28	12.75	18
Level 7 (>100%)	\$ 45.80	17.18	15

Table	4.	39
-------	----	----

Source of Variation df F SS MS Between Groups 6 586.66 97.78 .71 Within Groups 154 21372.91 138.79 Total 160 21959.57

Summ	ary (of Ana	lysi	is	of	Varia	ance
of CRF	Per	Diems	by	00	cup	pancy	Rate

Tab	le	4.	40
Tab	Te.	-4.	40

Mean Per Diems of CRFs by Occupancy Rate

Occupancy Rate	Mean	SD	N
Level 1 (< 50%)	\$ 16.90	9.90	20
Level 2 (50- 70%)	\$ 23.73	15.12	15
Level 3 (71- 80%)	\$ 19.23	14.82	17
Level 4 (81- 90%)	\$ 19.03	10.75	29
Level 5 (91- 95%)	\$ 21.25	10.43	16
Level 6 (96-100%)	\$ 21.60	11.43	60
Level 7 (>100%)	\$ 20.25	8.66	4

Summary of Analysis of Variance of CRF Per Diems by Type of Ownership

Source of Variation	df	SS	MS	F
Between Groups	2	4513.06	2256.53	20.44***
Within Groups	158	17446.51	110.42	
Total	160	21959.56		

*** p <.0005

Table 4.42

Mean Per Diems of CRFs by Type of Ownership

Туре	Mean	SD	N
Nonprofit \$	24.16	11.57	87
Family Run \$	12.45	7.41	49
Proprietary \$	23.12	11.71	25

differences among the mean per diems with family-owned and operated facilities (\$12.45) operating at a much lower rate than nonprofit facilities (\$24.16), and proprietary facilities (\$23.12). However, no significant difference emerged between nonprofit and proprietary facilities. The mean per diems and standard deviations appear in Table 4.42.

9. H_{O9}: There is no difference in per diem rates of community residential facilities by membership in a system. (A system is a group of residential facilities owned and operated by one parent organization.)

Significant differences (p < .05) were found between community residential facilities that were members of systems and those that were not. The average per diem of system CRFs was \$22.75 and the average per diem of non-system CRFs was \$17.72. Table 4.43 presents the analysis of variance table while Table 4.44 gives the table of means and standard deviations.

10. H₀₁₀: There is no difference in per diem rates of residential facilities by the number of years in operation.

Facility administrators were asked to give the year when the residential facility opened. The opening year was subtracted from the constant year 1978. The years in operation were recategorized into four groups: a) 1-6 years, b) 7-20 years, c) 21-50 years, and d) more than 50 years. One-way analysis of variance tests were calculated separately for public and community residential facility per diems. Significant differences (p < .05) were found for public residential facilities with the highest per diem (\$72.28) reported by facilities opened for 1-6 years. Tables 4.45 and 4.46 present the

Summary of Analysis of Variance of CRF Per Diems by System Membership

Source of Variation	df	SS	MS	F
Between Groups	1	959.09	959.09	7.50*
Within Groups	150	19195.43	127.97	
Total	151	20154.52		

* p <.05

Table 4.44

Mean Per Diems of CRFs by System Membership

Туре	Mean	SD	N
Member of System	\$ 22.75	11.99	81
Non-member	\$ 17.72	10.49	71

138

Table 4.45

Summary of Analysis of Variance of PRF Per Diems by Number of Years in Operation

Source of Variation	df	SS	MS	F
Between Groups	5	3749.02	1249.67	2.79*
Within Groups	<u>71</u>	31838.77	448.43	
Total	74	35587.79		

* p<.05

Table 4.46

Mean Per Diems of PRFs by Number of Years in Operation

Number of Years	Mean	SD	N
1 - 6 years	ş 72 . 28	43.35	7
7 - 20 years	\$ 50.76	16.80	21
21 - 50 years	\$ 51.00	23.76	13
> 50 years	\$ 46.88	15.71	34

summary of the analysis of variance test and the table of means and standard deviations for public facilities, respectively. No significant differences were reported by community residential facilities as shown in Tables 4.47 and 4.48.

Resident Factors

11. H_{Oll}: There is no difference in the per diem rates of residential services and the age of residents served.

Facility administrators were asked about the age criteria for admission of residents. There are three basic types of facilities-those which serve only children, those which serve only adults, and those which serve all ages. Specific minimum and maximum ages within these types may vary from facility to facility. One-way analysis of variance tests were run separately for public and community residential facilities. There were no significant differences in public residential facilities, as shown in Tables 4.49 and 4.50.

On the community side, the per diem rates for adult facilities (\$18.39) were significantly lower (p <.005) than residential placements for children (\$24.74) or all ages (\$24.67). The summary table is given in Table 4.51 and the table of means and standard deviations appears in Table 4.52.

12. H₀₁₂: There is no difference in the per diem rates of residential services and the number of levels of mentally retarded residents admitted.

Facility administrators were asked which levels of mentally retarded residents were admitted, using the four levels of mental retardation (mild, moderate, severe, and profound), according to the

Summary of Analysis of Variance of CRF Per Diems by Number of Years in Operation

Source of Variation	df	SS	MS	F
Between Groups	3	593.46	197.82	1.45
Within Groups	155	21208.28	136.82	
Total	158	21801.75		

Table 4.48

Mean Per Diems of CRFs by Number of Years in Operation

Number of Years	Mean	SD	N
1 - 6 ye ars	\$ 20.58	11.53	85
7 - 20 years	\$ 19.03	11.40	59
21 - 50 years	\$ 24.80	15.37	10
> 50 years	\$ 28.00	9.67	5

Summary of Analysis of Variance of PRF Per Diems by Age of Resident Admitted

Source of Variation	df	SS	MS	F
Between Groups	2	1508.49	754.24	1.59
Within Groups	<u>72</u>	34079.30	473.32	
Total	74	35587.79		

Table 4.50

Mean Per Diems of PRFs by Age of Resident Admitted

Age of Residents	Mean	SD	<u>N</u>
Children	\$ 36.00	9.20	4
Adults	\$ 40.50	11.56	4
All Ages	\$ 52.58	22.50	67

Summary of Analysis of Variance of CRF Per Diems by Age of Resident Admitted

Source of Variation	df	SS	MS	F
Between Groups	2	1404.93	702.46	5.40**
Within Groups	158	20554.64	130.09	
Total	160	21959.57		

** p <.005

Table 4.52

Mean Per Diems of CRFs by Age of Resident Admitted

Age of Residents	Mean	SD	<u>N</u>
Children	\$ 24.74	13.27	31
Adults	\$ 18.39	10.30	109
All Ages	\$ 24.67	13.80	21

AAMD Classification System (Grossman, 1977). The number of levels of mental retardation represents a proxy variable for "case mix" that was described in the hospital cost function studies of Chapter II. Facilities were categorized according to the number of levels of retardation admitted with the possible values equal to one, two, three, or four levels.

One-way analysis of variance tests were run separately for public and community residential facilities. Tables 4.53, 4.54, 4.55, and 4.56 present the results. No significant differences were found for either analysis.

13. H₀₁₃: There is no difference in the per diem rates of residential services and the proportion of severely/profoundly mentally retarded residents served.

As described in Chapter III, a personal record sheet was completed for every resident included in the sample. This form included a question regarding the resident's degree of retardation based upon the most recent psychological evaluation. Residents were classified in the following manner: a) borderline (IQ 69-84), b) mild (IQ 52-68), c) moderate (IQ 36-51), d) severe (IQ 20-35), e) profound (IQ 19 and below), and f) unknown. The proportion of residents who were classified as severely or profoundly mentally retarded was calculated for each facility. Public residential facilities tend to be populated exclusively by these two levels of retardation while community residential facilities showed greater variability in the levels of retardation served.

One-way analysis of variance tests were run separately for public and community residential facilities. No significant differences for

Summary of Analysis of Variance of PRF Per Diems by Number of Levels of Mentally Retarded Residents Admitted

Source of Variation	df	SS	MS	F
Between Groups	2	1643.97	821.98	1.74
Within Groups	72	33943.82	471.44	
Total	74	35587.79		

Table 4.54

Mean Per Diems of PRFs by Number of Levels of Mentally Retarded Residents Admitted

Number of Levels	Mean	SD	N
One level	NA	NA	NA
Two levels	\$ 64.13	11.48	8
Three levels	\$ 47.42	16.21	19
Four levels	\$ 50.31	24.53	48

Table	4.	55

	Summa	ary	of A	nalys	is of	Vari	ance	of	CRF	Per	Die	ms	
by	Number	of	Leve	ls of	Menta	ally	Retar	ded	Res	ider	nts i	Admitte	d

Source of Variation	df	SS	MS	F
Between Groups	3	587.62	195.87	1.44
Within Groups	157	21371.95	136.13	
Total	160	21959.57		

Mean Per Diems of CRFs by Number of Levels of Mentally Retarded Residents Admitted

Mean	SD	N
17.85	8.93	27
19.64	11.64	50
19.67	13.15	33
23.07	11.94	51
	Mean 17.85 19.64 19.67 23.07	Mean SD 17.85 8.93 19.64 11.64 19.67 13.15 23.07 11.94

public residential facility per diems were found as shown in Table 4.57. The table of means and standard deviations appears in Table 4.58. Significant differences (p < .005) were found among the community residential facility per diems as presented in Table 4.59. Community residential facilities that served a majority (51% or more) of severely or profoundly retarded residents reported a significantly higher level per diem than facilities serving 50% or fewer residents with the same diagnosis. The table of means and standard deviations is given in Table 4.60.

Cost Function Analysis

The final statistical analyses to be described in this study are cost function analyses using multiple regression procedures.

The two primary purposes in selecting multiple regression analyses for this study are: a) to derive the best linear prediction equation from a large set of independent variables discussed in the previous section of this chapter and b) to evaluate the respective contributions of a specific variable while holding other factors constant within a multivariate context.

A stepwise linear regression approach was selected because this method orders the inclusion of independent variables by relative contributions in explaining variance. In addition, at each step, variables are entered only if they meet certain statistical criteria and are deleted if they no longer meet that criteria. By entering variables one by one it is possible to identify and examine the minimum set of

Tab	le	4.	57
			•

Summary of Analysis of Variance of PRF Per Diems by Proportion of Severely or Profoundly Mentally Retarded Residents Served

Source of Variation	df	SS	MS	F
Between Groups	2	1626.40	813.20	1.72
Within Groups	72	33961.39	471.69	
Total	74	35587.79		

Table 4.58

Mean Per Diems of PRFs by Proportion of Severely or Profoundly Mentally Retarded Residents Served

Proportion	Mean	SD	N
0 - 75% severely or profoundly mentally retarded	\$ 46.86	27.47	28
76 - 90% severely or profoundly mentally retarded	\$ 50.07	19.89	28
91 - 100% severely or profoundly mentally retarded	\$ 58.68	12.71	19

10016 3.00

Summary of Analysis of Variance of CRF Per Diems by Proportion of Severely or Profoundly Mentally Retarded Residents Served

Source of Variation	df	SS	MS	F
Between Groups	2	1753.15	876.58	6.85**
Within Groups	158	20206.41	127.89	
Total	160	21959.56		

** p <.005

Table 4.60

Mean Per Diems of CRFs by Proportion of Severely or Profoundly Mentally Retarded Residents Served

Proportion	Mean	SD	<u>N</u>
0% severely or profoundly mentally retarded	\$ 17.00	9.42	64
<pre>1 - 50% severely or profoundly mentally retarded</pre>	\$ 20.50	11.16	50
51 - 100% severely or profoundly mentally retarded	\$ 25.04	13.60	47

variables that yields the optimal predictive value. The independent variable explaining the greatest amount of variance in the dependent variable appears first in the resulting equation. The remaining variables are ordered from largest to smallest in order of the magnitude of the squared partial correlation with the dependent variable. The dependent measure was per diem cost.

A common set of predictors was chosen from the list of variables presented earlier to be tested as correlates of costs of care for both public and community residential facilities. This common set of predictors included ten variables: a) staff to resident ratio, b) proportion of severely or profoundly mentally retarded residents within the facility, c) age of residents served within the facility, d) size of facility, e) number of years in operation, f) census regions, g) occupancy rate, h) number of levels of mental retardation admitted to the facility, i) staff turnover, and j) metropolitan/ nonmetropolitan location. Multiple regression requires that variables are measured on either a ratio or interval scale. Because some of the predictors in this set are nominal in nature, dummy variables were created. For example, census region was defined as Northeast, North Central, South, and West. All facilities belong to only one of these categories and can be scored as either present (1) or absent (0) on each of these four variables. A facility in the Northeast census region was scored as one (1) on the dummy variable representing Northeast and zero (0) on all other categories. In this example, three dummy variables are included in the equation and the remaining census

region is called the reference category (a unique combination of the other dummy variables).

Three regression analyses were run and will be presented in the following order: a) regression for public residential facilities using a common set of predictors, b) regression for community residential facilities using a common set of predictors, and c) regression for community residential facilities using the common set of predictors with additional factors unique to community facilities only.

Table 4.61 presents a correlation matrix of the predictors and per diem cost for public residential facilities. Staff to resident ratio was most highly correlated with per diem cost (r=.49, p <.001). In descending order of magnitude, per diem cost was correlated with the Northeast census region (r=.31, p <.01), the South census region (r= -.29, p <.05), staff turnover (r= -.23, p <.05), and occupancy rate (r= -.19, p <.10). Upon further examination of the intercorrelation matrix there appear to be only low to moderate levels of correlation between several independent variables. There is no evidence of multicollinearity among the independent variables.

The correlation ratios are in agreement with the analysis of variance results reported earlier. Higher staff to resident ratios were associated with higher per diems. Location in the Northeast census region was related to higher per diems while facilities located in the Southern census region had lower per diems. Inverse relationships existed between per diem and staff turnover, and per diem and occupancy rate. Factors such as age of residents, level of mental

	Per	1	2		4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12
	0100			`		<u>_</u>							
l Staff to Resident Ratio	.49												
2 Severe/Profound MR	.12	.07											
3 Children Admitted	16	08	15										
4 Adults Admitted	11	.13	38	06									
5 Size	09	28	03	19	20								
6 Operating Years	16	14	.05	20	24	.43							
7 Northeast Census	.31	.18	14	15	15	.18	.05						
8 North Central Census	01	.08	.04	.00	.13	20	.24	36					
9 South Census	29	.02	.02	.22	04	.00	28	43	40				
10 Number of MR Levels	13	09	16	.08	01	.04	.13	01	.04	08			
11 Occupancy Rates	19	19	12	.05	17	.16	.15	.05	10	.12	06		
12 Staff Turnover	23	.02	34	.49	.14	25	26	14	11	.41	.02	.02	
13 Metropolitan Location	06	.05	.23	.12	26	10	.08	.01	.04	.00	05	.11	.04

Table 4	4.	61
---------	----	----

٠

3

.

Correlation Matrix of Predictors and Dependent Variable for Public Residential Facilities

.

•

retardation, size, and metropolitan location were not found to be statistically significant in the previous analyses of variance and are similarly quite low in magnitude of correlation with per diem rates as given in Table 4.61.

The results of the regression analysis for public residential facilities are presented in Table 4.62. The overall regression equation accounted for 48% of the variance in per diems (multiple R = .69), and was significant at the p <.005 level. Four variables, in particular, were very significant determinants of per diem rates and they were: a) staff to resident ratio, b) South census region, c) number of years in operation, and d) adults only admitted. The latter three variables were negatively correlated with the dependent variable.

The greatest amount of variance $(R^2=.24)$ was consumed by staff to resident ratio. Location in the Southern census region was inversely related to cost but accounted for approximately \Im of the change in variability accounted for as shown in Table 4.62. Approximately 3% of the change in variability accounted for was due to the number of years a public residential facility was in operation. Newer facilities reported higher per diem costs. The final of four factors considered most significant was the adult age limit of some public facilities. Adult facilities reported lower per diems than facilities serving children of all ages. The change in variability accounted for by this factor was approximately 6%.

1able 4.02	Tab.	le 4	.62
------------	------	------	-----

.

.

٠

•

Stepwise Multiple Regression Analysis of Public Residential Facilities

Independent Variable	Simple r	Multiple R	R ²	R ² Change	Beta Weight	F Ratio	Significance Level
Staff to Resident Ratio	.49	.49	.24	.24	.49	18.05	<.0001
South Census Region	29	.57	.33	.09	30	13.91	<.0001
Operating Years	16	.60	.36	.04	31	10.73	<.0001
Adults Admitted (only)	11	.65	.42	.06	29	10.20	<.0001
Metropolitan Location	06	.67	.44	.02	11	8.67	<.0001
Staff Turnover	23	.68	.46	.01	10	7.47	<.0001
Number of MR Levels	13	.68	.46	.006	08	6.45	<.0001
Size	09	.68	.47	.006	.09	5.66	<.0001
Occupancy Rate	19	.69	.47	.004	07	5.01	<.0001
Proportion of Severely or Profoundly Mentally Retarded	.12	.69	.48	.001	04	4.44	<.0001
Children Admitted (only)	16	.69	.48	.001	04	3.97	<.0001
Northeast Census Region	. 32	.69	.48	.0004	.05	3.57	.001
North Central Census Region	01	.69	.48	.001	.05	3.24	.002

•

.

A second regression analysis using the common set of predictors was performed on the community residential facilities. A correlation matrix of the predictors and the dependent variable for community residential facilities is given in Table 4.63. Per diem was most highly correlated with the proportion of severely or profoundly mentally retarded served by community residential facilities (r=.28, p < .05). Other variables that showed moderate correlation with per diem were: size and per diem (r=.25, p < .05), adult age limit and per diem (r= -.25, p <D5), and staff turnover and per diem (r= -.22, p<.05). As described earlier, community residential facilities reported higher per diems as size of the facility grew larger and as the proportion of severely or profoundly mentally retarded people served by a facility increased above 50%. Adults were less expensive to serve than children, while lower staff turnover was associated with facilities reporting a higher per diem. Factors such as the number of years in operation, census region, metropolitan location, occupancy rate, and the number of levels of mental retardation served by a facility were not found to be statistically significant in earlier analyses and are not correlated highly with per diem as shown in Table 4.63. Again, there appears to be no evidence of multicollinearity among the independent variables.

The stepwise regression analysis for community residential facilities is reported in Table 4.64. The overall regression equation accounted for 24% of the variance in the per diems (multiple R = .49). The proportion of severely or profoundly mentally retarded residents

		Per												
		Diem	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12
1	Staff Resident Ratio	.16												
2	Severe/Profound MR	.28	.07											
3	Children Admitted	.18	.02	.20										
4	Adults Admitted	25	05	31	71									
5	Size	.25	03	.13	.03	29								
6	Operating Years	.15	.07	.12	.15	41	.53							
7	Northeast Census	.08	04	18	.03	02	04	.02						
8	North Central Census	.02	.09	.10	06	.08	.06	03	39					
9	South Census	.00	.00	.01	02	.00	.06	.05	23	36				
10	Number of MR Levels	.15	.01	.25	.05	17	.25	.13	04	.10	.05			
11	Occupancy Rates	.13	27	.26	.12	20	.17	.10	.04	06	.04	.14		
12	Staff Turnover	22	.02	.03	12	.14	06	13	22	.01	03	25	11	
13	Metropolitan Location	14	.07	03	18	.12	.04	.13	03	.24	06	.01	17	12

Tab	le	4.	63

٠

٠

.

Correlation Matrix of Predictors and Dependent Variable for Community Residential Facilities

.

Independent Variable	Simple r	Multiple R	R ²	R ² Change	Beta Weight	F Ratio	Significance Level
Proportion of Severely or Profoundly Mentally Retarded	.28	.28	.08	.08	.23	5.63	.020
Staff Turnover	22	.36	.13	.05	20	4.88	.011
Size	.25	.41	.17	.04	.22	4.40	.007
Metropolitan Location	14	.44	.20	.03	18	3.95	.006
Staff to Resident Ratio	.16	.47	.22	.03	.17	3.67	.006
Northeast	.08	.48	.23	.01	.13	3.15	.009
North Central	.02	.48	.23	.00	.09	2.71	.016
Adults	25	.49	.24	.00	05	2.39	.026
Operating Years	.15	.49	.24	.00	04	2.10	.044

•

.

٠

٠

Table 4.64

Stepwise Multiple Regression Analysis of Community Residential Facilities

٠

.

served by facilities accounted for the greatest proportion of variability (multiple R = .28). The remainder of the factors consumed relatively small amounts of variability: staff turnover (R^2 change = .05), size (R^2 change = .04), metropolitan location (R^2 change = .03), and staff to resident ratio (R^2 change = .03). In contrast to PRFs, factors such as South census region, occupancy rate, number of levels of mental retardation, and age of admission (children) were not predictive of costs for community facilities and were eliminated from the final regression equation.

In addition to the common set of predictors that affect both public and community residential facilities, there are several additional factors that are applicable only to community residential facilities. These additional variables include index of staffing/ services, membership in a system, and ownership (family run, profit, nonprofit). A complete matrix of all of these factors is presented in Table 4.65.

The correlation matrix of this expanded set of variables (Table 4.65) reveals a moderate degree of relationship between family owned facilities and per diem (r=-.45, p < 05), and index of staffing and per diem (r=.48, p <.05). Family owned and operated facilities reported significantly lower per diems than facilities operated as nonprofit or proprietary corporations. Similarly, facilities that offered greater levels of staffing and services reported higher per diems according to earlier results. The last factor of this expanded set was membership in a system, which showed a moderate correlation

																	_
	Per		-			_		-		_							\sim
	Diem		2	3	4	5	6	7	8		10	11	12	13	14	15	16
l Staff Resident Ratio	.16																
2 Severe/Profound MR	. 28	.07															
3 Children Admitted	.18	.02	. 20														
4 Adults Admitted	25	05	31	71													
5 Size	. 25	03	.13	.03	29												
6 Operating Years	.15	.07	.12	.15	41	.53											
7 Northeast Census	.08	04	18	.03	02	04	.02										
8 North Central Census	.02	.09	.10	06	.08	.06	03	39									
9 South Census	.00	.00	.01	02	.00	.06	.05	23	36								
10 Number of MR Levels	.15	.01	. 25	.05	17	. 25	.13	04	.10	.05							
11 Occupancy Rate	.13	27	. 26	.12	20	.17	. 10	.04	06	.04	.14						
12 Staff Turnover	22	.02	.03	12	. 14	06	13	22	.01	03	25	11					
13 System Membership	.16	.16	05	02	.09	. 05	13	.10	06	. 18	04	.07	.07				
14 Family Operated	45	04	14	05	.05	30	13	13	06	20	15	25	.08	38			
15 Profit Operated	34	08	03	10	.10	15	05	12	.09	19	04	23	03	38	.72		
<pre>16 Index of Staffing/Services</pre>	. 48	. 19	. 21	.13	24	.53	. 36	.09	.00	.14	.24	. 20	18	. 27	59	40	-
17 Metropolitan Location	14	.07	03	18	.12	.04	.13	03	. 24	06	.01	17	12	17	.12	.14	07

4

٠

•

Table 4.65

Correlation Matrix of a Second Set of Predictors and Dependent Variable for Community Residential Facilities

.....

.

.

with per diem (r=.16). Multicollinearity among independent variables did not occur.

The results of the stepwise regression analysis with the second set of factors is reported in Table 4.66. The overall regression equation accounted for greater variability, 38% with a multiple R = .62, as contrasted with the previous analysis using a common set of predictors (R^2 =24%, multiple R = .49). Of greatest importance to the change in explained variability was the first factor, the index of staffing/services which accounted for the same amount of variability as the overall equation of the previous analysis. In addition, family ownership, the proportion of severely or profoundly mentally retarded residents served, and staff turnover also made significant contributions to the prediction of costs. Family ownership and staff turnover were inversely related to cost.

Stepwise Multiple Regression Analysis of Community Residential Facilities with a Second Set of Factors

Independent Variable	Simple r	Multiple R	R ²	R ² Change	Beta Weight	F Ratio	Significance Level
Index of Staffing/Services	.48	.48	.23	.23	.23	20.69	<.0001
Family Owned	45	.52	.28	.04	23	12.75	<.0001
Proportion of Severely or Profoundly Mentally Retarded	.28	.55	.31	.03	.19	9.73	<.0001
Staff Turnover	22	.57	.33	.02	20	7.99	<.0001
Metropolitan Location	14	.58	. 34	.01	12	6.63	<.0001
South	.00	.59	.35	.01	09	5.70	<.0001
Staff to Resident Ratio	.16	.60	.36	.01	.07	5.01	<.0001
Adults	25	.61	.37	.01	13	4.47	<.0001
Profit	35	.61	.37	.00	10	3.97	.001
Occupancy Rate	.13	.61	. 38	.00	07	3.57	.001
Number of MR Levels	.15	.61	.38	.00	04	3.20	.002
Operating Years	.15	.62	. 38	.00	05	2.90	.003
Size	.25	.62	.38	.00	.03	2.64	.006
Children	.25	.62	. 38	.00	03	2.41	.010
North Central Census Region	.02	.62	.38	.00	.02	2.21	.017

т **к**

4

٠

.

,

V. DISCUSSION

Results will be discussed in the same order as presented in the last chapter. The order of topics will be 1) revenue, 2) expenses, 3) capital investments, 4) selected factors related to cost, and 5) cost function analysis.

Revenue

In order to interpret the estimated revenue for public and community residential facilities, an appropriate context of national patterns in the health care industry must be established.

The U.S. Congressional Budget Office reported in 1977 on the long term care needs of elderly and disabled people. The report estimated that between 1.9 to 2.7 million people received long term care under government programs in 1975 but the total demand for services was about 5.5 to 9.9 million people. During this same year, federal, state, and local governments spent \$5.7 to \$5.8 billion on long term care with the federal share (56%) estimated to be \$3.1 billion. Approximately 77% of the federal money came from Medicaid.

During the past 25 years, the long term care expenditures have reflected the broader pattern of growth in the national health sector. Between 1950 and 1970, medical care prices increased almost twice as fast as all prices as measured by the Consumer Price Index. The

following indicators demonstrate the significant growth in cost in the health area as reported in the government publication, Health, United

States, 1978:

From 1966 to 1975, nursing home expenditures rose more than 500%. In 1976, the nursing home industry reported expenditures of \$10.6 billion. The 1977 outlay of \$12.6 billion was almost 10 times the level of 1965 expenditures. (p. 96)

Between 1965 and 1977, public expenditures rose at nearly twice the rate of private expenditures. By 1977, public expenditures accounted for 42% of all spending for health care, up from the relatively stable 25% share from 1950 to 1965, the years just preceding implementation of Medicare and Medicaid. (p. xvii)

National health expenditures rose to \$162.6 billion in fiscal year 1977, or \$737 per person. The health expenditure accounted for the largest share of the Gross National Product yet reported for health expenditures (8.8%). (p. xvii)

The responsibility for residential care of mentally retarded people is and will continue to be distributed between the public and private sectors. The President's Committee on Mental Retardation (1976) estimated that for all mental retardation programs:

Public costs are divided approximately 10% federal and 90% state and local. Private costs fall probably about 70% upon families, with 30% divided among voluntary fund raising operations, service organizations, and private foundations. The percent division between public and private sectors is difficult to estimate with any precision because of the lack of hard data, especially on family contributions. (pp. 131-132)

Conley (1973) concluded that residential care for mentally retarded people is costly, while Blatt et al. (1976) stated that residential care is "big business." In 1968 Conley (1973) estimated the value of all resources used for residential care of the retarded, including public and private institutions, residential schools and other private facilities totaled under \$1 billion (\$998,474,000) and exceeded \$1 billion in 1970 (\$1,268,233,000).

Through periodic surveys of public residential facilities, Scheerenberger (1979) has estimated the growth of PRF budgets from \$.5 billion in 1970 to over \$3 billion in fiscal year 1978-1979. The differences between Conley and Scheerenberger are due to differences in timing of surveys, the methods used in arriving at estimates, and the type of variables included in the estimates. Conley included capital investments, volunteer labor, and resident labor, while Scheerenberger did not.

The estimate of over \$2.7 billion in expenses made in this study is in agreement with Scheerenberger's figures. Scheerenberger stated that the \$3 billion figure for fiscal year 1979 should be accepted as only a minimum estimate that covers direct expenses for variable items such as personnel and other operating expenses. The detail of questions used in the mail survey long form of Scheerenberger are limited to total operating costs (personnel, other, capital), capital construction, and per diem. The long form was completed by 174 facilities in 1979. A short form survey was completed by 104 facilities and contained questions about total operating budget and per diem only. The interview survey used a more detailed revenue and expense statement for fiscal year 1978 and was completed by all 236 of the sampled facilities.

As presented in Table 4.3, the total revenue of public and community residential facilities in 1977-78 exceeded \$3.11 billion. The

growth in total revenue from 1970 to 1978 for public residential facilities is similar to the indicators reported for the entire health care industry including nursing homes. Public residential facilities are virtually completely supported by government funds (98%). Of the \$2.6 billion invested by government levels in public residential facilities, \$1.9 billion was contributed by state governments, but these figures probably include some federal dollars. The federal contribution of \$643 million is undoubtedly an underestimate of what states received because the facility respondents might not be informed of the actual federal participation level. Regions and county levels of government apparently do not make significant financial contributions to the costs of public residential facilities. Similarly, the other sources of revenue (resident/family and contributions) account for approximately 2% of the total sources of revenue.

In contrast to public residential facilities, the revenues of community residential facilities (Table 4.2) come from a more balanced array of sources. For example, federal (\$125 million) and state participation (\$120 million) are followed closely by resident/family contributions (\$93 million). Overall, government support is 72% of all revenue with the remaining 28% coming from resident/family contributions (20%), and donations (8%). The public residential facility total revenue of \$2.6 billion is five times greater than the community residential facility revenue of \$484 million. It is important to note that while the total number of residents served is only 2.5 times greater in PRFs than CRFs, the level of dependency among residents is
much greater in PRFs than CRFs. This factor is especially important to consider in evaluating cost data, since the level of dependency has been found highly correlated with cost of care in other long-term care studies (Piasecki, et al., 1977; Primrose, 1972). In addition, the public residential facilities almost always included day programming costs while approximately 25% of the CRFs included such expenses.

The regional patterns of PRF and CRF revenue (Tables 4.11, 4.12, and 4.13) are similar to other studies in this area. The Northeast region had the highest reported revenue. This regional trend has been reported in earlier studies (Baumeister, 1970; Krantz, Bruininks, & Clumpner, 1978; Scheerenberger, 1978b, 1979) as well as in other human service studies such as the National Nursing Home Study (NCHS, 1979).

The patterns of revenue described in this study offer a comparison between public policy intent and fiscal incentives at a federal level. In its <u>Report to the President</u>, the President's Committee on Mental Retardation (1976) recommended that the federal leadership role in deinstitutionalization should continue:

The federal government should provide financial assistance to the States to cover costs of transition of individuals from institutional to community services, and costs of transforming or replacing central institutions for more functional purposes consistent with the needs of retarded citizens. (p. 134)

As this study has shown, the financial burden of maintaining residents in public residential facilities falls predominantly to the states and federal government while the financing of community residential facilities shifts more to local government resources in tandem with increased contributions from residents/families and charity.

Several authors have noted that federal and state funds tend to finance care provided in the more intensive and expensive settings of public residential facilities. Unfortunately, given limited money, few resources may be left to expand alternatives in the community. The intent of deinstitutionalization may remain at the rhetoric stage given the impact of federal fiscal disincentives to use community based alternatives.

Bradley (1978) inquired whether "services are organized in response to federal funding mechanisms at the risk of not meeting the intent of deinstitutionalization and more importantly the needs of the people to be served?" (p. 32). For example, the availability of Title XIX funding was cited by a Department of Health, Education, and Welfare Special Task Force on Deinstitutionalization as "offering a strong incentive toward institutional care of the disabled" in opposition to the federal posture of placing mentally retarded people in the least restrictive environment (p. 6). Currently, states may be inclined to renovate and upgrade public residential facilities to comply with standards for Intermediate Care Facilities for the Mentally Retarded necessary for Title XIX funding. At the same time, however, states are urged to reduce the number of mentally retarded residents in public residential facilities. The policy intent is thus thwarted by the fiscal incentives as noted by the National Association of State Mental Retardation Program Directors report (1980):

Because the present federal ICF/MR rules require a facility to comply with complex programmatic, environmental and life safety standards in order to maintain its Title XIX certification, some observers have expressed concern that compliance-

related expenditures in the states--both in terms of personnel costs and capital improvements--is siphoning off the fiscal resources necessary to initiate communitybased residential and daytime programs. In addition, they are worried that the capital construction dollars required to renovate and modernize buildings on the grounds of large, existing state institutions which lock the states into a long-term commitment to an institutional model of services--a model which many professionals now argue is outmoded and counter productive. (pp. 29-30)

The implications for federal policy makers will be discussed more thoroughly in Chapter VI.

Expenses

The total payroll expenses for PRFs (Table 4.4) was \$2.165 billion or 79% of the total expenses of \$2.7 billion. This proportion is identical with that reported by Scheerenberger (1978a) for PRFs in the United States. The total capital expenses of \$141 million are much lower than the estimated \$278 million for capital outlays as reported by the National Association of State Mental Retardation Program Directors study (1980). The difference of \$137 million can be attributed to methodological difficulties in gathering information from states which appropriate capital outlays for two or three years. The researchers of the National Association of State Mental Retardation Program Directors divided capital outlays equally in instances of multiple reporting years. The data from this survey were collected for a sample of facilities during a single reporting period and probably represent a reasonably accurate picture of how individual facilities depreciate capital costs over several years. All other expenses are comprised of costs other than those for labor (personnel) which tend to vary because they depend on the level of output or services provided during a specified time period such as the fiscal year. Included are items such as food, drugs, supplies, laundry and linen, utilities, and other expenses. Table 4.4 shows that 16% of PRF expenses or \$428 million went toward these types of items. Scheerenberger (1978a) estimated \$607 million (20%) was spent during fiscal year 1978-1979 for all other expenses (p. 21).

As presented in Table 4.5, the payroll expenses of CRFs accounted for 52% of the total operating expenses or \$268 million of the \$518 million total. This proportion for payroll supports other findings including Piasecki et al. (1977), Indiana Department of Mental Health (1975), and O'Connor and Morris (1978) who reported proportions of 50%, 53.2%, and 58%, respectively. Peat, Marwick, Mitchell & Co. (1976) has interpreted the differences between PRF and CRF payroll expenses as the constant rate of underpayment on the part of CRFs for professional and paraprofessional staff.

The breakdown of capital expenses estimated at \$60 million (12% of total) and all other expenses estimated at \$194 million (36% of total) seems to corroborate the patterns of smaller studies reported above.

Capital Investments

In 1973 Conley observed that there was little national information on which to estimate the fair rental of land, buildings, and equipment used for the residential care of mentally retarded people. As a result,

Conley noted, "This element of cost is almost always omitted from operating expenditures since these assets are usually owned by the state or operating agency rather than rented" (p. 103).

Conley estimated the total value of capital investments for public and private institutions in 1968 was \$3.2 billion. In order to arrive at this estimate Conley relied upon a 1965 study by the California Department of Mental Health which estimated the replacement cost of an average bed in a state institution was \$15,000. The average per capita capital investment of private residential facilities was based on figures for mentally ill people. The 1968 average per person cost was \$9,000.

Beyond Conley's estimates, little has been reported in the literature on this topic since 1973. The National Association of State Mental Retardation Program Directors (1980) recently completed a survey of state officials on the anticipated capital outlays for a 3-year reporting period. The median per person capital expenditure during this time was \$5,460.

Tables 4.7, 4.8, and 4.9 presented the reported estimates of capital investments for public and community residential facilities. The combined total of \$5.3 billion for land, buildings, and equipment is almost twice as much as Conley's estimate for a decade ago. An additional \$576 million can be attributed to the appraised value of equipment and furnishings. No estimates of land holdings of PRFs and CRFs could be found in the literature. The approximate number of acres for PRFs is 12,359 and 3,441 acres for CRFs.

Locational Factors and Cost

Census Regions

Public residential facilities like nursing homes show regional variation in their revenues and expenditures due to general cost of living differences or to differences in the supply and demand of one or more factors of production (labor, capital, materials). Similar to the National Nursing Home Study and the U.S. Bureau of Census reports on institutionalized populations, the per diems of public residential facilities were substantially higher in the Northeast than in any of the other regions. Personnel expenses were identified in the nursing home study as the major factor contributing to this variation. As shown in Table 4.13, the Northeast region reported the highest payroll expenses totaling \$76.1 million compared to North Central (\$557 million), South \$546 million), and West (\$295 million). The regional differences have also been reported by Baumeister (1970), Krantz, Bruininks, & Clumpner (1978), and Scheerenberger (1978a, 1979).

Metropolitan Location

Unlike previous reports of differences in per diems of halfway houses and nursing homes located in rural and urban areas (Piasecki et al., 1977), the current study found no differences among the types of location. Piasecki and associates reported that facilities for psychosocially disabled people located in rural areas tended to have significantly higher per diem costs (\$18.33) than urban-downtown facilities (\$11.21). In contrast, the results of this study found that both

public and community residential facilities located on an urban fringe cost less than either a central city or rural location, but not significantly less. Both public and community facilities located in major urban areas cost more than facilities in rural areas.

Whether location affects cost probably depends upon the purpose of the facility. If the objective of a community residential facility is to offer domiciliary care only, then the difference in cost between a rural and urban location is dependent upon cost of living differences. On the other hand, if extensive services are needed by residents, location may affect the access and use of existing generic agencies by residents.

Organizational Factors and Cost

Size

The size or number of beds in health care facilities is frequently used as a rough indicator of the supply of care. The underlying assumption is that there is a strong relationship between the number of beds and other service characteristics such as building space, equipment, personnel, and other factors used in providing services.

Sociologists have attempted to ascertain whether size is the key to understanding what happens in an organization or whether size is insignificant compared to other organizational factors (Hall, 1972). There are several ways to measure the size of an organization (number of employees, number of students, number of stockholders number of clients) and these measures have been found to be highly correlated and interchangeable (Anderson & Warkov, 1961). Pugh, Hickson, Hinings, and Turner (1969) analyzed 46 English organizations and assessed the number of employees and the net assets of the organizations. A high correlation (.78) was found between the number of employees and the net assets. Thus, large organizations are large in terms of membership and resources. Pugh et al. concluded that size:

causes structuring of organizations through its effect on intervening variables such as frequency of decisions and social control. . . Large organizations tend to have more specialization, more standardization, and more formalization than smaller organizations. (p. 98)

Traditional economic theory postulates a U-shaped relationship between average costs and size. Theoretically, as the scale of production expands over the lower range of output, certain economies (e.g., quantity discounts, full use of labor and equipment) are realized resulting in decreasing average costs of production. After some point, the extra costs associated with larger size contributes to a reversal in the economy of scale. Knapp (1978) attributed the increase in average cost to "the strain of over-use of some of the equipment and buildings, increased maintenance costs, and difficulties encountered in the administration of the caring services" (p. 32).

Although Baumeister (1970) reported that smaller institutions had higher per capita costs than larger facilities, relatively little is known about economies of scale in residential services for mentally retarded people. As described earlier in the review of literature, the evidence presented in cost studies of hospitals is often conflicting and confusing. The results of correlating size and per diems of PRFs and CRFs resulted in mixed findings. The size of PRFs was negatively correlated (r= -.12) but not at a significant level. On the other hand, the size of CRFs was positively correlated with per diem (r= .22) which was significant (p < .005), but rather low in magnitude.

Table 4.10 presents a comparison of per diems by size categories. Smaller PRFs with fewer than 500 residents reported the highest per diem (\$60.05). The lowest per diem (\$41.68) was reported by the next largest group of PRFs with 500 to 999 residents. The per diem escalated again for PRFs between 1,000 to 1,599 residents (\$47.81) and then went down slightly (\$46.82) for the largest facilities.

The per diems of CRFs are also reported in Table 4.10. A positive linear progression was shown with the smallest facilities reporting the lowest per diems and the larger facilities reporting progressively higher per diems.

The positive relationship between size and per diem in CRFs was probably due in part to the greater number of services that larger facilities tended to offer. The additional cost associated with a broader range of services probably overshadowed efficiencies.

Size and per capita budget figures were reported by Baker, Seltzer, and Seltzer (1977) who reported that small group homes (6-10 residents) were twice as expensive as large group homes (21-40 residents). There were 86 small facilities and 12 larger facilities in that sample which could explain some of the variation. O'Connor and Morris (1978) found that size was significantly related to capital costs only.

Johns, Chapman, and Raphael (1976) have suggested that "precisely determining economy of scale is probably futile at this stage of knowledge" (p. 78). In order to determine whether economy of scale exists, cost and output behavior for affected providers have to be known for prior periods. Average variable costs are then projected over different ranges of output. Johns and associates caution, however, that "even if data were available for this purpose, cost estimates are yet again tenuous, for cost changes in response to anticipated competition may occur even as the agency is performing the analysis" (p. 78).

Staff Turnover

Zaharia and Baumeister (1978) estimated the average replacement cost of \$1,562 for technician positions at three state-operated institutions. The majority of the cost (84%) was expended on training replacement staff members. In a similar study of community residential facility house managers, George and Baumeister (1979) estimated the average replacement cost of \$379 for a house manager with training costs equal to 20% of the total amount. In addition to these overhead costs, Zaharia and Baumeister propose that there are programmatic costs associated with disruption in services due to turnover. It has been virtually impossible to calculate these programmatic costs.

The results of this study did not find any significant differences in per diem rates as a result of staff turnover in either community or public residential facilities. The type of cost analysis needed to

determine how turnover affects both program and overhead costs should probably be conducted at the individual organizational level as suggested by Zaharia and Baumeister.

Staff-Resident Ratio

There are several difficulties in attempting to separate causal explanations from statistical explanations in cost analysis studies. Do resident characteristics determine an organization's services which determine the level of staff-resident ratio, or do the staffing patterns and ratios determine which residents will be served by a particular facility? A satisfactory resolution of cause and effect of factors cannot be reached in this study. Nevertheless, staff-resident ratio has been found to be the most highly correlated factor with cost (r=.74) in the O'Connor and Morris (1978) study of group homes in federal Health and Human Service Regions IX and X.

Public residential facilities that had a staff-resident ratio of .66 to .99 reported per diems of \$44.66 while public facilities with a staff-resident ratio of 1.00 to 1.32 reported a per diem of \$54.00. The highest per diems were reported by facilities with staff-resident ratios of 1.33 or greater. Community facilities generally reported a similar pattern.

There is a slight decline in per diem rates of community residential facilities when the staff-resident ratio exceeds 1.33. The decrease in per diem can be attributed to several organizational characteristics which suppress the effects of higher staff-resident ratios. These specific facilities usually serve adults only and tend to be staffed

by direct care staff only who offer domiciliary care only. The adult residents of these facilities tend to be either mildly or borderline retarded.

As described earlier, personnel expenses account for over 75% of PRF budgets and over 50% of CRF budgets. It would appear that there is an expected relationship between adding employees and the increases in operating expenses, particularly in labor intensive industries such as residential facilities.

Index of Staffing/Services

Costs have been found to vary substantially in residential facilities to the extent that particular residents require more specialized or intensive services (Primrose, 1972; Indiana Department of Mental Health, 1976; Mayeda & Wai, 1975; Jones & Jones, 1976; O'Connor & Morris, 1978). In particular, community residential facilities in this study represented a broad range of purposes and concomitant staffing and service arrangements. O'Connor and Morris (1978) characterized this range of roles as follows:

At one end of the continuum, the purpose of the facility is to have a heavy programmatic orientation and provide a strong skill training program. The other end of the continuum suggests that a CRF should function as a home environment, providing the warmth and support of "significant others." (p. 25)

The amount of money spent on training residents ranged in the O'Connor and Morris study from \$0 to \$190 per month.

As described earlier, community residential facilities in this study were categorized according to an index of staffing and services proposed by Piasecki et al. (1977). Significant differences were reported among the levels of this index with facilities operated by direct care staff only reporting the lowest per diem (\$11.85). As the number and type of staffing/service levels increased, the per diem also increased to a high of \$31.47. This finding confirms similar results reported by Piasecki et al. (1977) for halfway houses.

Occupancy Rate

Substantial variation in occupancy rates should have important consequences in cost because per diem is calculated on the basis of the number of residents (Peat, Marwick, Mitchell & Co., 1976; Piasecki et al., 1977). Piasecki and associates reported that if there were a substantial number of empty beds in nursing homes and halfway houses, there were higher per day per resident costs. Similarly, Peat, Marwick, Mitchell & Co. estimated an average of \$3.00 per day difference between a facility operating at 100% occupancy and 90% occupancy. Public residential facilities with 90% occupancy reported per diems that were almost \$10.00 greater than those with 100% occupancy. On the community residential side, the per diems at 90% occupancy were approximately \$2.00 higher than facilities with 100% occupancy. As the number of mentally retarded people who leave public residential facilities increases, the differences between occupancy levels will widen even more, representing important consequences for public expenditures.

Ownership

Is there a relationship between proprietary status and economic efficiency? Anthony and Herzlinger (1975) operationalized the differences in organizations in terms of the administrator's goals, purposes, and decision criteria. Newhouse (1970) suggested that because there is no profit motive, nonprofit hospital administrators make decisions in terms of improving the prestige of an institution as measured by the quantity and quality of services delivered. Administrators of nonprofit hospitals strive for bigger and better facilities and resources. Newhouse portrays this built-in drive as the need to expand size and complexity under the rubric of improving the quality of care. Inefficiency and cost overruns occur because of third party payments and philanthropic contributions remove potential budget constraints.

Proprietary organizations, on the other hand, are usually run by managers whose decisions are guided by the intention of increasing profits while minimizing expenses. Efficiency is implicit in the profit motive.

Community residential facilities were divided according to three types of ownership patterns: 1) proprietary, 2) nonprofit, and 3) family run. There were no government owned and operated CRFs selected in the sample. Public residential facilities were excluded from this analysis because of the obvious organizational differences between CRFs and PRFs. Family run facilities were included as a type of ownership because, according to the respondents, these facilities

do not easily fit into either of the other categories. In terms of organizational structure, a family run facility does not employ any outside staff and is totally owned and operated by family members. A family run facility does not have tax exempt status from the Internal Revenue Service. Such facilities also do not consider themselves as proprietary facilities since their per diems do not contain a profit margin. Accounting is usually not formal in family run facilities. Repeatedly, respondents from family run facilities emphasized that they "spent money until it ran out and they always spent more than they received to care for the mentally retarded residents." Indeed, the results support this contention, since family run facilities operated at significantly lower rates (\$12.56) compared to proprietary (\$23.21) and nonprofit homes (\$24.16). These results support the findings of the nursing home study which found proprietary facilities operating slightly lower than nonprofit facilities, although this difference was not significant.

System Membership

Another phenomenon that has not received adequate attention in the literature is the development of residential facility "chains" or systems of facilities operating under a general ownership or parent organization. In the hospital literature, Lee (1971) has argued that the rapid growth of hospital chains stems from the needs of administrators to behave as conspicuous producers.

In sociology, there has been "very little research on the growth of organizations" (Hall, 1972, p. 134). Starbuck (1965) has proposed

a framework of motivations to explain why growth is important to

administrators:

- 1. Organizational self realization (trying to accomplish better what the organization is attempting to do)
- 2. Adventure and risk (the desire for new experiences)
- 3. Prestige, power, and job security
- 4. Executive salaries (salaries rise exponentially as organization size increases)
- 5. Profit
- 6. Costs
- 7. Revenue
- 8. Monopolistic power
- 9. Stability
- 10. Survival (p. 454)

Starbuck has suggested that growth is often not an end in itself but is a means of attaining other goals or is a side effect of such attainment. The results of this study indicate that systems of CRFs operate at significantly higher cost (\$22.75) than nonsystems (\$17.72). The nonsystems, however, include family run facilities. However, it does not appear from these data that economies are achieved by expansion in the number of facilities operated under system ownership. Further examination of this issue, holding other factors constant, appears necessary before any conclusions can be drawn.

Number of Years in Operation

Residential facilities which are open for a short period of years experience disproportionate costs due to start up expenses. According to Piasecki et al. (1977), the initial costs for beginning a group home may equal or surpass the annual budget for operating the program. Among the expenses during the beginning years, Piasecki et al. (1977) enumerated the following: building rent and rent deposits, mortgages, incorporation and related legal fees, remodeling to meet building code standards or program requirements, personnel recruitment and training efforts, rent or purchase of furnishings and consumable supplies, professional services, and community relations efforts. (p. 13)

In analyzing the initial costs of halfway houses and nursing homes, Piasecki and associates noted that significant economies can be realized if physical plant requirements are minimal and existing community resources and services can be used. However, the greater the intensity of services, the greater the initial costs.

The results of this study indicate that public residential facilities which were opened from one to six years ago had a significantly higher per diem, \$72.28, than all other categories. This finding confirms Piasecki's observations since these facilities were smaller in scale (100-200 beds), had more stringent physical plant requirements necessary to meet Intermediate Care Facility for Mentally Retarded Standards, and provided intense levels of service, including medical care.

Community residential facilities did not exhibit the wide variability in per diem by the number of years in operation. The older facilities tended to be large residential schools which reported higher per diems than more recently opened facilities which offered domiciliary care only.

Resident Factors and Cost

Age of Residents

O'Connor and Morris (1978) reported a high negative correlation between cost and age of residents (r=-.61). Younger residents cost twice as much as adults, according to O'Connor and Morris. Almost all public residential facilities have admission criteria which allows people of all ages to reside in the facilities. Some variability was evident in per diem rates of public residential facilities, but the differences were not significant. Children's facilities reported the lowest per diem at \$36.00, while facilities serving all ages reported per diems of \$52.58. On the other hand, community residential facilities in this study reported per diems that showed significant differences. Facilities for children reported per diems of \$24.74, while adult facilities operated at a per diem of \$18.39. The staffing ratio needed to care for children would probably account for the bulk of this difference.

Number of Levels of Mental Retardation

Case mix or the range of cases served has received considerable attention in hospital cost studies. It has been proposed that the wider the range of services or output provided by a hospital, the greater the cost. Lave, Lave, and Silverman (1972) found that hospitals treating relatively large proportions of unusual cases had higher costs. Residential facilities for mentally retarded people may serve a similar "mix" in terms of the number of different levels of mental retardation.

Some facilities may serve only one level of retardation while other facilities may serve all four levels. According to the results of this study, there were no significant differences in the mix or number of levels of mental retardation in either public or community residential facilities.

Community residential facilities reported higher per diems when all four levels (\$23.07) of mental retardation were served when compared with facilities serving one level only (\$17.85). The difference was not significant, however. A more refined measure of case mix may be necessary in future research studies to test whether a relationship exists with cost.

Proportion of Severely or Profoundly Mentally Retarded Residents

As described in an earlier section on staffing and services, costs have been found to vary substantially in residential facilities to the extent that particular residents require more specialized or intensive services (Primrose, 1972; Indiana Department of Mental Health, 1976; Mayeda & Wai, 1975; Jones & Jones, 1976; O'Connor & Morris, 1978). According to O'Connor and Morris (1978), "the most difficult variable to categorize facilities on was IQ and level of functioning of the residents. . . . Further, on the whole, the heterogeneity within facilities was as great or greater than between facilities" (p. 41).

Heterogeneity of IQ appears to be a prevalent pattern among community residential facilities as contrasted with public residential facilities. For those community facilities which served no or less than one-half severely or profoundly retarded residents, the per diem

costs were significantly lower than facilities which were predominantly serving the same type of residents. Resident characteristics must be considered interrelated to the type of staffing/services offered as well as the staff to resident ratio needed to provide the necessary level of programming. This combination of factors probably influenced the variation in per diem rates.

In comparison, public residential facilities which served all severely or profoundly mentally retarded residents had a substantially higher per diem (\$58.68) than those public facilities serving fewer than 75% of the same type of resident (\$46.86). The difference was not significant, however.

Cost Function Analysis

Discussion of the regression outcomes is an extension and elaboration of the multiple relationships presented to this point. Cost function analysis allows for a greater understanding of the interrelationships that exist among and between predictors and the dependent variable, cost of care.

Public Residential Facilities

Table 4.62 presented the results of a stepwise, multiple regression with per diem cost of public residential facilities defined as the dependent variable. Over 47% of the variance (multiple R = .69) in per diem was accounted for using this equation. This outcome is quite comparable to Piasecki et al. (1978) regression analysis for nursing homes which accounted for 44% of the variance (multiple R = .67). In all, thirteen factors comprised the final equation which had an overall significance of p <.005. The variables are presented in decreasing order of F ratios in Table 4.62.

The single factor consuming the greatest amount of variance was staff to resident ratio ($R^2 = .24$) which is an identical finding of Piasecki et al. (1978) analysis of halfway houses. Personnel expenses were reported earlier as the single largest expense consuming 79% of the overall budget of public residential facilities. These two findings are consistent.

Location in the Southern census region was the second most important factor in accounting for variance, and was negatively related to per diem cost. A similar finding was reported for both halfway houses and nursing homes by Piasecki and associates (1978). Newer facilities tended to have higher per diems than facilities in operation for several years. The number of operating years accounted for an additional 4% of the variability. Facilities which served only adults were negatively correlated with per diem (r= -.11) and accounted for 6% of the variability.

Once these variables have been introduced, the amount of residual variation explained by the remaining nine factors was less than 4%. The underlying dimensions of the first four critical factors are a) staff to resident ratio, b) geographic location, c) number of years in operation, and d) age of resident served.

Community Residential Facilities

As a means of comparing the effectiveness of this same set of factors on the per diems of community residential facilities, a similar regression analysis was performed with the results reported in Table 4.64. The overall significance level (p < .05) was much higher than the significance level for public residential facilities (p < .005). Nine variables were included in the final equation for community residential facilities, four fewer than the equation for public residential facilities.

The single factor which accounted for the greatest amount of variability in per diem cost was the proportion of residents who were severely or profoundly mentally retarded. As noted earlier, community residential facilities serve a broader range of levels of mental retardation than public facilities that predominantly serve the most severely handicapped residents.

Staff turnover was the second most important factor (R^2 change = .15) which was negatively correlated (r= -.22) with per diem. In other words, as per diem costs increase, turnover decreases. It is interesting to note that turnover produces no appreciable correlation (r=.03) with the proportion of severely or profoundly mentally retarded residents served.

The third factor to show some minor importance in accounting for variability (R^2 change = .04) was the size or number of residents served. Size is negligibly correlated with the first two critical factors: proportion of severely or profoundly mentally retarded (r=.13) and turnover (r= -.06). The largest residential facilities are also the oldest and often provide residential school services.

Metropolitan location and staff to resident ratio each account for approximately 3% of the remaining variability. In public residential facilities, staff to resident ratio was a much more significant factor in explaining variability of per diems, while metropolitan location occupies a similar position in both equations. Higher per diems are reported by facilities located in urban areas and by facilities with higher staff to resident ratios.

Perhaps the first factors entered in both equations is a reflection of the respective sensitivity displayed by the indicators. However, common to both the factors of staff to resident ratio and proportion of severely handicapped residents is an underlying dimension of organizational responsiveness to resident characteristics. On the public residential facility side, this responsiveness is reflected in staff to resident ratio while on the community side, it is best expressed by the proportion of residents who are severely or profoundly mentally retarded In summary, the regression analysis of community residential facilities revealed a different set of variables influencing per diem including: a) the proportion of severely or profoundly mentally retarded served, b) staff turnover, c) size, d) metropolitan location, and e) staff to resident ratio. These findings partially support the results of a regression analysis performed on 29 community residential facilities performed by O'Connor and Morris (1978). They reported that the first factor, which was related to both operating costs and total costs, was "a combination of staff to resident ratio, degree of programming, and age of residents" (p. 58).

As described in Chapter IV, a supplementary cost function analysis was performed on the data of community residential facilities in order to include several variables which were unique only to the community sector. This supplementary analysis was presented earlier in Table 4.66.

This supplementary analysis was much more effective in accounting for variability than the use of the common set of predictors: multiple R = .62 and .49, respectively.

The first and most important factor in the supplementary regression analysis was the index of staffing/services which consumed as much variability as the entire first equation (multiple R = .48, R^2 = .23). As shown in Table 4.65, the index of staffing was positively correlated with size (r=.53), number of operating years (r=.36), and negatively correlated with family ownership (r= -.59), and proprietary organizations (r= -.40). There is a moderately high positive correlation between the index of staffing/services and per diem (r=.48). The use of an index for staffing/services was introduced by Piasecki et al. (1977) who also reported "a significant contribution to per diem costs is attributable to the staffing index" (p. 41).

Another supplementary factor included in this analysis was family ownership and operation which was found to be the second most important factor in accounting for an additional 4% variability. As described earlier, family owned and operated facilities tend to operate at significantly lower rates than either proprietary or nonprofit organizations. The remaining factors are closely related to the order of appearance in the first regression equation with proportion of severely or profoundly

mentally retarded residents followed by staff turnover, metropolitan location, and staff to resident ratio.

In summary, the most critical factors revealed in this supplementary analysis were a) index of staffing/services, b) family ownership, c) proportion of severely handicapped residents, and d) staff turnover.

The regression models used in this study did not explain all the variance present in cost per diems of public and community residential facilities. Cohn (1979) noted two reasons accounting for this type of outcome. First, the nature of critical inputs may often be environmental or historical which are difficult to quantify. Second, inputs cannot always be priced once they are defined. For example, in educational production functions, staff constitute the largest single input variable measured by educational level or salary. A preferred proxy for staff would be a refined measure of both the quantity and quality of services rendered. The current study could be improved through refinement in the variables selected for the model particularly in the area of quantity, quality, and mix of services provided; the allocation of capital costs to output; the characteristics, needs, and programming requirements of residents; the overall output or number of residents in average daily attendance; and a throughput measure consisting of the number of admissions, readmissions, releases, respite care stays, and evaluation cases.

The use of cost functions assumes cost minimizing behavior on the part of the administrators or organizations participating. The cost data used in this study may reflect cost maximization rather than cost

minimizing behavior. In nonprofit organizations, the goal of improving services might mean pouring limitless funds into a bottomless receptacle. Those facilities which are private residential schools may be able to attract resources disproportionate to their size or services simply because they are more prestigious.

In contrast with the long run cost assumptions that an organization will change its size in response to the drive for economy of scale, the facilities in this study maintain certain size levels as a function of social values and treatment philosophy. In some states small is beautiful and regulations govern the allocation of resources to group homes that emulate a typical family setting. It would seem plausible and highly desirable in future studies to use a more refined typology of residential facilities rather than the gross distinction between public and community residential facilities. The wide variation in facilities under these headings may be due to different abilities or motivations to minimize costs of production and unequal prices or factors that affect efficiency.

Finally, the application of the regression equations derived in this study to new sample cost data will probably result in shrinkage of the multiple correlations. As described by Kerlinger and Pedhazur (1973), shrinkage occurs because of sampling errors, errors due to intercorrelations among predictors, high ratios of independent variables to sample size, and intercorrelations among predictors with the criterion. In order to estimate the degree of shrinkage, cross validation of the first sample results with a second sample is preferable. However, cross validation was beyond the scope of this study and was not performed.

VI. IMPLICATIONS

The overall purpose of this study was to examine the relationship between the public policy of deinstitutionalization and the costs of public and community residential facilities. The outline of this chapter will begin with a general evaluation of deinstitutionalization as a public policy, followed by a summary of the major findings and the policy implications of findings from this study. The final section of this chapter will contain a discussion of the limitations of this study as well as an outline of future research implications.

Evaluation of Deinstitutionalization as a Public Policy

Several recent publications have placed increased emphasis on public policy analysis through the use of evaluation theory and practices. Simply stated, policy analysis is "finding out what governments do, why they do it, and what difference it makes" (Dye, 1976, p. 1). According to Jones (1977), public policy is developed by means of three major phases: 1) problem identification, 2) program development, and 3) program implementation. The need to deinstitutionalize mentally retarded people from public residential facilities was perceived, defined, and organized by executive orders from Presidents Kennedy and Nixon, based on pressure from interest groups concerned with the welfare of mentally retarded people. Demand for change was intensified by the

civil rights movement of the 1960s, changes in special education practices, and the spillover effects from the deinstitutionalization movement of mentally ill people. Finally, a national goal was set in 1971 for the movement of one-third of 200,000 institutionalized mentally retarded people from state institutions to community alternatives. Table 1.1 presented a more detailed description of each of these important events that constituted the problem identification stage.

During the 1970s, the second phase of the public policy process occurred. Program development occurred through passage of major pieces of legislation, including amendments to the Social Security Act which authorized Title XIX funding for intermediate care facilities and established the Supplemental Security Income program. Several landmark decisions established constitutional rights of mentally retarded residents in relatively large public residential facilities (Wyatt v. Stickney, 1972; Welsch v. Likens, 1974; U.S. v. Solomon, 1974). The Title XX amendments to the Social Security Act and the Developmental Disabilities Bill of Rights Act also established deinstitutionalization as a national policy.

Program implementation also occurred during the 1970s as demonstrated by the movement statistics presented earlier in Figures 1 and 2. The population of mentally retarded residents in public residential facilities steadily declined from the peak population of 194,650 residents in 1967 to the 1979 population of 139,400 residents (Scheerenberger, 1979). The number of CRFs grew exponentially during this same

period. Organizationally, developmental disabilities councils were established in every state to be responsible for preparation of plans outlining community alternatives to institutionalization.

The next cycle in the evaluation process outlined by Jones (1977) consists of assessing the merits of the public policy of deinstitutionalization by a) specification of its objectives, b) measurement of these objectives, c) analysis of data, and d) proposing changes, adjustments, or redefining the problem.

Accepting the public policy of deinstitutionalization as the independent variable and the economic results as presented in this study as the dependent variable, one can examine questions such as, "What is the gain or loss from the distribution of burden on government levels when deinstitutionalization occurs?" In this manner, research can be "used in reconceptualizing the character of policy issues or even redefining the policy agenda" (Weiss, 1977, pp. 15-16).

An evaluation posture has been proposed in the past by government officials but was unattainable due to lack of relevant information. In a paper presented at the National Conference on Social Welfare in 1975, Thomas asked, "How far and fast have we come in deinstitutionalization?" Answering his own question, Thomas stated:

I do not think it is yet possible to evaluate, on a national basis, what the successes and failures of recent efforts to deinstitutionalize have been, although we obviously do know many of the mistakes. In my mind they boil down to over emphasis on saving tax money in the short run at the expense of vulnerable individuals; under emphasis on the creation of high-quality, flexible, community based alternatives; and a general tendency to lose sight of the whole point of the undertaking. (pp. 6-7)

In the long run, Thomas (1975) asserted, "anything which more effectively responds to human needs is cheaper than its predecessor" and deinstitutionalization attempts to meet such needs in a humane, normalizing approach.

Although final conclusions about the evaluation of deinstitutionalization as a public policy may be premature, it seems plausible to outline a few brief implications of this study.

Summary of Major Findings and Public Policy Implications

Constitutional Guarantees and Level of Funding

In 1970, Conley (1973) estimated that the total expenditures for residential care for mentally retarded people exceeded \$1 billion. In less than ten years, that amount has more than tripled, according to the results of this study. The growth in dollars parallels the entire health care industry including nursing homes. Moreover, during the p_c st decade, three major policy premises have been advanced which affect the financial status of deinstitutionalization including: a) mentally retarded residents who are committed to state institutions have a right to treatment, b) the treatment should occur in the least restrictive environment, a principle that serves as the foundation for development of community alternatives, and c) treatment should occur primarily at public expense.

The U.S. Supreme Court is currently reviewing several recent federal court decisions involving the closing of institutions and placement of residents in community facilities. However, government sources

continue to finance long term residential care with a higher proportion of support given to public residential facilities (98%) in comparison with community residential facilities (72%) as presented in this study. The expenditure of billions of dollars to residential care provides evidence of state and national commitment to the long term needs of mentally retarded people.

An emerging policy issue for the coming decade is the impact of deinstitutionalization on the costs of special education in public schools. The right to a free and appropriate education is assured by federal law PL 94-142 and the equal protection clause of the 14th Amendment to the Constitution. According to Marinelli (1975) the equal protection clause means "equal access to differing resources for differing objectives based upon individual need and potential" (p. 248). The direct implication for states and local districts is that equal educational opportunities will require differing amounts of money for each handicapped child. For example, in 1972-1973, less than 60% of all eligible children were receiving educational services due to inadequate resources. Kakalik et al. (1973) estimated the total expenditures for public education was \$2.7 billion in 1972. He further estimated that if all eligible students were appropriately served during that year, the cost would have risen by \$2.5 billion.

Changes in the residential placement of children will have direct impact on the special education financing. As individuals with low incidence levels of severe or profound mental retardation are discharged into community settings and are served by public schools, local district

officials will be forced to create new programs to meet these needs. Marinelli (1975) projected that states will also be required to:

assure that there are adequate funds for the education of handicapped children so that a parent or guardian is not charged for the cost of a child's education. To accomplish this, the states may have to increase their budgets for education, reallocate current levels of funding within the total educational budget, or combine the above, and carefully examine how efficiently current allocations of resources are being consumed. (p. 253)

One of the most crucial factors in special education financing is programming since different educational programs have significantly different costs. It is accepted that special education programs designed to meet the complex needs of multiply handicapped students will require additional specialized personnel. The need for additional personnel implies greater personnel costs and increased total costs. In addition to personnel costs, there are several other factors that may affect expenditures including the community readiness, availability of support facilities and programs, increased transportation costs, coordination, follow through and case management costs as well as necessary monitoring and licensing requirements. It is anticipated that the potential benefits of shifting educational opportunities from private and public institutions to local public schools have greater significance than the reallocation of dollars from one setting to another. Far greater communication and cooperation between education and human service agencies will be needed during the forthcoming decade in order to meet mandates while best serving individual educational needs of children.

Programming Requirements and the Application of Cost Functions

Whether provided in public or community settings, residential care is a labor intensive business. Personnel costs account for 79% of the total expenses of public facilities and 52% of the total community expenses. The patterns and levels of staffing are dependent upon resident characteristics such as age and level of retardation, as well as the type of services offered in the broad range of residential alternatives. Changes in the level of staff to resident ratio have substantial effects upon the cost of providing residential care in both public and community residential settings.

At the present time, policy makers depend upon implicit and arbitrary judgments regarding combinations of input variables such as staff ratios, size of facilities, and type of programming that will provide care commensurate with individual needs. Program standards and requirements set forth by judicial orders or accreditation councils are often formulated by expert opinion not data based research or results of cost function analysis. Although policy makers control the allocation of inputs, their basic objective relates to the level and mix of outputs. If policy makers do not know how input factors combine to produce outputs, the objectives will not be achieved at minimum cost except by chance. Cost functions can be applied to assist policy makers.

In this study, the factors which were found to significantly influence the per diem cost of public residential facilities include: a) staff to resident ratio, b) geographic location, and c) number of years in operation. Higher costs are reported by facilities with higher

staff to resident ratios, facilities located in the Northeast census region, and by facilities which opened in the last six years. States which have undertaken a policy of decentralization by building smaller, specialized public residential facilities may have chosen a costlier method of caring for mentally retarded people in contrast with states which have used community based alternatives.

Although more research and refinement of cost models is needed, the factors which were found to most significantly affect the per diems of community residential facilities were: a) the level of staffing/ services provided, b) the type of ownership, c) resident characteristics such as age and level of retardation, and d) staff turnover. Higher costs were reported by facilities which are larger and provide a full range of services similar to public residential facilities. Family owned and operated facilities were consistently small operations which offered domiciliary care only and reported significantly lower per diems. Lower per diems were also related to two resident characteristics. Adults were significantly less expensive to serve than children, while individuals who were mildly or moderately retarded were also less expensive to serve than more severely handicapped people. Finally, facilities that reported lower turnover had higher per diems, which suggests that these facilities offer higher payments for personnel.

Cost effectiveness analysis between public and community residential facilities seems futile as the characteristics of each group tend to polarize. Public facilities tend to have different purposes, serve a more dependent population, offer broader and more medically

related services, and have greater capital investments in land, buildings, and furnishings. In contrast, community residential facilities usually represent only one portion of the total cost of services with day programming, transportation, and medical services constituting separate costs. To make the two types of settings equivalent for purposes of comparing costs is virtually impossible.

However, if the current movement of residents from public institutions continues, there will have to be a reallocation of funds to community based alternatives. The overall implication of these findings is that the transfer of severely or profoundly mentally retarded people to community based settings requires the necessary level of funding to provide the required level of staffing and services necessary to meet individual needs. While community facilities may not be as expensive as public residential facilities, it is equally true that up to this time, community facilities have not served the same clientele nor provided the same level of services.

Reimbursement Patterns and Future Development of Community Alternatives

In a recent national survey of state mental retardation coordinators, the majority of respondents indicated that during the 1980s there will be an increase in the number of small Intermediate Care Facilities for the Mentally Retarded (Allard & Toff, 1980). This expansion in community based facilities funded under Title XIX will occur because state planners cite the availability of "uncapped" funding. As cited throughout this paper, the manner of resource

allocation should not dictate the provision of services separate from individual needs nor should inappropriate or inefficient residential alternatives be rewarded. The current piecemeal funding sources for community alternatives should be modified to better address the nonmedical residential living requirements of individuals currently served in Intermediate Residential Facilities for the Mentally Retarded.

During the summer, 1980, Senators Bob Packwood, Oregon, and Bill Bradley, New Jersey, introduced a bill in the Senate which would consolidate all community based, long term care and home health care services now handled by Title XVIII (Medicare), Title XIX (Medicaid), and Title XX into a new three-year demonstration program called Title XXI. The purpose of Title XXI, according to the authors of the bill, is to shift from the institutional bias in current programs to a community based approach for both cost and humane purposes (Handicapped Americans Reports, July 3, 1980).

Rather than building programs around reimbursement sources, policy makers should consider projecting costs based upon a four-step framework proposed by Bernstein, Hartman, and Marshall (1976):

- 1. Determine individual needs and appropriate programming services
- 2. Determine costs of such programs in community settings
- 3. Determine the needed levels or amounts of funding necessary to provide the required levels of staffing and services
- 4. Determine an allocation method to distribute funds to ensure equity for involved individuals and programs.

State policy makers would need an enormous amount of data and technical expertise to use this approach for planning purposes. Rational policy
making is often superceded by political negotiation. For example, determination of costs can occur by three methods. First, there is an empirical approach using historical data to project current and future needs. The drawback of this method is that historical data may not approximate current needs. Past expenditures may be the result of ceilings, political arbitrariness, tradition, or inefficiencies. A second approach is the involvement of experts who use historical data but are able to project what ought to exist and what innovative changes would cost. The disadvantage of this approach is that the choice of experts is subjective and legislators may discount opinions of experts. Finally, levels of funding may be determined by negotiation among various interest groups and the effectiveness of lobbying. The disadvantage of this approach is that the very costly needs of those with more serious and often less socially visible handicaps have been frequently neglected. Although impractical, the four-step framework in planning future changes would assist state policy makers in using economic resources judiciously while balancing the rights and needs of mentally retarded people with an effective and efficient system of residential alternatives (Bernstein, Hartman, & Marshall, 1976).

Limitations

There are five major sources of error in the present study, including a) definition of the population, b) sampling errors, c) measurement errors, d) reporting limitations of respondents, and e) specification errors.

Definition of Population

The present study is predicated on the 1977 national mail censuses of public and community residential facilities conducted by Scheerenberger (1978a) and Bruininks, Hauber, and Kudla (1979). The original definitions used to describe public residential facilities did not include state and county mental hospitals with units for mentally retarded people, while the community residential facility definition excluded generic facilities such as board and care homes or supervised apartments. Moreover, Bruininks, Hauber, and Kudla reported the response rate of the community residential facility survey was 87.9% which introduces biases of unknown proportions about the population frame.

Sampling Errors

The data for this study were collected for a sample of facilities rather than the entire population. The data are subject to sampling errors as presented in Tables D.1 and D.2. Sampling errors are caused from taking a small portion of a population rather than a complete census. The particular subset of the population used in this study is only one of many possible subsets. Estimates derived from this sample group may differ from estimates derived from other groups selected in the same way. As previously described, non-participation by community residential facilities with over 400 residents introduced biases whose effects are unknown. As a result of all of these factors, the financial estimates included in this paper may underrepresent the costs and relationships involving costs within the universe of residential facilities which serve mentally retarded people.

Measurement Errors

All financial data were self-reported figures that were not checked for accuracy through other sources. Self-reported data are subject to an unknown potential for misrepresentation or bias. For example, respondents may have been unable or unwilling to provide correct information. In other instances, imprecise definitions or questions provided in the survey instrument were subject to interpretation. Finally, accounting procedures are not standardized, and this variability in accounting methods could create a potential for error.

Although every effort was made to minimize recording, coding, and processing mistakes, there could have been data handling errors during the analysis stage.

Reporting Limitations of Respondents

Questions assessing the sources of revenue and appraised value of land and buildings are very difficult questions for respondents, regardless of willingness to provide information. The appraised value of land and buildings is a complex issue that had to be handled with the best possible estimates available to financial officers. As discussed previously, the sample facilities may not be the most informed sources about the federal contributions of revenue to states for residential care. As a result, the best estimates of sources of revenue may overestimate the state contributions and underestimate the federal participation.

Specification Errors

The proposed cost function models tested in this study failed to explain the majority of variance in per diems. The model may be limited by an error in specifying all relevant independent variables. This limitation may be a result of erroneous omission of variables or including variables that do not serve as effective proxies. For example, the quality and quantity of services provided by a residential facility has not been defined in the literature nor has there been a refined definition for "case mix" of residents. The only means of avoiding this type of bias is to specify and estimate the model as accurately as possible by including all important variables.

Implications for Future Research

Coleman (1972) urged the development of multiple research approaches to bridge the world of academic discipline with the world of policy and action. Referring to these activities as policy research, Coleman noted that evaluation of social policies required systematic information that had a philosophical and conceptual design that was timely, produced results, and was translatable between the university setting and the world of action.

There are at least three basic directions that future research in the area of cost of public and community residential facilities could take. The first area would involve the establishment of a national data bank for maintaining trend data on the number and movement of mentally retarded people and the costs associated with the residential

facilities serving these residents. The second direction of research would be studies concerned with analysis of factors associated with cost using an inferential approach. Finally, cost models can be designed that allow testing assumptions outside the limitations and constraints of the real world. Models have usefulness for planning changes in direction of public policies such as deinstitutionalization.

Research on Descriptive Trends

The need for systematic national collection of cost information of residential services for mentally retarded people has been reiterated throughout this paper. The type of research studies that could be designed include economic analyses of selected topics at the national, state, and local levels. The growth in expenditures of residential care for mentally retarded people is similar to that experienced by the nursing home sector. This expansion marks the growing importance of planning and evaluation activities related to the long term care needs of this target population.

In-depth interview studies similar to the present study should be conducted at regular intervals in the future. The facilities could be a national random cluster sample to allow a team of researchers and accountants to make on-site visits rather than using the national probability sample approach with interviewers who cannot assist respondents in completing the questionnaire. Capital expenses should be examined over a long period of time (10 years) at the facility level as suggested by the National Association of Mental Retardation Program Directors report (1980). National mail surveys of PRFs and CRFs can

gather only limited data compared to an interview study and should be used in intermittent years. The type of questions that can be used in a mail questionnaire would be limited to the total operating budget and the per diem rates.

Once a national data bank on the numbers, movement, and cost of serving mentally retarded people in PRFs and CRFs is established, federal policy makers should combine these figures with trend information gathered for other residential options such as nursing homes and state and county mental hospitals.

From a federal perspective, all residential alternatives for mentally retarded people comprise a residential system. This total system must compete with other programs such as defense and education for scarce resources. As noted throughout this study, all too often the focus of competition for scarce resources has been on two options within the residential system, public and community residential facilities. By concentrating only on those two domains, policy makers have ignored thousands of mentally retarded people and billions of dollars spent on care in nursing homes, state and county mental hospitals, and correctional facilities.

Table 6.1 presents an example of combining census figures for several residential options and comparing the relative use and cost of each type of facility. The estimated number of mentally retarded people served by all these types of facilities totaled over 344,000 at an estimated cost of over \$5 billion. The figures included in this brief schema meet several criteria described by Coleman (1972) as

Table 6.1

٠

Estimated Costs of Residential Services for the Mentally Retarded

Source	Type of Facility	Time Period	Method	Facilities N	Total <u>Residents</u> N	Mk <u>Keside</u> N	nts 1ª	Expenditures \$	Average Yearly Cost Per Resident
Scheerenberger (1978a)	Public Residential Facilities	1977	Mail Survey - Census	263	153,000	152,000	98.8	\$2,500,000,000	\$15,700.00
National Center for Health Statistics (1979)	Nursing Homes	1977	Mail Survey - Sample	18,900	1,303,100	79,800	6.1	658,800,000	8,255.64
Bruininks, Hauber & Kudla (1979)	Community Residential Facilities	1977	Mail Survey - Census	4,427	76,300	62,400	81.8	364,416,000	5,840.00
U.S. Law Enforcement Assistance Administration (1979)	Federal & State Prisons	1977			278,100	26,400	9.5 ^b	468,700,000	17,753.78
National Institute of Mental Health (1979)	State & County Mental Hospitals	1976	Mail Survey - Census	300	170,600	15,500	9.1	291,200,000	18,787.10
National Institute of Mental Health ^C	Private Psychiatric Hospitals	1975	Mail Survey - Sample		129,800 ^d	600	.5	2,334,000	3,890.00 (short term stay)
National Institute of Mental Health	General Hospitals with Psych.	1975	Mail Survey - Sample		515,500 ^e	2,400	.5	3,106,000	1,294.17 (short term stay)
Bruininks, Hill & Thorsheim (1980)	Poster Homes	1977	Mail Survey - Census ^f	2,609	5,000	5,000		15,800,000	3,160.00

.

A Percent of total residents

b Brown and Courtless (1971) 9.5% estimate

C Obtained by phone call to NIMH statistician Marilyn Rosenstein

d Total resident and MR residents based on annual admissions

* Total resident and MR residents based on annual discharges

f Includes only 20 states

.

critical to effective policy research. First, the figures can be compiled on a timely basis and second, the figures communicate effectively. By providing an overview of the entire residential spectrum, policy makers can examine the implications of moving large numbers of people from one placement to another.

Analytical Studies

Mayeda and Wai (1975) have asserted that federal and state policies for payments of human service delivery of care are not always consistent with the goals and objectives of human development. The reimbursement patterns for services should, in theory, represent the utilization of services according to the behavioral needs and profiles of individual clients. The current trends appear to be a reverse of that theory with those services which are more highly reimbursable utilized more heavily. A policy analysis of federal and state fiscal mechanisms should be designed to assess whether costs cluster in relation to state and federal budgets, policies, and limits. The current sample was a nationally representative group of facilities which prohibited state by state analyses to determine whether higher costs were associated with those states which had a greater commitment to human services.

At a state or local level, smaller studies should be designed to examine the relative efficiency of residential alternatives. In particular, costs should be related to measured outcomes such as resident growth and progress over time. Heal and Switzky (1976) proposed to study the cost effectiveness of community residential alternatives through assessment of individual outcomes (quality of life and competencies in social, vocational, and self help areas).

Cost Models

Building cost models may be a preferred planning approach in the future given an adequate base of cost estimates. In 1976, Peat, Marwick, Mitchell, and Co. developed cost estimates for various residential alternatives, as described in Chapter II. More recently, the Retardation Program Office of the Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services in Florida commissioned a study analyzing project costs of building facilities for severely/profoundly retarded individuals with multiple handicaps. Per person annual costs were estimated for residents living in three different options: 1) state institution, 2) a 24-bed developmental medical cluster calculated separately for state operation or private operation, and 3) five residential alternatives such as a group home for four, community training homes for one, two, and three residents, and a hub residence for eight residents calculated separately for state operation or private operation.

State operated facilities tend to run at higher costs because of salary levels and benefits. The funding for state institutions is primarily state appropriation while the other community placements used several funding sources with the greatest proportion covered by federal money such as Title XIX.

The projected cost of building new 8-bed facilities to house the remaining resident population at two state institutions totaled \$35.5 million. This \$48.00 per square foot figure was compared with several other types of facilities such as dormitories (\$38.45), hospitals (\$59.05), prisons (\$48.50), and ICF/MR facilities (\$42.86). Last of all, the report contained a brief outline for implementation.

The potential benefits of using cost models such as the Florida study include: a) preparation of a report that contains complete information rather than partial cost projections, b) timeliness in meeting legislative needs, c) correctness of predictions based on objective sources of information, and d) translation of a policy into concrete tasks with a timeline for implementation.

٠

REFERENCES

- Alkin, M. C., & Benson, C. S. Economy of scale in the production of selected educational outcomes. Administrator's Notebook, May 1968.
- Allard, M. A., & Toff, G. E. <u>Current and future development of inter-</u> <u>mediate care facilities for the mentally retarded: A survey of</u> <u>state officials</u>. Washington, DC: Intergovernmental Health Policy Project, 1980.
- Allen, R. G. D. <u>Mathematical analysis for economists</u>. London: Macmillan, 1962.
- Anderson, N., Greenberg, J., Patten, S., & Fine, R. <u>A comparison of</u> the cost effectiveness of in-home and nursing home care. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota, 1976.
- Anderson, N., Holmberg, R., Schneider, R., & Stone, L. Policy issues regarding nursing homes: Findings from a Minnesota survey. Minneapolis: Institute for Interdisciplinary Studies, American Rehabilitation Foundation, 1969.
- Anderson, T., & Warkov, S. Organizational size and functional complexity. American Sociological Review, 1961, 26(1), 25.
- Anthony, R., & Herzlinger, R. <u>Management control in nonprofit</u> organizations. Homewood, IL: Richard D. Irwin, Inc., 1975.
- Bachrach, L. Deinstitutionalization: An analytical review and sociological perspective. (NIMH, Series D No. 4, DHEW Publication No. (ADM) 79-351). Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1976.
- Baker, B., Seltzer, G., & Seltzer, M. <u>As close as possible</u>. Cambridge, MA: Behavioral Educational Projects, Harvard University, 1977.
- Baumeister, A. The American residential institution: Its history and character. In A. A. Baumeister & E. C. Butterfield (Eds.), <u>Residential facilities for the mentally retarded</u>. Chicago: Aldine Publishing Co., 1970.
- Beatrice, E. <u>State services for mentally retarded citizens</u> Boston: United Community Planning Corporation, 1974.

- Beattie, W., & Bullock, J. Evaluating services and personnel in facilities for the aged. In M. Leeds & H. Stone (Eds.), <u>Geriatric</u> institutional management. New York: Putnam, 1963.
- Berki, S. <u>Hospital economics</u>. Lexington, MA: Lexington Books, D. C. Heath & Co., 1972.
- Bernstein, C., Hartman, W., & Marshall, R. Major policy issues in financing special education. Journal of Education Finance, 1976, <u>1</u>, 299-317.
- Berry, R. Returns to scale in the production of hospital services. Health Services Research, Summer 1967, 123-129. (a)
- Berry, R. Economies of scale, optimal size, and relative savings in the production of hospital services. Addendum, unpublished and a result of HEW Grant No. CRD 408-7-265 and No. CRD 457-8-303, 1967. (b)
- Berry, R. Product, heterogeneity and hospital cost analysis. <u>Inquiry</u>, March 1970, <u>13</u>, 67-75.
- Berry, R., & Carr, W., Jr. Efficiency in the production of hospital services. Unpublished final report, June 1973.
- Bill to consolidate home health care introduced in Senate. <u>Handicapped</u> <u>Americans Report</u>, July 3, 1980, 3(13), 3.
- Blalock, H. Correlated independent variables: The problem of multicollinearity. Social Forces, 1963, 42, 233-237.
- Blatt, B., Bogden, R., Biklen, D., & Taylor, S. From institution to community: A conversion model. Syracuse University (unpublished manuscript), 1976.
- Bowers, G., & Bowers, M. The elusive unit of service. Washington, DC: Project Share, Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, 1976.
- Braddock, D. <u>Opening closed doors</u>. Reston, VA: Council for Exceptional Children, 1977.
- Bradley, V. <u>Deinstitutionalization of developmentally disabled persons</u>. Baltimore, MD: University Park Press, 1978.
- Brown, B., & Courtless, T. The mentally retarded offender. <u>The</u> <u>National Institute of Mental Health DHEW Publication No. HSM 72-</u> <u>9039</u>. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1971.
- Bruininks, R., Hauber, F., & Kudla, M. <u>National survey of community</u> residential facilities: A profile of facilities and residents in <u>1977</u>. Minneapolis: Department of Psychoeducational Studies, University of Minnesota, 1979.

- Bruininks, R., Hauber, F., & Kudla, M. National survey of community residential facilities: A profile of facilities and residents in 1977. <u>American Journal on Mental Deficiency</u>, 1980, 84(5), 470-478.
- Bruininks, R., Hill, B., & Thorsheim, M. <u>A profile of foster home</u> services for mentally retarded persons in 1977. Minneapolis: Department of Psychoeducational Studies, University of Minnesota, 1980.
- Bruininks, R., Thurlow, M., Thurman, S., & Fiorelli, J. Deinstitutionalization and community services for developmentally disabled people. In J. Wortis (Ed.), <u>Mental retardation and developmental</u> <u>disabilities: An annual review, Volume X</u>. New York: Bruner/Mazel, 1980.
- Bureau of Labor Statistics. Autumn 1978 urban family budgets and comparative indexes for selected urban areas. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Labor, 1979.
- Burns, T., & Hendrickson, H. The accounting primer: An introduction financial accounting. New York: McGraw-Hill, 1972.
- Caiden, N. Collection of data of public expenditures for care of the mentally disabled. Washington, DC: American Bar Association, Division of Public Service Activities, October 1978.
- Carr, W., & Feldstein, P. The relationship of cost to hospital size. Inquiry, March 1967, 10, 45-65.
- Cohen, H. Hospital cost curves with emphasis on measuring patient care output. In J. Klarman (Ed.), <u>Empirical studies in health economics</u>. Baltimore, MD: Johns Hopkins University Press, 1970, 279-293.
- Cohn, E. Economies of scale in Iowa high school operations. Journal of Human Resources, 1968, 3(4), 422-434.
- Cohn, E. A proposal for school size incentives in state aid to education. Journal of Education Finance, 1975, 1, 216-225.
- Cohn, E. The economics of education. Cambridge, MA: Ballinger, 1979.
- Cohn, E., & Hu, T. Economies of scale, by program, in secondary schools. Journal of Educational Administration, 1973, <u>11</u>(2), 302-313.
- Cohn, E., & Morgan, J. Improving resource allocation within school districts: A goal-programming approach. Journal of Education Finance, 1978, 4, 89-104.

•

- Coleman, J. Equality of educational opportunity. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1966.
- Coleman, J. <u>Policy research in the social sciences</u>. Morristown, NJ: General Learning Press, 1972.
- Conley, R. The economics of mental retardation. Baltimore, MD: Johns Hopkins University Press, 1973.
- DHEW Special Task Force on Deinstitutionalization Report. Cited in Ross, E. <u>The federal government's deinstitutionalization program</u> <u>initiatives: A status report</u>. Washington, DC: United Cerebral Palsy Associations, Inc., 1979.
- Dean, J. <u>Statistical cost estimation</u>. Bloomington: Indiana University Press, 1976.
- Department of Health, Education, and Welfare. <u>Residents in public</u> <u>institutions for the mentally retarded, July 1, 1969-June 30, 1970</u>. Washington, DC: Social and Rehabilitation Services, 1970.
- Developmental Disabilities Project on Residential Services and Community Adjustment. <u>Brief #2</u>. Minneapolis: Department of Psychoeducational Studies, University of Minnesota, December 1978.
- Don, Y., & Amir, Y. Institutions for mentally retarded in Israel--cost structure and budget analysis. Mental Retardation, 1969, 7, 36-39.
- Dror, Y. Public policymaking reexamined. Scranton, PA: Chandler, 1968.
- Dybwad, G. Remarks at Northeast Regional Conference, National Association for Retarded Children. Philadelphia, PA: March 11, 1972 (unpublished).
- Dye, T. Policy analysis. Birmingham: University of Alabama Press, 1976.
- Eulan, H., & Prewitt, K. Labyrinths of democracy. Indianapolis: Bobbs-Merrill, 1975.
- Evans, R. Behavioral cost functions for hospitals. <u>Canadian Journal</u> of Economics, May 1971, 4(2), 198-215.
- Evans, R., & Walker, H. Information theory and the analysis of hospital cost structure. <u>Canadian Journal of Economics</u>, August 1972, 398-418.
- Feldstein, M. <u>Economic analysis for health service efficiency</u>. Amsterdam: North-Holland Publishing Co., 1968.

- Feldstein, M. The quality of hospital services: An analysis of geographic variation and intertemporal change. In M. Perlman (Ed.), <u>The economics of health and medical care</u>. London and Basingstoke: Macmillan Press for International Economic Association, 1974, 402-419.
- Feldstein, P. <u>An empirical investigation of the marginal cost of</u> hospital services. Chicago: University of Chicago, 1961.
- Francisco, E. Analysis of cost variations among short-term general hospitals. In J. Klarman (Ed.), Empirical studies in health economics. Baltimore, MD: Johns Hopkins University Press, 1970, 321-332.
- Friedman, B. A test of alternative demand-short responses to the Medicare program. In M. Perlman (Ed.), The economics of health and medical care. New York: John Wiley & Sons, 1973.
- General Accounting Office. <u>Returning the mentally disabled to the</u> <u>community: Government needs to do more</u>. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1977.
- George, M., & Baumeister, A. <u>A study of staff turnover in a community</u> residential facility for adults with developmental disabilities. George Peabody College (unpublished manuscript), 1979.
- Gilhool, T. The uses of courts and of lawyers. In R. Kugel & A. Shearer (Eds.), <u>Changing patterns in residential services for the</u> <u>mentally retarded</u>. Washington, DC: President's Committee on Mental Retardation, 1976.
- Goldsmith, S. Appraisal of an old people's home. <u>Architects Journal</u> Information Library, 1971, 704-713.
- Gollay, E. <u>A study of the community adjustment of deinstitutionalized</u> <u>mentally retarded persons</u>. Vol. 5: An analysis of factors associated with community adjustment. Cambridge, MA: Abt Associates, Contract No. OEC-0-74-9183, U.S. Office of Education, 1976.
- Gordon, R. Issues in multiple regression. <u>American Journal of</u> Sociology, 1968, 73, 592-616.
- Gottesman, L. Nursing home performance as related to resident traits, ownership, size, and sources of payment. Paper presented at American Public Health Association Meeting, Atlantic City, 1972.
- Gottesman, L. Nursing home performance as related to resident traits, ownership, size, and source of payment. <u>American Journal of</u> <u>Public Health, March 1974, 64, 269-276.</u>

- Greenwald, S., & Linn, M. Intercorrelations of data on nursing homes. Gerontologist, 1971, 11, 337-340.
- Gross, A. The use of cost effectiveness analysis in deciding on alternative living environments for the retarded. In P. Mittler (Ed.), <u>Research to practice in mental retardation</u>, Volume I, IASSMD, 1977.
- Gross, A. The use of cost effectiveness analysis in calculating the cost of providing alternative living environments for the elderly and mentally retarded--can we afford deinstitutionalization. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, Brandeis University, Florence Heller Graduate School for Advanced Study in Social Welfare, 1978.
- Grossman, H. (Ed.). <u>A manual on terminology and classification in</u> <u>mental retardation</u> (Rev. ed.). Washington, DC: American Association on Mental Deficiency, 1977.
- Haas & Reed Architects & Planners, Inc. <u>Analysis of facilities for the</u> <u>severely and profoundly multiply handicapped-retarded</u>. Jacksonville, FL: Haas & Reed Architects & Planners, Inc., 1978.
- Hall, R. Organizations. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall, 1972.
- Harris, J. The internal organization of hospitals: Some economic implications. The Bell Journal of Economics, 1977, 8(2), 467-482.
- Hauber, F., Bruininks, R., Wieck, C., Sigford, B., & Hill, B. <u>1978-1979</u> in-depth national interview survey of public and community residential facilities for mentally retarded persons: <u>Methods and</u> <u>procedures</u>. <u>Minneapolis</u>: Department of Psychoeducational Studies, University of Minnesota, 1980.
- Heal, L., & Daniels, B. A cost effectiveness analysis of residential alternatives for selected developmentally disabled citizens of three northern Wisconsin counties. Paper presented at the 102nd Annual Meeting of the American Association of Mental Deficiency, Denver, CO, May 18, 1978.
- Heal, L., Sigelman, C., & Switzky, H. Community residential alternatives for the mentally retarded. In N. R. Ellis (Ed.), <u>International review of research in mental retardation</u>. New York: Academic Press, 1978.
- Heal, L., & Switzky, H. A cost effectiveness analysis of residential alternatives for developmentally disabled individuals. Urbana-Champaign: University of Illinois (unpublished manuscript), 1976.

- Heim, J. Variables related to student performance and resource allocation decisions at the school district level. Albany: The University of the State of New York, State Education Department, Bureau of School Programs Evaluation, 1972.
- Hess, I. Sample design for the study of United States public residential facilities for the mentally retarded, 1978-1979. Ann Arbor, MI: Survey Research Center (unpublished manuscript), 1979. (a)
- Hess, I. Sample design for the study of United States community residential facilities for the mentally retarded, 1978-1979. Ann Arbor, MI: Survey Research Center (unpublished manuscript), 1979. (b)
- Holmberg, R., & Anderson, N. Implications of ownership for nursing home care. Medical Care, 1968, 6, 300-307.
- Horejsi, C. <u>Deinstitutionalization and the development of community</u> <u>based services for the mentally retarded</u>: An overview of concepts and issues. Missoula: University of Montana, 1975.
- Horngren, C. <u>Cost accounting, a managerial emphasis</u>. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall, 1977.
- Indiana Department of Mental Health, Division of Mental Retardation. <u>A progress report on alternate residential facilities in ten</u> <u>agencies operating pilot projects</u>. Indiana Legislative Council, 1975.
- Ingbar, M., & Taylor, L. <u>Hospital costs in Massachusetts</u>. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press, 1968.
- Intagliata, J., Willer, B., & Cooley, F. Cost comparison of institutional and community based alternatives for mentally retarded persons. Mental Retardation, 1979, 17, 154-156.
- Jacobs, P. A survey of economic models of hospitals. Inquiry, 1974, 11(2), 83-97.
- James, H., & Levin, H. Financing community schools. In H. M. Levin (Ed.), <u>Community control of schools</u>. Washington, DC: The Brookings Institute, 1970.
- Johns, L., Chapman, T., & Raphael, M. <u>Guide to financial analysis and</u> introduction to economic impact analysis for health planning. Washington, DC: National Health Planning Information Center, Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, 1976.

Johnston, J. Statistical cost analysis. New York: McGraw-Hill, 1960.

- Jones, C. An introduction to the study of public policy. North Scituate, MA: Duxbury Press, 1977.
- Jones, K., & Jones, P. <u>The measurement of community placement success</u> <u>and its associated costs</u>. Interim Report 2. Medford, MA: Brandeis University, Florence Heller School for Advanced Studies in Social Welfare, 1976.
- Kakalik, J., Brewer, G., Dougharty, L., Fleischauer, P., Genesky, S., & Wallen, L. <u>Services for handicapped youth: A program review</u>. Santa Monica, CA: Rand Corporation, 1973.
- Kerlinger, F., & Pedhazur, E. <u>Multiple regression in behavioral</u> research. New York: Holt, Rinehart & Winston, 1973.
- Kiesling, H. <u>High school size and cost factors</u>. Project Report 6-1590. Washington, DC: U.S. Office of Education, 1968.
- King, R., Raynes, N., & Tizard, J. Patterns of residential care. London: Routledge & Kegan Paul, 1971.
- Kirk, S., & Therrien, M. Community mental health myths and the fate of former hospitalized patients. Psychiatry, 1975, 38, 209-217.

×

- Knapp, M. Cost functions for care services for the elderly. Gerontologist, 1978, 18(1), 30-36.
- Kosberg, J. <u>The comparative analysis of nursing homes in the Chicago</u> <u>area</u>. Chicago: Welfare Council of Metropolitan Chicago, 1971.
- Kosberg, J. Making institutions accountable: Research and policy issues. <u>Gerontologist</u>, 1974, <u>14</u>, 510-516.
- Krantz, G., Bruininks, R., & Clumpner, J. <u>Mentally retarded people in</u> <u>state operated residential facilities: Year ending June 30, 1978</u>. Minneapolis: Department of Psychoeducational Studies, University of Minnesota, 1978.
- Kuenne, R. Average sectoral cost functions in a group of New Jersey <u>hospitals</u> (HEW Grant No. 5 ROl HS 00273-03), Research Monograph #1, Princeton University, October 1972.
- Lakin, K. C. <u>Demographic studies of residential facilities for the</u> <u>mentally retarded: An historical review of methodologies and</u> <u>findings</u>. <u>Minneapolis: Department of Psychoeducational Studies</u>, University of Minnesota, 1979.
- Laux, R. The use of private investment sources to create residential alternatives. Falls Church, VA: National Association of Private Residential Facilities for the Mentally Retarded, January 1980.

- Lave, J., & Lave, L. Hospital cost functions. <u>American Economic Review</u>, 1970, 60(3), 379-395.
- Lave, J., Lave, L., & Silverman, L. Hospital cost estimation controlling for case mix. Applied Economics, 1972, 4(3), 165-180.
- Laventhol, J., Krekstein, N., Horwath, A., & Horwath, S. Variations in costs of care according to level of service offered. Modern Nursing Home, 1968, 22(24), 30-35.
- Lee, M. A conspicuous production theory of hospital behavior. Southern Economic Journal, 1971, 38(1), 48-58.
- Levey, S., Ruchlin, H., Stotsky, B., Kinloch, D., & Oppenheim, W. An appraisal of nursing home care. Journal of Gerontology, 1973, 28, 222-228.
- Lindblom, C. E. <u>The policy-making process</u>. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall, 1968.
- Linn, M. Predicting quality of patient care in nursing homes. Gerontologist, 1974, 14, 225-227.
- Lippman, L. The public. In R. B. Kugel & A. Shearer (Eds.), <u>Changing</u> <u>patterns in residential services for the mentally retarded</u>. Washington, DC: President's Committee on Mental Retardation, 1976.
- Lippman, L., & Goldberg, I. I. <u>Right to education: Anatomy of the</u> <u>Pennsylvania case and its implications for exceptional children</u>. New York: Teachers College Press, 1973.
- Lynch, F. Memorandum to State Developmental Disabilities Council Chairpersons. Washington, DC: Social and Rehabilitation Service, Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, June 11, 1974.
- Mann, J., & Yett, D. The analysis of hospital costs: A review article. Journal of Business, 1968, 41, 191-202.
- Marinelli, J. Critical issues in the financing of education for the handicapped. Journal of Education Finance, 1975, 1, 246-269.
- Mayeda, T., & Wai, F. <u>The cost of long term developmental disabilities</u> <u>care</u>. Pomona, CA: University of California, Los Angeles, Neuropsychiatric Institute, July 1975.
- Menolascino, F. <u>Challenges in mental retardation: Progressive</u> ideology and success. New York: Human Sciences, 1977.
- Mental Health Law Project. Basic rights of the mentally retarded. Washington, DC: Mental Health Law Project, 1973.

- Michelson, S. Equal school resource allocation. Journal of Human Resources, 1972, 7(3), 283-306.
- Mollenkopf, W., & Melville, S. <u>A study of secondary school character-</u> <u>istics as related to test scores</u>. Princeton, NJ: Educational Testing Service, 1956.
- Mott, P. Meeting human needs, the social and political history of <u>Title XX</u>. Columbus, OH: National Conference on Social Welfare, 1976.
- Muller, C. Complexity of surgery as a factor in patients' hospital bills. Medical Care, 1967, 100-116.
- Murphy, J., & Datel, W. A cost-benefit analysis of community versus institutional living. <u>Hospital and Community Psychiatry</u>, 1976, 27(3), 165-170.
- National Association of Retarded Citizens. <u>The right to choose</u>. Arlington, TX: National ARC Office, 1973.
- National Association for Retarded Citizens. <u>Residential services:</u> <u>Position statements of the National Association for Retarded</u> <u>Citizens.</u> Arlington, TX: National Association for Retarded <u>Citizens, 1976.</u>
- National Association of State Mental Retardation Program Directors, Inc. <u>Trends in capital expenditures for mental retardation</u> <u>facilities: A state by state survey</u>. Arlington, VA: National Association of State Mental Retardation Program Directors, Inc., 1980.
- National Association of Superintendents of Public Residential Facilities for the Mentally Retarded. <u>Contemporary issues in residential</u> <u>programming</u>. Washington, DC: President's Committee on Mental Retardation, 1974.
- National Center on Health Statistics. <u>The national nursing home survey:</u> <u>1977 summary for the United States</u>. Hyattsville, MD: National Center for Health Statistics, U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, 1979.
- National Center for Law and the Handicapped. <u>Amicus</u>, March/April 1978, <u>3(2)</u>, 13, 35-37.
- National Center for Law and the Handicapped. <u>Amicus</u>, March/April 1979, $\underline{4}(2)$, 3.

- National Institute of Mental Health. Provisional patient movement and selective administrative data, state and county mental hospitals, inpatient services by state: United States, 1976. <u>Statistical</u> Note, August 1979, 153.
- National Institute of Mental Health. <u>Definitions of use in mental</u> <u>health information systems</u>. Rockville, MD: Alcohol, Drug Abuse, and Mental Health Administration, Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, 1980.
- Newhouse, J. Towards a theory of nonprofit institutions: An economic model of a hospital. American Economic Review, 1970, 60(1), 64-74.
- O'Connor, G. Home is a good place: A national perspective of community residential facilities for developmentally disabled persons (Monograph No. 2). Washington, DC: American Association on Mental Deficiency, 1976.
- O'Connor, G., & Morris, L. <u>A research approach to cost analysis and</u> program budgeting of community residential facilities. Eugene, OR: Rehabilitation Research and Training Center in Mental Retardation, January 1978.
- Osburn, D. D. Economics of size associated with public high schools. Review of Economics and Statistics, 1970, 52, 113-115.
- Peat, Marwick, Mitchell, & Co. <u>The financial requirements of</u> <u>normalized residential services and facilities for persons with</u> <u>developmental disabilities</u>. Chicago: Illinois Advisory Council on Developmental Disabilities, April 1976.
- Penchansky, R., & Taubenhaus, L. Institutional factors affecting the quality of care in nursing homes. Geriatrics, 1965, 20, 591-598.
- Piasecki, J., Pittinger, J., & Rutman, I. <u>Determining the costs of</u> <u>community residential services for the psychosocially disabled</u>. Washington, DC: National Institute of Mental Health, 1977.
- Popp, D. How an administrator views residential service needs. Amicus, March/April 1978, 3(2), 35-37.
- President's Committee on Mental Retardation. <u>Mental retardation</u>: <u>Century of decision</u>. Washington, DC: President's Committee on Mental Retardation, 1976.
- President's Committee on Mental Retardation. <u>Mental retardation and</u> <u>the law</u>. Washington, DC: President's Committee on Mental Retardation, July 1978, 28-42.

- Primrose, D. Differential costs of care in a mental deficiency hospital in Scotland. British Journal of Psychiatry, 1972, 121(565), 623-626.
- Pugh, D., Hickson, D., Hinings, C., & Turner, C. The context of organizational structures. <u>Administrative Sciences Quarterly</u>, 1969, 14(1), 98.
- Rathbone-McCuan, E., Lohn, H., Levenson, J., & Hsu, J. <u>Cost</u> <u>effectiveness evaluation of the Levindale adult day treatment</u> center. Baltimore: The Levindale Geriatric Research Center, 1975.
- Riew, J. Economies of scale in high school operations. <u>Review of</u> Economics and Statistics. August 1966, 280-287.
- Rogers, J. Personal communications, September 1980.
- Ross, E. <u>The federal government's deinstitutionalization program</u> <u>initiatives: A status report</u>. Washington, DC: United Cerebral Palsy Associations, Inc., 1979. (a)
- Ross, E. The federal government's deinstitutionalization program initiatives: A status report (a litany of reports, studies, recommendations, policy debates, and even some progress), 8(3). Washington, DC: United Cerebral Palsy Associations, Inc., 1979. (b)
- Sabulao, C., & Hickrod, G. Optimum size of school districts relative to selected costs. Journal of Educational Administration, 1971, 9(2), 178-191.
- Scheerenberger, R. C. <u>Public residential services for the mentally</u> <u>retarded in 1977</u>. <u>Madison, WI: Central Wisconsin Center for the</u> <u>Developmentally Disabled</u>, 1978. (a)
- Scheerenberger, R. C. Public residential services for the mentally retarded. In N. R. Ellis (Ed.), <u>International review of research</u> <u>in mental retardation</u> (Vol. 9). New York: Academic Press, 1978, 187-208. (b)
- Scheerenberger, R. C. <u>Public residential services for the mentally</u> <u>retarded in 1979</u>. Madison, WI: Central Wisconsin Center for the Developmentally Disabled, 1979.
- Sharfstein, S., Taube, C., & Golberg, I. Problems in analyzing the comparative costs of private versus public psychiatric care. American Journal of Psychiatry, 1977, 134(1), 29-32.

- Shearer, A. The news media. In R. B. Kugel & A. Shearer (Eds.), Changing patterns in residential services for the mentally retarded. Washington, DC: President's Committee on Mental Retardation, 1976.
- Sipe, H. Accounting system for group homes for developmentally disabled persons (Rehabilitation Research and Training Center in Mental Retardation, Working Paper No. 97). Eugene, OR: University of Oregon (unpublished manuscript), March 1976.
- Skoler, D. Introductory statement. In N. Caiden, <u>Collection of data</u> on <u>public expenditure for care of the mentally disabled</u>. Washington, DC: American Bar Association, Division of Public Service Activities, October 1978.
- Sloan, W., & Stevens, H. <u>A century of concern</u>: <u>A history of American</u> <u>Association on Mental Deficiency 1876-1976</u>. Washington, DC: <u>American Association on Mental Deficiency</u>, Inc., 1976.
- Starbuck, W. Organizational growth and development. In J. March (Ed.), Handbook of organizations. Chicago: Rand McNally & Co., 1965.
- Stotsky, B. The nursing home and the aged psychiatric patient. New York: Appleton-Century-Crofts, 1970.
- Thomas, J. Efficiency in education: A study of the relationship between selected input and mean test scores in a sample of senior high schools. Berkeley, CA: Stanford University (unpublished doctoral dissertation), 1962.
- Thomas, J. Resource allocation in school districts and classrooms. Journal of Education Finance, 1980, 5, 246-261.
- Thomas, S. Deinstitutionalization: How far and how fast have we come? Paper presented at the 102nd Annual Forum of the National Conference on Social Welfare at San Francisco, CA, May 12, 1975.

Townsend, P. The last refuge. London: Routledge & Kegan Paul, 1964.

- U. S. Congressional Budget Office. Long-term care for the elderly and the disabled. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1977.
- U. S. Department of Commerce. <u>Statistical policy handbook</u>. Washington, DC: Office of Federal Statistical Policy and Standards, Department of Commerce, May 1978.
- U. S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare. <u>Health, United</u> <u>States, 1978</u>. Hyattsville, MD: Public Health Service, USDHEW, 1978.

- U. S. Law Enforcement Assistance Administration. National Prisoner Statistics, Bulletin No. 47, in U.S. Bureau of the Census, <u>Statistical abstract of the United States: 1979</u> (100th edition). Washington, DC, 1979.
- Weiss, C. Using social research in public policy making. Lexington, MA: D. C. Heath, 1977.
- Welsch v. Likens. Civil Action No. 451. U.S. District Court, District of Minnesota, Fourth Division, 1974.
- Williamson, O. E. Managerial discretion and business behavior. American Economic Review, 1963, 53(5), 1032-1057.
- Wolfensberger, W. <u>The principle of normalization in human services</u>. Toronto, Canada: National Institute on Mental Retardation, 1972.
- Wolfensberger, W. The origin and nature of our institutional models. In R. Kugel & A. Shearer (Eds.), <u>Changing patterns in residential</u> <u>services for the mentally retarded</u>. Washington, DC: President's Committee on Mental Retardation, 1976.
- Wyatt v. Stickney. Civil Action No. 3195-N. U.S. District Court, Middle District of Alabama, North Division, 1972.
- Yett, D., & Mann, J. The costs of providing long term care: An <u>econometric study</u>. Los Angeles: Human Resources Research Center, University of Southern California Research Institute for Business and Economics, March 1967, 41-52.
- Zaharia, E., & Baumeister, A. Estimated position replacement costs for technician personnel in a state's public facilities. <u>Mental</u> Retardation, 1978, 6, 131-134.

Size Classes (Residents)	All Regions	Northeast	North Central	South	West
All Classes	70	2.2	10	25	
5 N	100 0	23	19 24 A	20	14 1
0	100.0	<u></u>	47.7	<u>J2.1</u>	<u>+</u>
1 600 or more					
I,000 OI MOIE	14	6	1	4	3
8	17.9	7.7	1.3	5.1	3.8
·					
1,000 to 1,599					
N	21	8	3	8	2
8	26.9	10.3	3.8	10.3	2.6
500 to 999					
JUU CU 999	28	5	10	9	4
11 9	35.9	6.4	12.8	11.5	5.1
C C			1010		012
150 to 499					
N	12	3	4	3	2
8	15.4	3.8	5.1	3.8	2.6
Less than 150					
N	3	1	1	1	0
8	3.8	1.3	1.3	1.3	0

Table A.1

Distribution of the Sample of Public Residential Facilities for the Mentally Retarded, by Size Class and Geographic Region of the United States .

.

Table A.2

Distribution of the Sample of Community Residential Facilities for the Mentally Retarded, by Size Class and Geographic Region of the United States

Size Classes (Residents)		All Regions	Northeast	North Central	South	West
All Classes	N	180	38	67	32	43
	8	100.0	<u>21.1</u>	<u>37.2</u>	<u>17.8</u>	23.9
500 or more	N	4	2	2	0	0
	&	2.2	1.1	1.1	0	0
300 to 499	N	4	1	2	0	1
	&	2.2	.6	1.1	0	.6
200 to 299	N %	8 4.4	1	2 1.1	4 2.2	1 .6
100 to 199	N	14	4	6	3	1
	%	7.8	2.2	3.3	1.7	.6
50 to 99	N	14	3	6	2	3
	&	7.8	1.7	3.3	1.1	1.7
20 to 49	N	22	4	9	4	5
	%	12.2	2.2	5.0	2.2	2.8
10 to 19	N	32	6	14	6	6
	¥	17.8	3.3	7.8	3.3	3.3
7 to 9	N	26	7	10	5	4
	&	14.4	3.9	5.6	2.8	2.2
6	N	18	3	5	3	7
	%	10.0	1.7	2.8	1.7	3.9
5	N	11	2	4	2	3
	%	6.1	1.1	2.2	1.1	1.7
4	N	13	2	3	2	6
	S	7.2	1.1	1.7	1.1	3.3
3	N	5	1	2	0	2
	%	2.8	.6	1.1	0	1.1
2	N	5	2	1	0	2
	8	2.8	1.1	.6	0	1.1
1	N	4	0	1	1	2
	%	2.2	0	.6	.6	1.1

.

.

Table A.3

Sampling Rates^a and Expected Sample Sizes for the Study of Community Residential Facilities and Their Mentally Retarded Residents, by Size Class, United States, 1977

	Size (Res	e Ci side	lasses ents)	Number in P Facilities	opulation Residents	Facility Sampling Rates	Number of Sample Facilities	Expected Number of Residents in Sample	Within Facility Sampling Rates
	A 11	C1	asses	4,427	62,397	÷	180	1076 ^b	1:58
1.	500	or	more	4	2,316	1:1	4	40	1:58
2.	300	to	499	4	1,540	1:1	4	26	1:58
3.	200	to	299	8	1,963	1:1	8	34 ^b	C
4.	100	to	199	77	10,001	m _i :714.357	14	172	714.357:58m ₁
5.	50	to	99	140	9,629	m _i :687.786	14	166	687.786:58m _i
6.	20	to	49	348	10,653	m _i :484.227	22	184	484.227:58m _i
7.	10	to	19	848	10,950	m _i :342.133	32	189	342.227:58m _i
8.	7	to	9	933	7,373	m _i :283.577	26	127	283.577:58m _i
9.			6	518	3,108	1:29	18	54	1:2
10.			5	312	1,560	1:29	11	27	1:2
11.			4	371	1,484	1:29	13	26	1:2
12.			3	315	945	1:58	5	16	1:1
13.			2	326	652	1:58	5	11	1:1
14.			1	223	223	1:58	4	4	1:1

^aThe overall sampling rate of 1:58 for residents has two components: Facility sampling rates and resident sampling rates within sample facilities. For size classes 4 through 8, the facility sampling rate was m_i/I_F , where m_i was the size measure (number of residents) assigned to the ith facility and I_F was determined by dividing the residents total by the number of sample facilities to be selected from a size class. The sampling rate within the facilities was $I_F/58m_i$.

^bExpected sample sizes assuming a constant, overall rate of 1:58.

^CSampling rates varied from approximately 4:58 to 1:58. See discussion in report describing sample design.

Source: Population data provided by the research staff, University of Minnesota.

	RESIDENTIAL FACIL MENTALLY RETARDE	ITIES FOR	R Project 12 Fall, 1978
SS	SURVEY RESEARCH CENTER INSTITUTE FOR SOCIAL RESEARCH THE UNIVERSITY OF MICHIGAN	1.	Interviewer's Label
Facility Num	Der	Date	

FINANCIAL QUESTIONNAIRE

INSTRUCTIONS

Please use the Balance Sheets and Income Statements for the last complete budget year in completing the following questions. Accountants' financial statements will differ from government reports; therefore, responses from accountants' statements are preferred if available. <u>Round off amounts to the nearest whole</u> dollar.

This information will be kept <u>strictly confidential</u> and will be used only in reports presenting group summaries.

If your facility provides care for mentally ill or chemically dependent individuals as well as mentally retarded, give financial figures for <u>mentally retarded persons</u> only.

BUDGET YEAR

Please list the dates of the facility's most recently completed budget year. All questions should be answered using this same time period.

		19	τo			19
MONTH	DAY	YEAR		MONTH	DAY	YEAR

I. SUURCES OF REVENU	I.	SOL	JRCES	OF	REVENU
----------------------	----	-----	-------	----	--------

1.	Please list the specific source of Government Funds and the amounts from County,
	Regional, State and Federal government sources (i.e., County Welfare, State
	Appropriation, Title XIX, Title XX).

A. GOVERNMENT REIMBURSEMENT AND SUPPORT

SOURCE (If no government support, ent	еr	n	on	•)													AMOUNT
	•	•		•	•	•	•	•	•	•		•		•	•	\$	
	•						•				•	•				\$	
									•							\$	
					_											s	
	-	•	-	-		101	TAL	. (501	/EF	2NP	Œ	NTA	۱L	-	\$	

2. What amounts were received from residents' private funds (personal or family) or from residents' SSI or Social Security checks to support the operating budget of this facility?

B. SUPPORT FUNDS FROM INDIVIDUAL RESIDENTS

SOURCE (If no resident support, enter	n	on	<u>e</u>)												AMOUNT
	. •	•	•	•	•	•		•	•	•	•	•		•	\$
												•			\$
							7	101	AL	R	ES	I D	ENT		\$

3. Please list all other sources of funds and amounts. Include donations, church support, United Way, contributions from Association for Retarded Citizens, special grants or gifts.

C. OTHER SUPPORT AND CONTRIBUTIONS

SOURC	E (If	no	other	sour	ces,	enter	non	<u>e</u>)											AMOUN
								•		•			•		•	•	•		\$
											•					•			\$
										•			•			•			\$
										•					•			• •	\$
											то	TAL	оπ	HER	RI	EVE	NU	E	\$ 2.4
											TO	TAL	0Π	HER	RI	EVE	NU	E	\$
TOTAL	. FUND	SOR	INCO	ME FO	R TH	E YEAR	END	DIN	G										
							19 _												
(Add	MONT	H tals	1, 2	, and	DAY I3)		۲ 	(EA •	R 				TO	FAL	RE	EVE	NU	e	\$

II. EXPENSES

5.	PAYROLL EXPENSES	
	*A. Total payroll expenses	
	*B. Total payroll taxes including FICA (Social Security), Workmen's Compensation and Unemployment Compensation \$	
	C. Total paid for fringe benefits including group health, life insurance, retirement	
6.	CAPITAL EXPENDITURES	
	*A. Furniture and fixtures	
	*B. Equipment	
	*C. Buildings	
	*D. Leasehold improvements	
	*E. Land	
	TOTAL CAPITAL EXPENSE \$	
*7.	ALL OTHER EXPENSES (NONPERSONNEL AND NONCAPITAL)	
8.	TOTAL EXPENSES FOR YEAR ENDING, 19, 19	
	(Add subtotals 5, 6, 7)	
	III. PER DAY CHARGES AND COSTS	
*9.	What was the average per day per person charge rate for a resident to live in this facility during the past year S	
*10.	What was the average per day per person <u>cost rate</u> for a resident to live in this facility during the past year	

* Definitions of these items appear on the last page.

3

•

۲

.

IV.	GENERAL	QUESTIONS
	00	

4

11.	Is the expense total given in question 8 higher, lower or equal to the income total given in question 4?
	1. Higher 3. Equal 5. Lower
12.	Is the capital expenditure total given in question 6 higher, lower or equal to the capital expenditure total of a typical year?
	1. Higher 3. Equal 5. Lower
ь.	Are the expense and income figures given on questions 1 - 8 for mentally retarded residents only?
	1. Yes 5. No
¥14.	What percentage of the total operating expenses given in question 8 was used to provide structured daytime training and services, special education classes, work training or sheltered work employment rather than food and lodging? (If total in question 8 did not include such costs, enter "0" here.)
	PERCENT
15.	is your facility rented?
	1. YES 5. No 15a. What was the total rent expense for the year ending
≈16.	What is the estimated appraised valuation of the land and buildings of this residential facility?
	<pre></pre>
*17.	What is the estimated market dollar value of the furnishings of this residential facility?
*18.	What was the total expense for repair and maintenance of apital items given in question 6? (Include labor costs)\$
19.	What is the land area or lot size?
	ACRES OR BY FEET
20.	Is this facility a non-profit or profit organization?
	1. Non-profit 5. Profit

"Definitions of these items appear on the last page.

CLARIFICATION OF TERMS USED

- Q. 5A TOTAL PAYROLL EXPENSE: All wages and slaries paid to employees, including payments for vacation, maternity and sick pay, terminal payments, payroll taxes and fringe benefits. In larger facilities with multiple cost centers, include a proportion of general administrative costs allocable to mentally retarded.
- Q. 5B TOTAL PAYROLL TAXES: Include employers' portion of FICA, Federal and State Unemployment Insurance, Workmen's Compensation, etc.
- Q. 6 CAPITAL EXPENDITURES: Costs for improvements. Include costs for long-term additions or benefits which are distributed over time.
- Q. 7 OTHER EXPENSES (NON PERSONNEL AND NONCAPITAL): Include operating expenses for food, utilities, rent, transportation, supplies, taxes, non-capitalized equipment, professional dues, travel, etc.
- Q. 9 CHARGE RATE: This would be the per day per person per diem charged for a resident to live in this facility. This figure might also be known as the reimbursement rate.
- Q. 10 COST RATE: If the per day per person cost for a resident to live in this facility is known, please give this figure.
- Q. 14 If this facility provides special training programs to residents in addition to room and board, please estimate what percent of those non-domiciliars expenses are represented in the total expenses (Q. 8). If the amount given in Q. 8 does <u>not</u> include expenses for other than room and board, enter "0" in Q. 14.
- Q. 16 APPRAISED VALUATION: Appraisal of land and buildings by a professional appraiser, such as American Appraisal Company for large public facilities or FHA for residential homes.
- Q. 16a MARKET VALUE: The estimated value of selling the property on an open market.
 17 given sufficient time and a willing buyer, as opposed to selling quickly on a liquidation basis.
- Q. 18 REPAIR AND MAINTENANCE OF CAPITAL ITEMS: The costs of purchasing service from outside sources for maintenance and repair of buildings, equipment, furniture, and furnishings such as elevator, plumbing, electrical systems maintenance, and repair, etc. This would not include the costs of additions or other improvements to the buildings and grounds.

SECTION E: FINANCES

23



E2. (In addition) I want to leave this form with you. (HAND R GREY DIRFET CARE STAFF SEPARATIONS SHEET.)

One of the most difficult problems in residential facilities is recruiting and retaining qualified people to work directly with residents. We want to estimate the amount of employee <u>turnover</u> on a month-to-month basis, and to assess some of the reasons why people leave their jobs. We think this information can be help-ful to administrators in reducing the costs of such turnover and in their attempts to recruit and hold good staff in residential facilities.

For this reason, we would like you to fill out this form regarding all direct care staff who formally separate from this facility for the next 30 days.

ASK R TO ANTICIPATE THE NUMBER OF DIRECT CARE STAFF SEPARATIONS DURING THE NEXT 30 DAYS AND LEAVE AN AMPLE SUPPLY OF FORMS.

GO OVER FORM AND INSTRUCTIONS WITH R AND ARRANGE TO:

	HAVE R SEND IN THE FORM IN 30 DAYS	COME AND PICK UP THE FORM IN
1.	(IF FACILITY IS 50 MILES OR MORE	2. 35 DAYS (IF FACILITY IS LESS
	FROM YOU)	THAN 50 MILES FROM YOU)

TURN TO P. 27, SECTION F

E3. During the past year, have you received a monthly check for the care of the mentilly retarded residents who live here?

	L. YES]	5. NO	—— GO TO ЕЗЪ
193 .	Now much was the amount of the check?			
	\$	FO	R NUME	ER RESIDENTS
	(LF R INDICATES RECORD HERE)	THERE WAS A DIF	FERENT RATE FOR	DIFFERENT RESIDENTS
	RATE 1	\$	FOR	NUMBER RESIDENTS
	SATE 2	\$	FOR	NUMBER RESIDENTS
	RATE 3	s	FOR	NUMBER RESIDENTS
: 	Did you receive the mentally ret money intended f	any other money arded residents or residents' p	last year to o who live here? ersonal use.	perate your home for This does not mean
	1.	YES	5. NO	TURN TO P. 25, E4
-130 .	How much money w	as that for the	entire year?	
		s		

E4. What were your total expenses for 1977? \$_____ (IF R'S RECORDS ARE FOR A FISCAL YEAR INDICATE DATES BELOW) FROM _____ TO _____ _____ E4a. Did you have any staff to help you operate this home during last (fiscal) year? 1. YES 5. NO - GO TO E5 E4b. How much did you spend for wages, payroll taxes and fringe benefits for the staff employed last year? s _____ E4c. How much of the total amount (F4b) was for payroll taxes? \$_____ E4d. How much of the total amount (E4b) was for fringe benefits? \$_____

E5. Do you own this home, rent it, or what?



E6. Last (fiscal) year did you spend any money on remodeling, new furniture or equipment for the mentally retarded residents who live here?

	1. YES	5. NO TURN TO P. 27, SECTION
E6a.	How much did you spend	last year?
	\$	
E6b.	Were the costs for remo the same as in other ye	deling and equipment higher, lower or about ars?
	1. HIGHER	5. LOWER 3. SAME
Table D.1

Approximate Standard Errors and Coefficients of Variation for Five Estimated Cost Items for Public Residential Facilities for the Mentally Retarded

Item	Estimate (millions)	Standard Error (millions)	Coefficient of Variation (%)
Total Revenue	\$2,626.6	81.5	3.10
Total Payroll Expenses	\$2,157.8	62.4	2.89
Total Capital Expenses	\$ 140.9	20.1	14.30
All Other Expenses	\$ 426.5	29.9	7.00
Total Expenses	\$2,735.5	81.3	2.97

Note: Estimates provided by Irene Hess, PhD, Director of Sampling Section, Survey Research Center, University of Michigan.

Table D.2

Approximate Standard Errors and Coefficients of Variation for Five Estimated Cost Items for Community Residential Facilities for the Mentally Retarded

Item	Estimate (millions)	Standard Error (millions)	Coefficient of Variation (%)
Total Revenue	\$484.046	22.721	4.69
Total Payroll Expenses	\$267.605	15.976	5.97
Total Capital Expenses	\$ 59.989	13.290	22.15
All Other Expenses	\$193.521	10.036	5.19
Total Expenses	\$517.815	27.780	5.36

Note: Estimates provided by Irene Hess, PhD, Director of Sampling Section, Survey Research Center, University of Michigan.

242

Sampling Errors

The results reported in this study were derived from a sample survey and not the complete population. There are two basic types of errors that affect sample surveys - sampling errors and nonsampling errors. Sampling error is defined as a measure of the variation among the estimates from all possible estimates, and thus is a measure of the precision that an estimate approximates the average result of all possible samples. For example, the particular sample used in this survey is one of several possible samples that could have been selected using the same sample design. Estimates derived from each sample would differ from each other with the sampling deviation defined as the difference between a sample estimate and the average of all possible estimates. Nonsampling errors have been defined as including a wide range of issues from definitional problems and missing data to coding, processing, and imputation errors. The accuracy and precision of population estimates presented in this report are determined by both sampling and nonsampling errors.

The estimated totals were obtained by inflating the reported data for each facility by the reciprocal of the selection probability for the facility. The formula for the calculation of approximate standard errors is that given as Model II Form (a) in Kish and Hess¹, (1959):

Standard error (y) =
$$\begin{bmatrix} \sum_{h=1}^{H} \frac{G_{h}}{2(G_{h}-1)} & \sum_{g=1}^{G_{h}-1} (y_{gh} - y_{gh+1})^{2} \end{bmatrix}^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

243

where y = cost estimate

 y_{gh} = weighted total for the g^{th} facility in the h^{th} size stratum

G = number of sample facilities in the h^{th} stratum

H = number of size strata

As presented in Tables D.l and D.2, the sample estimate and an estimate of its standard error permit us to construct interval estimates with prescribed confidence that the interval includes the average result of all possible samples (for a given sampling rate).

To illustrate, if all possible samples were selected, with each of these samples surveyed under essentially the same conditions, and an estimate and its estimated standard error calculated from each example, then:

- a) Approximately 2/3 of the intervals from one standard error above the estimate would include the average value of all possible samples. We call an interval from one standard error below the estimate to one standard error above the estimate a 2/3 confidence interval.
- b) Approximately 9/10 of the intervals from 1.6 standard errors below the estimate to 1.6 standard errors above the estimate would include the average value of all possible samples. We call an interval from 1.6 standard errors below the estimate to 1.6 standard errors above the estimate a 90 percent confidence interval.

- c) Approximately 19/20 of the intervals from two standard errors below the estimate to two standard errors above the estimate would include the average value of all possible samples. We call an interval from two standard errors below the estimate to two standard errors above the estimate a 95 percent confidence interval.
- d) Almost all intervals from three standard erros below the sample estimate to three standard errors above the sample estimate would include the average value of all possible samples.

The average value of all possible samples may or may not be contained in any particular computed interval. But for a particular sample, one can say with specified confidence that the average of all possible samples is included in the constructed interval.

In the last columns of Tables D.1 and D.2 are the coefficients of variation. The coefficient of variation is the relative standard deviation, free of the units in which the estimate is measured. The smaller the coefficient of variability, the more precision. The relative standard error is defined as the standard error of the estimate divided by the value being estimated. Coefficients of variation were calculated before dollar values were rounded.

¹Kish, L. & Hess, I. <u>On variances of ratios and their differences in</u> <u>multi-stage samples</u>. Journal of the American Statistical Association. June, 1959, 54, 416-446.